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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. All statements other than
statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our future results of operations or financial
condition, business strategy and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. These statements involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other important factors that are in some cases beyond our control and may cause our actual results, performance, or
achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “target,” “will” or “would” or the negative of these words or other similar terms

or expressions. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:
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»  the expected benefits of the Merger (as defined herein);

*  changes in our strategy, expansion plans, customer opportunities, future operations, future financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected
costs, prospects and plans;

» the implementation, market acceptance and success of our business model and growth strategy;

e our ability to develop and maintain our brand and reputation;

* developments and projections relating to our competitors and industry;

* the impact of health epidemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, on our business and the actions we may take in response thereto;
*  our expectations regarding its ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection and not infringe on the rights of others;

*  expectations regarding the time during which we will be an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act;

*  our future capital requirements and sources and uses of cash;

e  our ability to obtain funding for its operations and future growth; and

*  our business, expansion plans and opportunities.

You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial
condition and operating results. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors
described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly
changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have
an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-
looking statements may not be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-
looking statements.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based on
information available to us as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. While we believe that information provides a reasonable basis for these
statements, that information may be limited or incomplete. Our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or
review of, all relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on these statements.
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Part I-Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-Use assets, net
Other assets

Total Assets

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)

(In thousands except par value)

Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Long-term finance leases, current portion
Long-term operating leases, current portion
Total current liabilities
Deferred pension obligation
Asset retirement obligation
Deferred revenue
Long-term finance leases
Long-term operating leases
Warrant liability
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies

Convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 85,739 shares authorized, 85,739 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2021; liquidation preference of $171,348
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized, 93 shares issued and outstanding at

March 31, 2022; liquidation preference of $675

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 500,000 shares authorized, 133,633 shares issued, and 133,633 and
outstanding at March 31, 2022; 120,568 shares authorized, 20,432 shares issued, and 20,432 outstanding at

December 31, 2021

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)

Total Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

March 31, December 31,
2022 2021
303,518 § 105,125
30,002 —
4,541 5,538
338,061 110,663
10,752 11,868
1,242 1,238
1,479 1,525
351,534 $ 125,294
3516 $ 1,979
1,305 4,704
46 48
619 612
5,486 7,343
454 734
984 978
8,616 1,500
25 34
659 662
40,075 G
56,299 11,251
— 182,709
675 —
13 —
383,821 713
(89,045) (68,966)
(229) (413)
295,235 (68,666)
351,534 $ 125,294

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands except per share data)

Revenue
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense)
Change in fair value of derivative
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Transaction costs
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share of common stock — basic and diluted
Weighted average shares of common stock — basic and diluted

Other comprehensive income (loss) — net of tax
Actuarial gain (loss) on pension
Foreign currency translation gain (loss)

Total other comprehensive income (loss)

Total comprehensive loss

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021
42,884 S
2,580 85
9,661 1,021
9,806 1,855
20,837 (2,961)
— (24,102)
(1) 4)
(20,237) —
(20,586) —
36 (1,928)
(19,951) (28,995)
128 —
(20,079) $ (28,995)
0.25) $ (2.67)
80,806 10,861
278 185
(94) 1,231
184 1,416
(19,895) $ (27,579)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit

Balance at December 31, 2021

Conversion of convertible preferred stock
into common stock in connection with
reverse recapitalization

Reclassification of convertible preferred
stock to stockholders’ deficit

Issuance of common stock upon the reverse
recapitalization, net of transaction costs

Exercise of stock option

Stock based compensation

Net loss

Actuarial gain (loss) on pension
Foreign currency translation gain (loss)

Balance at March 31, 2022

Balance at December 31, 2020

Issuance of Series B-1 preferred stock for
cash

Series B-1 Preferred Stock issuance costs
Exercise of stock option

Stock based compensation

Net loss

Actuarial gain (loss) on pension

Foreign currency translation gain (loss)

Balance at March 31, 2021

(Unaudited)
(In thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2022
Accumulated Total
Convertible Preferred Convertible Preferred ~ Additional Other Stockholders’
Stock Common Stock Stock Paid-In Accumulated  Comprehensive Equity (
Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Deficit)
Shares ®  Amount Shares ®  Amount  Shares ®  Amount
85,741 $ 182,709 20,432 $ — — 3 — $ 713 $ (68,966) $ 413) $ (68,666)
(85,648)  (182,034) 85,648 9 — — 182,025 — — 182,034
©3) (679 — — 9 675 _ _ _ .
— — 27,553 4 — — 191,856 — — 191,860
— — — — — — 25 — — 25
— — — — — — 9,202 — — 9,202
— — — — — - — (20,079) — (20,079)
— — — — — — — — 278 278
— — — — — — — — (94) (94)
— $ — 133,633 $ 13 93 § 675 $ 383,821 $ (89,045) $ 229) $ 295,235
Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
Accumulated
Other Total
Convertible Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Accumulated Comprehensive  Stockholders’
Paid-In Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Deficit
Shares Amount Shares @ Amount
63,805 $ 62,042 14,551 $ $ 99 $ (37,628) $ (2,098) $ (39,627)
6,864 14,700 — — — _ _
_ @®) _ _ _ _ _
— — 373 5 — — 5
— — — 7 — — 7
— — — — (28,995) — (28,995)
— — — — — 185 185
— — — — — 1,231 1,231
70,669 $ 76,734 14,924 $ $ 11 $ (66,623) $— $ 682) $ (67,194)

(M The number of shares of convertible preferred stock and common stock prior to the Merger (defined in Note 1) have been retroactively restated to reflect the exchange ratio of 6.7735 established in

the Merger as described in Note 1 and Note 3.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net loss

(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash lease expense
Non-cash interest income
Stock based compensation
Change in fair value of derivative
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Change in pension obligation
Asset retirement obligation accretion expense
Foreign exchange gains and losses
Change in operating assets
Change in operating liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from reverse recapitalization and PIPE financing, net
Payment of transaction costs related to reverse recapitalization
Payment of lease obligations
Proceeds from Series B-1 Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents — end of the period

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Income taxes paid
Cash paid for interest

Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Information:

Conversion of redeemable preferred stock into common stock in connection with the reverse recapitalization

Warrants assumed as part of reverse recapitalization
Actuarial gain (loss) on pension

Property, plant and equipment financed through accounts payable

Assets acquired on finance lease

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021

(20,079) $ (28,995)
1,218 17
165 151

(16) —
9,202 7
24,102

20,237 —
7 18

19 —

19 96
(32,550) (561)
4,967 (839)
(16,811) (6,004)
(83) 3)
(83) (3)

25 6
235,940 —
(20,651) —
(10) 24)

— 14,692
215,304 14,674
(17) 2,061
198,393 10,728
105,125 10,051
303,518 $ 20,779
1 _

23 17
182,034 —
19,838 —
278 148
137 —

— 43

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. (“Energy Vault” or the “Company”) develops sustainable, grid-scale energy storage solutions designed to advance the transition to
a carbon free, resilient power grid. The Company’s mission is to accelerate the decarbonization of the economy through the development of sustainable and
economical energy storage technologies. To achieve this, the Company is developing a proprietary gravity-based energy storage technology. The Company’s
product platform aims to help utilities, independent power producers, and large energy users significantly reduce their levelized cost of energy while
maintaining power reliability.

The Company’s project delivery strategy relies upon engineering, procurement, and construction (“EPC”) firms to construct its storage projects, while under
the supervision of the Company’s dedicated teams tasked with project management. The current business model is comprised of the following product and
service categories:

(1) Building, operating, and transferring energy storage projects to potential customers,

(2) Building, operating, and holding energy storage systems as equity (co-) sponsor,

(3) Selling energy management software as a service, and

(4) Entering into intellectual property license and royalty agreements associated with the Company’s energy storage technologies.

The Company has a wholly owned subsidiary, Energy Vault SA, which was formed in December 2017 in Lugano Switzerland to build a full-scale
demonstration unit (the “Prototype”), serves as the Company’s research and development hub, and operates as the Company’s international headquarters.

Energy Vault was originally incorporated under the name Novus Capital Corporation II (“Novus”) as a special purpose acquisition company in the state of
Delaware in September 2020 with the purpose of effecting a merger with one or more operating businesses. On September 8, 2021, Novus announced that it
had entered into a definitive agreement for a business combination (the “Merger Agreement”) with Energy Vault, Inc. (“Legacy Energy Vault”) that would
result in Legacy Energy Vault becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of Novus (the “Merger”). Upon the closing of the Merger on February 11, 2022 (the
“Closing”), Novus was immediately renamed to “Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.” The Merger between Novus and Legacy Energy Vault was accounted for as a
reverse recapitalization. See Note 3 - Reverse Capitalization for more information. Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. is headquartered in Los Angeles, California.

99 ¢

Throughout the notes to the consolidated condensed financial statements, unless otherwise noted, the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” and similar terms refer
to Legacy Energy Vault and its subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Merger, and Energy Vault and its subsidiaries after the consummation of the
Merger.

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties

Since inception, the Company has been primarily involved in research and development activities. The Company devotes substantially all its efforts to product
research and development, initial market development, and raising capital. The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to those of other early-stage
clean energy companies, including dependence on key individuals, the need for development of commercially viable products, competitors developing new
technological innovations, the need to successfully commercialize and gain market acceptance of the Company’s products, protection of proprietary
technology, and the need to obtain adequate additional financing to fund the development of its products and technology. These risks could be further
complicated by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic described below.

The spread of the COVID-19 virus during 2020 caused an economic downturn on a global scale, as well as significant volatility in the financial markets. In
March 2020, the World Health Organization declared spread of the COVID-19 virus a pandemic. Government reactions to the public health crisis with
mitigation measures created significant uncertainties in the U.S. and global economies. The COVID-19 pandemic caused delays in the construction of the
Prototype in Switzerland due to Government mandated temporary stay-at-home and quarantine orders; however, it did not significantly impact the Company’s
other core operations such as research and development and fund raising. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts the Company’s business,
operations and financial results will depend on numerous evolving factors that management may not be able to accurately predict, and which may cause the
actual results to differ from the estimates and
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

assumptions that are required to be made in the preparation of condensed financial statements according to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the
United States (“GAAP”).

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
GAAP and applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding interim financial reporting. Certain information and
disclosures normally included in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules
and regulations. Accordingly, these unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2021. The condensed balance sheet as of December 31, 2021, included herein,
was derived from the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of that date.

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments necessary to present fairly the
Company’s financial position as of March 31, 2022 and the Company’s results of operations and comprehensive loss, convertible preferred stock and
stockholders’ deficit activities, and the cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. The results for the three months ended March 31, 2022
are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2022 or for any interim period or for any other future year.

Principles of Consolidation

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements include Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Emerging Growth Company

Section 102(b)(1) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply
with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared
effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards.
The JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to
non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period,
which means that when a standard is issued or revised, and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging
growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard.

This may make comparison of the Company’s consolidated financial statement with another public company that is neither an emerging growth company nor
an emerging growth company that has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in
accounting standards used.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements, in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The Company evaluates its
assumptions on an ongoing basis. The Company’s management believes that the estimates, judgment, and assumptions used are reasonable based upon
information available at the time they are made. Significant estimates made by management include, among others, valuation of inventory, pension obligations,
fair value of financial instruments including embedded derivatives, stock-based compensation, valuation of deferred income tax assets, revenue recognition,
and the estimated useful life of long-lived assets. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making assumptions and estimates, changes in circumstances,
including those arising from the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, could result in actual results differing from those estimates, and such differences could be
material to the Company’s consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Transaction Costs
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Transaction costs consist of direct legal, accounting, and other fees relating to the consummation of the Merger. These costs were initially capitalized as
incurred in prepaid assets and other current assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Upon the Closing, transaction costs related to the issuance of
shares were recognized in stockholders’ deficit while costs associated with the pubic and private warrants liabilities were expensed in the condensed
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. As of December 31, 2021, $4.1 million of deferred Merger transaction costs were included
within prepaid and other current assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The Company and Novus incurred in aggregate $44.8 million in
transaction costs, consisting of underwriting, legal, and other professional fees, of which $24.2 million was recorded to additional paid-in-capital as a reduction
of proceeds and the remaining $20.6 million was expensed immediately upon the Closing.

Warrants

The Company assumed publicly-traded warrants (“Public Warrants”) and private warrants (“Private Warrants”) upon the Closing. The Company accounts for
warrants for shares of the Company’s common stock that are not indexed to its own stock as liabilities at fair value on the condensed consolidated balance
sheet. The warrants are subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date and any change in fair value is recognized in the Company’s condensed
consolidated statement of operations. For issued or modified warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be
recorded as a component of additional paid-in-capital at the time of issuance. For issued or modified warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity
classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a liability at their initial fair value on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter.
Changes in the estimated fair value of the warrants are recognized as a non-cash gain or loss in the statement of operations.

Earn-Out Shares

In connection with the reverse recapitalization and pursuant to the Merger Agreement, eligible Legacy Energy Vault stockholders immediately prior to the
Closing, have the contingent right to receive an aggregate of 9.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock (“Earn-Out Shares”) upon the Company
achieving each Earn-Out Triggering Event (defined below) during the period beginning on the 90th day following the Closing and ending in the third
anniversary of such date (the “Earn-Out Period”). An “Earn-Out Triggering Event” means the date on which the closing price of the Company’s common stock
quoted on the NYSE is greater than or equal to certain specified prices for any 20 trading days within a 30 consecutive day trading period.

The Earn-Out Shares were recognized at fair value upon the Closing of the Merger and classified in shareholders’ equity. Because the Merger was accounted
for as a reverse recapitalization, the issuance of the Earn-Out Shares was treated as a deemed dividend and since the Company does not have retained earnings,
the issuance was recorded within additional-paid-in capital (“APIC”) and has a net nil impact on APIC.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company recognizes revenue from contracts with customers in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). Under
ASC 606, revenue is recognized when, or as, control of promised goods and services is transferred to customers, and the amount of revenue recognized reflects
the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods and services transferred. The Company determines revenue
recognition through the following steps:

(1) Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer.

(2) Identification of the performance obligations in the contract.

(3) Determination of the transaction price.

(4) Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
(5) Recognition of revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied.

Once a contract is determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within each contract and determines
those that are performance obligations. Arrangements that include rights to additional goods or services that are exercisable at a customer’s discretion are
generally considered options. The Company assesses if these options provide a material right to the customer and if so, they are considered performance
obligations. The

10



Table of Contents
ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

identification of material rights requires judgments related to the determination of the value of the underlying good or service relative to the option exercise
price.

The Company assesses whether each promised good or service is distinct for the purposes of identifying performance obligations in the contract. This
assessment involves subjective determination and requires management to make judgments about the individual promised goods or services and whether such
are separable from the other aspects of the contractual relationship. Promised goods and services are considered to be distinct provided that: (i) the customer
can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with the other resources that are readily available to the customer (that is, the good or service
is capable of being distinct) and (ii) the entity’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the
contract (that is, the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of the contract). The Company also considers the intended benefit of
the contract in assessing whether a promised good or service is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. If a promised good or service is not
distinct, an entity is required to combine that good or service with other promised goods or services until it identifies a bundle of goods or services that is
distinct.

The transaction price is determined and allocated to the identified performance obligations in proportion to their stand-alone selling prices (“SSP”) on a relative
SSP basis. SSP is determined at contract inception and is not updated to reflect changes between contract inception and when the performance obligations are
satisfied. Determining the SSP for performance obligations requires significant judgment. In developing the SSP for a performance obligation, the Company
considers applicable market conditions and relevant entity-specific factors, including factors that were contemplated in negotiating the agreement with the
customer and estimated costs.

For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, the Company recognizes royalty revenue when the related sales occur.

In determining the transaction price, the Company adjusts consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the timing of payments provides the
Company with a significant benefit of financing. The Company does not assess whether a contract has a significant financing component if the expectation at
contract inception is such that the period between payment and the transfer of the promised goods or services will be one year or less. As of March 31, 2022,
the Company does not have any contracts that contain a significant financing component.

The Company recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) each
performance obligation is satisfied, either at a point in time or over time. Over time revenue recognition is based on the use of an output or input method.

Building Energy Storage Projects

To date, the Company has not recognized any revenue from the building of energy storage projects. The method of revenue recognition will be determined once
the Company finalizes agreements with its future customers.

Operating Energy Storage Projects

To date, the Company has not recognized any revenue related to providing operation services for its energy storage projects. The method of revenue
recognition will be determined once the Company finalizes agreements with its future customers.

Energy Management Software as a Service

To date, the Company has not recognized any revenue related to providing energy management software as a service. The method of revenue recognition will
be determined once the Company finalizes agreements with its future customers.

Intellectual Property Licensing

The Company enters into licensing agreements of its intellectual property that are within the scope of ASC 606. The terms of such licensing agreements include
the license of functional intellectual property, given the functionality of the intellectual property is not expected to change substantially as a result of the
licensor’s ongoing activities. The transaction price allocated to the licensing of intellectual property is recognized as revenue at a point in time when the
licensed intellectual property is made available for the customer’s use and benefit. The Company recognized intellectual property licensing revenue of $42.9
million during the three months ended March 31, 2022. The revenue recognized during the three

11
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months ended March 31, 2022 was from one customer, Atlas Renewable LLC (“Atlas”), which was an investor in the Company’s PIPE.

As part of the Company’s licensing agreement with Atlas, the Company will provide Atlas with a final update to its functional intellectual property upon the
completion of the Company’s research and development activities related to the intellectual property that was provided to Atlas. The Company has identified
the obligation to provide this update to Atlas as a performance obligation and has deferred $5.9 million of the transaction price. The $5.9 million will be
recognized as revenue when the Company completes the transfer of the final technology update to Atlas.

Additionally, the contract with Atlas includes variable consideration of $25 million due to the Company’s commitment to provide a $25 million refundable
contribution to Atlas during the construction period of Atlas’ first project. The Company has considered this to be variable consideration as the Company will
only be repaid the amount if Atlas’ first project reaches substantial completion and certain performance metrics are met. The Company has determined that it is
probable that Atlas will reach substantial completion and meet the performance metrics to repay Energy Vault, therefore the variable consideration has been
included in the transaction price.

Royalty Revenue

In connection with entering into intellectual property licensing agreements, the Company also enters into royalty agreements whereby the customer agrees to
pay the Company a percentage of the customer’s future sales revenue that is generated by using the Company’s intellectual property. The Company has not
recognized any royalty revenue to date, but will recognize royalty revenue at the point in time when the customer’s sales occur.

Other Revenue

In connection with entering into the intellectual property licensing agreement with Atlas, the Company agreed to provide construction support services during
the periods in which the customer constructs its energy storage projects. The transaction price allocated to construction support services is recognized over time
using the cost-to-cost measure of progress as that method offers the best depiction of the continuous transfer of services to the customer. The Company did not
provide any construction support services during the three months ended March 31, 2022, therefore the Company did not recognize any revenue from this
performance obligation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.
ASU 2016-13 amends the impairment model to utilize an expected loss methodology in place of the currently used incurred loss methodology, which will
result in the more timely recognition of losses. The new accounting standard will be effective for the fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2023, including
interim periods within that year. The Company does not expect that adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

In August 2020, FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — in
Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity (“ASU 2020-06"). ASU 2020-06
simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments. In addition to eliminating certain accounting models, this ASU includes improvements to the disclosures
for convertible instruments and earnings-per-share (EPS) guidance and amends the guidance for the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity’s own
equity. ASU 2020-06 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company adopted ASU 2020-06 on January 1, 2022 and it did not
have an impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

In December 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (“ASU 2019-12"), which
simplifies the accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 is effective for nonpublic entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company adopted ASU 2019-12 on January 1, 2022 and it did not have an impact on the
Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3. REVERSE RECAPITALIZATION

On February 11, 2022, in connection with the Merger, the Company raised gross proceeds of $235.8 million, including the contribution of $40.8 million of
cash, net of redemptions, held in Novus’ trust account from its initial public offering and an aggregate purchase price of $195.0 million from the sale and
issuance of common shares in a private placement (“Private Investment in Public Equity” or “PIPE”) at $10.00 per share. The Company and Novus incurred in
aggregate approximately $44.8 million in transaction costs, consisting of underwriting, legal, and other professional fees, of which $24.2 million was recorded
to additional paid-in-capital as a reduction of proceeds and the remaining $20.6 million was expensed immediately upon the Closing. The aggregate
consideration paid to Legacy Energy Vault stockholders in connection with the Merger (excluding any potential Earn-Out Shares), was 106.1 million shares of
the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 after giving effect to the exchange ratio of 6.7735 (the “Exchange Ratio”). The total net cash proceeds to the
Company were $191.0 million.

The following transactions were completed concurrently upon the Closing:

e All but 93,258 of issued and outstanding shares of Legacy Energy Vault convertible preferred stock were canceled and converted into a total of 85.6
million shares of Energy Vault common stock (the preferred stock that did not convert as of March 31, 2022 converted into 93,258 shares of common
stock subsequent to the end of the quarter);

»  Each issued and outstanding share of Legacy Energy Vault common stock was canceled and converted into a total of 20.4 million shares of Energy
Vault common stock;

*  Each outstanding vested and unvested Legacy Energy Vault common stock option was converted into options exercisable for shares of Energy Vault
common stock with the same terms except for the number of shares exercisable and the exercise price, each of which was adjusted by the Exchange
Ratio;

*  Each outstanding and unvested Legacy Energy Vault restricted stock unit (“RSU”) was converted into RSUs for shares of Energy Vault common stock
with the same terms except for the number of shares, each of which was adjusted by the Exchange Ratio; and

*  Each outstanding vested and unvested Legacy Energy Vault restricted stock award (“RSA”) was converted into RSAs for shares of Energy Vault
common stock with the same terms except for the number of shares, each of which was adjusted by the Exchange Ratio.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with GAAP. Under this method of accounting, Novus was treated as the acquired
company for financial reporting purposes. This determination was primarily due to the fact that shareholders of Legacy Energy Vault continue to control
Energy Vault after the completion of the Merger. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the financial statements of the combined entity upon consumption of
the Merger represent a continuation of the financial statements of Legacy Energy Vault with the Merger being treated as the equivalent of Legacy Energy Vault
issuing shares for the net assets of Novus, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of Novus were recognized at historical cost, with no goodwill or
other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the
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Merger are presented as those of Legacy Energy Vault and the accumulated deficit of Legacy Energy Vault has been carried forward after Closing.

All periods prior to the Merger have been retroactively adjusted using the Exchange Ratio for the equivalent number of shares outstanding immediately after
the Closing to effect the reverse recapitalization.

The number of common stock issued immediately following the consumption of the Merger was as follows (amounts in thousands):

Shares
Legacy Energy Vault stock () 106,079
Novus pubic shares @ 4,079
Novus sponsor shares ¢ 3,975
PIPE shares 19,500
Total shares of Energy Vault common stock immediately after the Merger 133,633

() Excludes 9.0 million common shares issuable in earn-out arrangements as they are not issuable until 90 days after the Closing and are contingently issuable based upon the Company’s share price
meeting certain thresholds.

@ Excludes 14.7 million warrants issued and outstanding as of the Closing of the Merger which includes 9.6 million public warrants and 5.2 million private warrants held by the Novus Sponsor.

© Includes 1.6 million common shares that have transfer restrictions based on the Company’s share price meeting certain thresholds. These 1.6 million common shares are held in escrow and are
subject to potential forfeiture.

NOTE 4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Carrying amounts of certain financial instruments, including cash, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to their relatively
short maturities and market interest rates, if applicable.

The Company categorizes assets and liabilities recorded or disclosed at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet based upon the level of judgment
associated with inputs used to measure their fair value. The categories are as follows:

»  Level I—Inputs which included quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

e Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices
in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the
assets or liabilities.

*  Level 3—Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 were as
follows (amounts in thousands):

March 31, 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets (Liabilities):
Money market funds $ 5315 §$ — 3 — 3 5,315
Derivative asset — conversion option — — 350 350
Warrant liability © (25,875) (14,200) — (40,075)
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December 31, 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets (Liabilities):
Money market funds ) $ 5304 § — 3 — 3 5,304
Derivative asset — conversion option ?® — — 350 350

() Included in the line item cash and cash equivalents on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
@ Refer to Note 6 - Convertible Note Receivable for further information.
© Refer to Note 9 - Warrants for further information.

The Company’s Series B preferred stock purchase agreement included terms that obligated the investors to purchase, and the Company to sell, two subsequent
rounds of Series B preferred stock in tranche closings (the “Tranche Rights”). The Company concluded that the Tranche Rights met the definition of a
freestanding financial instrument, and classified them as an asset or a liability under ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity and were initially
recorded at fair value and remeasured to the then current fair value at each reporting period.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Tranche Right liability balance for the three months ended March 31, 2021 (amounts in thousands):

Preferred Stock Tranche

Liability
Balance at January 1, 2021 $ —
Change in fair value (24,102)
Balance at March 31, 2021 $ (24,102)

NOTE 5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In May 2019, the Company received a $1.5 million deposit for an “EV1” tower from a customer that was owned by one of its primary shareholders; the order
remains outstanding as of March 31, 2022. The deposit and order were received before the owner of the customer became one of the Company’s primary
shareholders and before it was represented on the Company’s board of directors.

For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid consulting fees of $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, to the father of one of
the Company’s executive officers. For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid Prototype construction labor costs of $0.1 million
and $0.1 million, respectively, to a company owned by the brother of an employee.

NOTE 6. CONVERTIBLE NOTE RECEIVABLE

In October 2021, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note purchase agreement with DG Fuels, LLC (the “DG Fuels Note”). The principal
balance of the promissory note is $1.0 million. The maturity date is the earlier of (i) 30 days after a demand for payment is made by the Company at any time
after the two year anniversary of the date of issuance of the note; (ii) the four year anniversary of the date of issuance of the note; (iii) five days following a
Financial Close (“Financial Close” means a project finance style closing by DG Fuels or its subsidiary of debt and equity capital to finance the construction of
that certain biofuel facility currently under development by DG Fuels), or (iv) upon an event of default determined at the discretion of the Company. The DG
Fuels Note has an annual interest rate of 10.0%.

The Company intends to hold and convert the DG Fuels Note into the equity securities issued by DG Fuels in their next equity financing round that is greater
than $20.0 million at a 20% discount to the issuance price. The principal balance and unpaid accrued interest on the DG Fuels Note will, at the option of the
Company, convert into equity securities upon the closing of such next equity financing round.

The discounted conversion rate in the DG Fuels Note is considered a redemption feature that is an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation and separate
accounting at its estimated fair value under ASC 815 — Derivative and Hedging. The estimated fair value of the embedded derivative upon issuance in October
2021 was an asset of $0.4 million. The estimated
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fair value of this derivative instrument was recognized as a derivative asset on the condensed consolidated balance sheet, with an offsetting discount to the DG
Fuels Note. The Company amortizes the discount on the Note into interest income using the effective interest method. The Company recognized interest
income of $16 thousand during the three months ended March 31, 2022 from the DG Fuels Note, inclusive of contractual interest of $8 thousand and
amortization of the debt discount of $8 thousand.

At each reporting period, the Company remeasures this derivative financial instrument to its estimated fair value. The change in the estimated fair value is
recorded in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. For the three months ended March 31, 2022, there
was no change in fair value of the embedded derivative.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending asset balance for the embedded derivative in the DG Fuels Note is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Derivative Conversion

Option
Balance at January 1, 2022 $ 350
Change in fair value —
Balance at March 31, 2022 $ 350
NOTE 7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
As of March 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, property and equipment, net consisted of the following (amounts in thousands):
March 31, December 31,

2022 2021
Brick machines $ 2,484 $ 2,515
Right-of-Use assets — vehicles 173 175
Furniture and equipment 228 176
Leasehold improvements 347 179
Demonstration & test equipment 11,078 11,218
Total property and equipment 14,310 14,263
Less: accumulated depreciation (3,558) (2,395)
Property and equipment, net $ 10,752 § 11,868

For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, depreciation and amortization related to property and equipment was $1.2 million and $17 thousand
respectively. No impairments of long-lived assets were recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

NOTE 8. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Upon the closing of the Merger on February 11, 2022, 85.6 million shares of issued and outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock were cancelled and
converted into 85.6 million shares of Energy Vault common stock based upon an exchange ratio of 6.7735 . A total of $182.0 million redeemable convertible
preferred stock was reclassified into common stock and additional paid-in-capital on the condensed balance sheet. One shareholder that owned 13,768 shares of
Series C preferred stock prior to the Merger, had a delay in the conversion of its shares to common stock and the shares remained as outstanding preferred stock
at March 31, 2022. The preferred shares were converted to 93,258 shares of common stock subsequent to March 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s convertible preferred stock consisted of the following (amounts in thousands and adjusted for Merger exchange
ratio):
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Shares Shares Issued and Liquidation

Designated Outstanding Preference
Series C preferred stock 14,787 14,787 $ 107,000
Series B-1 preferred stock 14,475 14,475 31,003
Series B preferred stock 14,651 14,651 25,003
Series A-2 preferred stock 5,087 5,087 3,555
Series A-1 preferred stock 6,950 6,950 3,076
Series Seed 2 preferred stock 4,240 4,240 934
Series Seed 1 preferred stock 11,190 11,190 753
Series FR preferred stock 14,360 14,360 25
85,740 85,740 § 171,349

The significant rights and preferences of the outstanding convertible preferred stock through the closing of the Merger were as follows:
Dividends

Through the closing date, the holders of each class of convertible preferred stock had been entitled to receive non-cumulative dividends at 8% per annum, if
and when declared by the Board of Directors of the Company. Through the closing date of the Merger, no dividends had been declared.

Conversion

Until the closing of the Merger, each class of preferred stock was convertible to common stock at the option of the holder at the conversion price (as defined in
the articles of incorporation) which was initially equal to the original issuance price of each of the preferred stock issuances. The preferred stock would be
automatically converted to common stock upon the earlier of; (a) a firm commitment underwritten initial public offering to an effective registration statement
and sale of common stock to the public of not less than $49.0258 per share (minimum price per share does not apply to Series FR, Seed 1 and Seed 2 preferred
stock) with gross proceeds not less than $50.0 million, or (b) by written consent of the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of preferred stock
voting as single class on an as-converted to common stock basis, with the holders of the Series A, Seed 2, Seed 1, and Series FR preferred stock voting as a
separate class on an as-converted basis, the holders of the Series B voting as a separate class on an as-converted basis, the holders of the Series B-1 voting as a
separate class on an as-converted basis, and the holders of the Series C voting as a separate class on an as-converted basis.

The conversion price was subject to adjustment for stock splits and stock dividends, reorganization, reclassifications, or similar events and was to be adjusted
proportionately. The conversion price would have also been adjusted for certain dilutive issuances of common stock or securities exercisable or convertible into
common stock at a price below the conversion price in effect at the time (price protection or ratchet feature). The adjustment to the conversion price would
have been determined by multiplying the conversion price by a fraction calculated as the diluted shares pre-issuance at the conversion price divided by the
common stock pre-issuance plus the additional stock issued (partial ratchet).

Liquidation

Until the closing of the Merger, in the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, the holders of Series B, Series B-1 and Series C
preferred stock would have been entitled to, in preference to the holders of each of the other classes of preferred stock, and to the common stockholder, an
amount equal to the original issuance price plus declared but unpaid dividends. After payment in full to the holders of Series B, Series B-1 and Series C
preferred stock, and prior to any distribution to the common stockholders, each of the other classes of preferred stock would have been entitled to receive an
amount equal to the original issue price plus declared and unpaid dividends on such shares, payable on a pari-passu basis among the Series.

A liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company would have been deemed to have occurred upon completion of any transaction or event that resulted
in a change of control as defined in the articles of incorporation (a “Deemed Liquidation Event”). Upon a Deemed Liquidation Event, the preferred stock would
have become redeemable at the option
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of the holder and the Company would have been required to provide written notice to the holders of the preferred stock within 90 days of such an event
informing them of their right to redeem the preferred stock. For purposes of determining the amount each holder of preferred stock would have been entitled to
receive upon a Deemed Liquidation Event, each class of preferred stock would have been deemed to have automatically converted their shares into common
stock at the as converted value (even if not elected by the holder) immediately prior to such a Deemed Liquidation Event, if the value was greater than the
amount that would have been distributed to the holder of the preferred stock if it were not converted.

Voting

Until the closing of the Merger, each share of preferred stock was entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which the
shares of preferred stock so held could be converted at the record date.

Common Stock

On February 11, 2022, in connection with the reverse recapitalization treatment of the Merger, the Company effectively issued 27.6 million new shares of
common stock. Additionally upon the close of the Merger, the Company converted all 3.0 million issued and outstanding common stock and all 12.7 million
issued and outstanding convertible preferred stock of Legacy Energy Vault into 106.1 million new shares of common stock using an exchange ratio of 6.7735.

As of March 31, 2022, the Company had approximately 93 thousand shares of common stock reserved for future issuance due to a delay in the conversion of
Series C preferred shares upon the Closing of the Merger.

NOTE 9. WARRANTS

Upon the Closing of the Merger, the Company assumed 9.6 million Public Warrants and 5.2 million Private Warrants. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to
purchase one share of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustments. The warrants became exercisable on
March 13, 2022 and will expire on February 11, 2027, which is five years after the Closing.

The Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 on March 8, 2022 related to the issuance of an aggregate of up to approximately 14.7 million shares
of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Public and Private Warrants, which was declared effective by the SEC on May 6, 2022.

Public Warrants

Once the Public Warrants become exercisable, the Company may redeem the outstanding warrants for cash, in whole and not in part, upon not less than 30
days’ prior written notice of redemption (“Redemption Period”) at a price of $0.01 per warrant, if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the common stock
equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations, and the like) for any 20 trading days withing
a 30 day trading period ending on the third trading day prior to the notice of redemption to the Public Warrant holders. If the Company calls the Public
Warrants for redemption, the Company will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise the Public Warrants to do so on a “cashless basis,” as
described in the warrant agreement. The Public Warrant holders have the right to exercise their outstanding warrants prior to the scheduled redemption date
during the Redemption Period at $11.50 per share.

Commencing 90 days after the Public Warrants become exercisable, the Company may redeem the outstanding Public Warrants, in whole and not in part, for a
price of $0.10 per warrant provided that the Public Warrant Holders will be able to exercise their warrants prior to redemption and receive that number of
shares of common stock determined based on a predefined rate based on the redemption date and the “fair market value” of the Company’s common stock
upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption and if, and only if, the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock equals or
exceeds $10.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations,
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recapitalizations, and the like) on the trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

“Fair market value” of the Company’s common stock shall mean the average last reported sales price of its common stock for the 10 trading days ending on the
third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of the warrants.

This redemption feature differs from the typical warrant redemption features used in many other blank check offerings, which typically only provide for a
redemption of Public Warrants when the trading price of the Company’s common stock exceeds $18.00 per share for a specified period of time. This
redemption feature is structured to allow for all of the outstanding Public Warrants to be redeemed when the Company’s common stock is trading at or above
$10.00 per share, which may be at a time when the trading price of the Company’s stock is below the exercise price of the warrants. This redemption feature
was established to provide the Company with the flexibility to redeem the warrants without the warrants having to reach the $18.00 per share threshold
described above. Holders choosing to exercise their Public Warrants in connection with this redemption feature will, in effect, receive a number of shares for
their warrants based on an option pricing model with a fixed volatility input as of February 8, 2021. This redemption right provides the Company an additional
mechanism by which to redeem all of the outstanding Public Warrants, and therefore have certainty as to the Company’s capital structure as the Public Warrants
would no longer be outstanding and would have been exercised or redeemed, The Company will effectively be required to pay the redemption price to warrant
holders if the Company chooses the redemption right and it will allow Energy Vault to quickly proceed with a redemption of the warrants if it is determined it
is in the Company’s best interest.

The exercise price and number of shares of common stock issuable on exercise of the Public Warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the
event of a stock dividend, extraordinary dividend or recapitalization, reorganization, merger, or consolidation.

Private Warrants

The Private Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to those of the Public Warrants, except that the Private Warrants are exercisable on a cash or
cashless basis, at the warrant holders’ option, and will not be redeemable by the Company, in each case so long as the warrants are still held by Novus or their
permitted transferees. If the Private Warrants are no longer held by Novus or their permitted transferees, the redemption right included in the Public Warrants

will attach to the Private Warrants.

The following table summarizes the Public and Private Warrants activities for the three months ended March 31, 2022 (amounts in thousands):

Public Warrants Private Warrants Total Warrants
Warrants assumed upon the Closing of the Merger 9,583 5,167 14,750
Warrants exercised — — —
Outstanding as of March 31, 2022 9,583 5,167 14,750

The Public Warrants were classified as Level 1 measurements as the Public Warrants had an adequate trading volume to provide reliable indication since the
Closing of the Merger. The Private Warrants have been classified as Level 2 since the Closing of the Merger. Both the Public Warrants and Private Warrants
were valued at $2.75 as of March 31, 2022. The fair value of the Private Warrants was deemed to be equal to the fair value of the Public Warrants because the
Private Warrants have similar terms as the Public Warrants.

The Public and Private Warrants are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The following table presents the changes in the fair value of the Company’s
Public and Private Warrants liabilities (amounts in thousands):
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Public Warrants (Level Private Warrants
1 (Level 2) Total Warrants
Fair value assumed upon the Closing of the Merger $ 12,938 § 6,900 $ 19,838
Change in fair value 12,937 7,300 20,237
Fair value as of March 31, 2022 $ 25,875 $ 14,200 $ 40,075

NOTE 10. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
2017 Stock Incentive Plan

In 2017, the Company adopted its 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan’’) which provides for the granting of stock options, restricted stock, and RSUs to
employees, directors, and consultants of the Company. Options granted under the 2017 Plan were either Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) or Nonqualified
Stock Options (“NSOs”). Awards under the 2017 Plan may be granted for periods of up to ten years. Under the terms of the 2017 Plan, awards may be granted
at an exercise price not less than the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. For employees
holding more than 10% of the voting rights of all classes of stock, the exercise price of ISOs and NSOs may not be less than 110% of the estimated fair value
of the shares on the date of grant, as determined by the board of directors. Awards generally vest over one to four years.

2020 Stock Incentive Plan

In 2020, the Company adopted its 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan’) which superseded the previous 2017 Plan. The 2020 Plan provides for the
granting of stock options, restricted stock, and RSUs to employees, directors, and consultants of the Company. Options granted under the 2020 Plan may be
either Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) or Nonqualified Stock Options (“NSOs”). Awards under the 2020 Plan may be granted for periods of up to ten years.
Under the terms of the 2020 Plan, awards may be granted at an exercise price not less than the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, as
determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. For employees holding more than 10% of the voting rights of all classes of stock, the exercise price of ISOs
and NSOs may not be less than 110% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, as determined by the board of directors. Awards generally
vest over one to four years.

2022 Equity Incentive Plan

In 2022, the Company adopted its 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”), which superseded the previous 2020 Plan, provides for the granting of stock
options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock, and RSUs to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants of the Company. Shares of
common stock underlying awards that expire or are forfeited or canceled will again be available for issuance under the 2022 Plan.

The number of shares of the Company’s common stock reserved for issuance under the 2022 Plan is approximately 15.5 million, plus up to approximately

8.3 million shares subject to awards granted under the 2017 and 2020 Plans. Additionally, beginning on March 1, 2022 and ending on (and including) March
31,2031, the number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be issued under the 2022 Plan will increase by a number of shares equal to the lesser
of (i) 4.0% of the outstanding shares on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year or (ii) such lesser number of shares (including zero) that the
Company’s Board of Directors determines for the purposes of the annual increase for that fiscal year.

20



Table of Contents
ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Stock Option Activity
Stock option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2022 is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Options Outstanding

Weighted Average
Remaining

Weighted Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Price Contractual Intrinsic
Options Per Share Term (in years) Value
Balance as of December 31,2021 (D 1,345 $ 5.35 9.11 §$ 7,024
Stock options granted — —
Stock options exercised 32) 5.43
Stock options forfeited, canceled, or expired (24) 5.43
Balance as of March 31, 2022 1,289 5.34 8.90 § 19,481
Options exercisable as of March 31, 2022 685 4.49 858 § 10,439
Options vested and expected to vest as of March 31, 2022 1,289 § 5.34 890 § 19,481

() The number of options prior to the Merger have been retroactively restated to reflect the exchange ratio of 6.7735 established in the Merger.

As of March 31, 2022, total unamortized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested awards that are expected to vest was $1.0 million. The
weighted-average period over which such stock-based compensation expense will be recognized is approximately 2.85 years.

The aggregate intrinsic values of options outstanding, exercisable, vested and expected to vest were calculated as the difference between the exercise price of
the options and the closing stock price of the Company’s common stock on the NYSE as of March 31, 2022.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company has granted two-tier RSUs under the 2020 Plan. These RSUs have both a service-based vesting condition and liquidity event-based vesting
condition. The service-based vesting period for these awards is generally four years with a cliff vesting period of one year and continue to vest monthly
thereafter. The liquidity event-based vesting condition was satisfied upon the closing of the Merger.

RSU activity for the three months ended March 31, 2022 was as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Share Value per Share

Nonvested balance as of December 31, 2021 () 6,170 $ 14.33
RSUs granted 1,115 43.47
RSUs forfeited (133) 41.33
RSUs vested (2,637) 5.15
Nonvested balance as of March 31, 2022 4515 § 25.47

(1 The number of RSUs prior to the Merger have been retroactively restated to reflect the exchange ratio of 6.7735 established in the Merger.

As of March 31, 2022, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to these RSUs was $13.7 million which is expected to be recognized over the
remaining weighted-average vesting period of approximately 3.47 years.

Unvested Common Stock/Restricted Stock Awards

The Company has certain common stocks that are subject to repurchase at the election of the Company. These repurchase rights expire over time and therefore
are accounted for as unvested common stock. The Company has RSAs that vest upon
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the satisfaction of both a service-based condition and a liquidity event-based condition. The liquidity event-based vesting condition was satisfied upon the
closing of the Merger.

The following table summarizes information about outstanding unvested stock activities for the three months ended March 31, 2022 (in thousands, except per
share data):

Unvested Grant Dt o

Stock Value per Share
Balances outstanding at December 31, 2021 @ 5,520 $ 4.95
New grants or issues — —
Common stock vested (3,578) 4.95
Balances outstanding at March 31, 2022 1,942 § 4.95

( The number of RSAs prior to the Merger have been retroactively restated to reflect the exchange ratio of 6.7735 established in the Merger.

As of March 31, 2022, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to these RSAs was $0.7 million which is expected to be recognized over the
remaining weighted-average vesting period of approximately 1.46 years.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Total stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021
Sales and marketing $ 490 $ 6
Research and development 3,781 —
General and administrative 4,931 1
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 9,202 § 7

Total stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2022 includes $7.1 million in expense that was recognized upon the Closing of
the Merger, which included $3.9 million related to RSUs and $3.2 million related to RSAs.
NOTE 11. INCOME TAXES

The Company recorded a tax provision of $0.1 million and $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company has recorded a
valuation allowance against substantially all of the Company’s net deferred tax assets. The Company provides for a valuation allowance when it is more likely
than not that some portion of, or all of the Company’s deferred tax assets will not be realized. Due to the Company’s history of losses, the Company determined
that it is not more likely than not to realize its deferred tax assets.

NOTE 12. NET LOSS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK

The weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding prior to the Merger have been retroactively adjusted by the Exchange Ratio to give
effect to the reverse recapitalization treatment of the Merger. Shares of common stock issued
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as a result of the conversion of Legacy Energy Vault convertible preferred stock in connection with the closing of the Merger have been included in the basic
net loss per share calculation on a prospective basis.

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders are calculated as follows (amounts in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021
Net loss $ (20,079) $ (28,995)
Weighted-average shares outstanding — basic and diluted V 80,806 10,861
Net loss per share — basic and diluted $ 0.25) $ (2.67)

() The weighted-average number of shares prior to the Merger have been retroactively restated to reflect the exchange ratio of 6.7735 established in the Merger.

There is no common stock and convertible preferred stock that were dilutive for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. Due to net losses for the
three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, basic and diluted net loss per common share were the same, as the effect of potentially dilutive securities would
have been anti-dilutive.

The following outstanding balances of common share equivalent securities have been excluded from the calculation of diluted weighted-average common
shares outstanding because the effect is anti-dilutive for the periods presented:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021
Public and Private Warrants 14,750 —
Stock options 1,289 203
Convertible preferred stock — 70,669
RSUs 4,515 —
Unvested Common Stock 1,942 2,262
Total 22,496 73,134

The 9.0 million shares of common stock equivalents subject to the Earn-Out Shares are excluded from the anti-dilutive table above as of March 31, 2022, as the
underlying shares remain contingently issuable as the Earn-Out Triggering Events have not been satisfied.

NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In connection with the Company’s licensing agreement with Atlas, the Company has committed to make a refundable contribution to Atlas in the amount of
$25.0 million. The refundable contribution will be issued to Atlas during the period in which it begins construction on its first gravity energy storage system
(“GESS”), and will be refunded to the Company upon Atlas’ first GESS reaching substantial completion and meeting certain performance metrics.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis provide information which Energy Vault’s management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of
Energy Vault's consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The discussion should be read together with our unaudited interim condensed
consolidated financial statements, the respective notes thereto, and other financial information included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report. The discussion and
analysis should also be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes included
in Amendment No. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by us with the SEC on March 31, 2022 (“Amendment No. 1”). This discussion may contain
forward-looking statements based upon Energy Vaults current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Energy Vault's actual results
may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. You should review the section titled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-
Looking Statements” for a discussion of forward-looking statements and the section titled “Risk Factors,” for a discussion of factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis and
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report. Energy Vault's historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any period in the
future. Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Quarterly Report to “we,” “our,” “us,” “the Company,” or Energy Vault refer to Energy
Vault Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries both prior to the consummation of and following the Merger (as defined below).

Our Business

Energy Vault develops sustainable, grid-scale energy storage solutions designed to advance the transition to a carbon free, resilient power grid. Energy Vault’s
mission is to accelerate the decarbonization of the economy through the development of sustainable and economical energy storage technologies. To achieve
this, Energy Vault is developing a proprietary gravity-based energy storage technology. Energy Vault is also designing proprietary energy management software
based on artificial intelligence (Al), advanced optimization algorithms designed to control and optimize entire energy storage systems, and a flexible energy
storage integration platform suitable for storage technologies of many durations. Energy Vault’s product platform aims to help utilities, independent power
producers, and large energy users significantly reduce their levelized cost of energy while maintaining power reliability.

Energy Vault was founded to address one of the greatest impediments to efficient renewable energy adoption — electricity storage. Renewable energy solutions
struggle to replace fossil fuel power due to intermittency of the generation source and the lack of economic and sustainable energy storage solutions. Variable
renewable energy sources such as wind and solar only produce energy when the sun is shining, or when the wind is blowing. Cost-effective energy storage is
required to increase the amount of electricity that can be delivered to the grid from renewable energy sources in a balanced way that supports grid integration
resiliency during low generation and eliminates over-generation and the risk of changes in energy delivery, or ramp rate. Ramp rate is measured as

the percentage of change in energy delivered per second. Power plants are designed to operate within a range where the amount of energy delivered to the grid
must always equal the amount of energy that is being consumed. Blackouts and other issues can result when the balance is disrupted, when the energy levels
fall out of the set range due to low generation periods, or high energy demand periods. The system also may become overloaded because of abrupt changes in
renewable energy generation. Energy storage helps to maintain the balance of energy delivery with energy consumed and to mitigate ramp rate to stay within
range and avoid blackouts or other grid resiliency problems.

Energy Vault’s gravity-based solutions are based on the well-understood physics and mechanical engineering fundamentals of pumped hydroelectric energy
storage, but replace water with custom-made composite blocks, or “mobile masses”, that can be made from low-cost and locally sourced materials, including
local soil, mine tailings, coal combustion residuals (coal ash), and end-of-life decommissioned wind turbine blades.

Energy Vault’s gravity-based solutions build upon the core, proven energy storage technology of pumped hydroelectric energy storage and incorporates a
simplified building design that is modular, flexible, and not limited by the same geological constraints of pumped hydroelectric energy storage plants. Applying
the fundamental principles of gravity and potential energy, Energy Vault’s EVx and Energy Vault Resiliency Center (“EVRC”) solutions combine advanced
materials science and proprietary machine-vision software to autonomously orchestrate the charge, storage, and discharge of electricity in grid-scale
applications. To achieve this, Energy Vault synthesized technologies from four established industries: crane/elevators, shipping, motor/generator, and materials
science. Combining potential and kinetic energy cycles, Energy Vault's systems are automated with advanced computer control and machine vision software to
create a gravity energy storage innovation designed to meet the market demand for 2-12 hours of storage duration. Energy Vault’s EVx and EVRC systems are
designed to serve economically both higher power/shorter duration applications with ancillary services from 2-4 hours, while scaling to serve medium (4-10
hours) and long duration (ten or more hours) requirements.

24



Table of Contents

Our storage, when combined with low-cost wind and photovoltaic solar, is designed to achieve an attractive levelized cost of energy delivered. The EVx and
EVRC systems can be deployed as stand-alone storage connected to the grid or alongside any generation source, such as wind or solar farms. The Company is
focused on enabling cost-effective renewable power on a global scale at a lower cost than existing, fully-depreciated fossil fuel plants, and with high
sustainability standards. The potential energy of the system can be stored with the composite blocks in the raised position for unlimited periods of time and
with nearly zero expected loss of the storage capacity over time. Additionally, Energy Vault is uniquely positioned to work with traditional fossil fuel
companies to help utilities and coal plant operators make a more cost-effective transition to green power by utilizing energy waste materials such as coal ash in
the production of the mobile masses that charge our gravity energy storage solutions.

The circular economy is a model of production and consumption, which involves sharing, leasing, reusing, repairing, refurbishing, and recycling existing
materials and products as long as possible. In this way, the life cycle of products is extended to help minimize waste. Energy Vault has a unique approach to the
circular economy which involves beneficial reuse of recyclable and energy waste materials into its sustainable production design.

In July 2020, Energy Vault completed mechanical construction of a five MW commercial demonstration unit (“CDU”) located in Arbedo-Castione, Switzerland
based on the EV1 Tower design. In July 2020, the CDU was connected to the Swiss national electricity grid. Following the successful commercial scale
deployment of the CDU, Energy Vault announced the new EVx platform in 2021 concurrent with its announcement of an investment in Energy Vault from
Saudi Aramco Energy Ventures investment. EVx is expected to offer performance enhancements designed to have 80%-85% round trip efficiency, a 35-year
life, and a flexible, modular design that is 45% lower in height than the EV1 Tower design. Round trip efficiency is the ratio between the amount of energy that
is delivered from the charged system and the amount of energy that was used to charge the system, expressed as a percentage. For example, a round trip
efficiency of 80% means that a system is able to deliver 80% of the energy that was used to charge the system to the end user. It is important to note that no
energy storage system is 100% efficient and that there is always a loss of energy in the storage/delivery process.

In November 2021, the Company launched Energy Vault Solutions (“EVS”) to provide customers with (i) a technology neutral platform for the integration and
delivery of multiple energy storage technologies, in addition to our proprietary gravity storage technology, and (ii) an advanced software energy management
system, using artificial intelligence, predictive analytics and software optimization algorithms, to orchestrate the ideal economic dispatching of energy
generation and storage assets as well as electrolizers and fuel cells. In this way, EVS is expected to be offered as software as a service, bundled with the sales of
energy storage assets, or an energy storage technology license.

Recent Developments

In February 2022, Energy Vault announced a License and Royalty agreement for renewable energy storage with Atlas Renewable LLC (“Atlas”) and their
majority investor China Tianying Inc., an international environmental management and waste remediation corporation engaged in smart urban environmental
services, resource recycling and recovery, and zero-carbon clean energy technologies. The agreement supports the deployment of Energy Vault’s proprietary
gravity energy storage technology and energy management software platform within mainland China and the Special Administrative Regions (“SAR”) of Hong
Kong and Macau. In addition, Atlas has agreed to pay $50.0 million in IP licensing fees, to be paid in 2022, for use and deployment of Energy Vault’s gravity
energy storage technology. The Company recognized revenue from this agreement of $42.9 million during the three months ended March 31, 2022.

In connection with the Company’s licensing agreement with Atlas, the Company has committed to make a refundable contribution to Atlas in the amount of
$25.0 million. The refundable contribution will be issued to Atlas during the period in which it begins construction on its first gravity energy storage system
(“GESS”), and will be refunded to the Company upon Atlas’ first GESS reaching substantial completion and meeting certain performance metrics.

Business Combination and Public Company Costs

On February 11, 2022, Energy Vault, Inc. (“Legacy Energy Vault”) completed the previously announced merger with NCCII Merger Corp., with Legacy
Energy Vault surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Novus Capital Corporation II (“Novus”) (the “Merger”). Immediately following the completion of the
Merger, Novus changed its name to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. On February 14, 2022, the Energy Vault’s common stock and warrants began trading on the
New York Stock Exchange under the symbols “NRGV” and “NRGV WS,” respectively.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). Under this
method of accounting, Novus was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the financial
statements of the combined entity upon consumption of the Merger represented a continuation of the financial statements of Legacy Energy Vault with the
Merger
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being treated as the equivalent of Legacy Energy Vault issuing stock for the net assets of Novus, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of Novus are
stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Merger are presented as those of Legacy Energy Vault in
future reports of the combined entity. All periods prior to the Merger have been retroactively adjusted using the exchange ratio of 6.7735 (the “Exchange
Ratio”) for the equivalent number of shares outstanding immediately after the Merger to effect the reverse recapitalization.

Energy Vault raised gross proceeds of $235.8 million, including the contribution of $40.8 million of cash, net of redemptions, held in Novus’ trust account from
its initial public offering and an aggregate purchase price of $195.0 million from the sale and issuance of shares of common stock in a private placement
(“Private Investment in Public Equity” or “PIPE”) at $10.00 per share. Energy Vault and Novus paid $44.8 million in transaction costs, resulting in total net
cash proceeds to Energy Vault from the Merger and PIPE of $191.0 million. See Note 1 and Note 3, in Part I, Item 1. “Financial Statements” for additional
information about the Merger.

As a result of the Merger, Energy Vault has become the successor to a publicly reporting company, which requires the hiring of additional personnel and the
implementation of procedures and processes to comply with public company regulatory requirements, including the Exchange Act, and customary practices.
We expect to incur additional annual expenses as a public company for, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees, and
additional internal and external accounting, legal, and administrative resources, including increased audit and legal fees.

Key Factors and Trends Affecting our Business

We believe that our performance and future success depend upon several factors that present significant opportunities for us, but also pose risks and challenges
including those discussed below and in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”

Product Development and Deployment Plan

Energy Vault intends to leverage its technology, competitive strengths, and remediation opportunity to establish its EVx and EVRC systems as viable solutions
for short, medium and long-term renewable energy storage solutions.

Our cost projections are heavily dependent upon raw materials (such as steel), equipment (such as motors, inverters, and power electronic devices) and
technical and construction service providers (such as engineering, procurement, construction firms). The global supply chain, on which Energy Vault relies, has
been significantly impacted by (i) the COVID-19 pandemic, (ii) economic uncertainties, including the war in Ukraine, and (iii) high inflation pressure on
project budgeting resulting in potential significant delays and cost fluctuations, particularly with respect to microchips and many other raw materials that are
within the motor and power electronic supply chains. These future timing and financial developments may impact Energy Vault’s performance from both a
deployment and cost perspective.

Currently, the only operating energy storage system utilizing Energy Vault’s technologies is the CDU which the Company continues to use for testing and
software improvement. Building on its experience with the CDU, Energy Vault designed its EVx system. The EVx platform is designed to be a scalable,
modular product line starting from 40MWh to multi-GWh to address grid resiliency needs in shorter durations while supporting longer duration and power
needs in the event of power outages or powering industrial processes over long periods. Using the EVx design as a building block, the EVRC can be custom
designed and built out in 10MWh increments that can scale to multi-GW-hour storage capacity to meet the energy storage needs for grid-scale deployment.
There are no commercial installations of Energy Vault’s EVx system or EVRC platform at this time.

Energy Storage Industry

Our future revenue growth will be directly tied to the continued adoption of renewable energy storage systems. As the sector is relatively nascent, we expect the
markets for renewable energy storage to increase. Furthermore, our systems rely on an alternative technology to the dominant and accepted storage
technologies such as lithium-ion, flow batteries, and thermal storage. Our business depends on the acceptance of our products, including the EVx systems, in
the marketplace. Even if renewable energy and energy storage become more widely adopted than they have been to date, potential customers may choose
energy storage products from our competitors that are based on technologies other than our gravity-based energy storage technology.

COVID-19

The spread of the COVID-19 has caused an economic downturn on a global scale, as well as significant volatility in the financial markets. Government
reactions to the public health crisis with mitigation measures have created significant uncertainties in the U.S. and global economies. The COVID-19 pandemic
had caused delays in the construction of the CDU in Switzerland due to government-mandated temporary stay-at-home and quarantine orders; however, it did
not significantly impact Energy Vault’s other core functions such as research and development and capital raising. Due to the pandemic related uncertainties in
global markets and specific restrictions announced by The Canton Government of Ticino
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in March and April 2020, Energy Vault implemented actions to reduce its operating expense run rate through temporary salary reductions and other
discretionary expense reductions. CDU component deliveries into the testing site in Arbedo Castione were also delayed due to the Swiss border being closed
and due to the worksite being shut in compliance with the March 2020 lockdown. Furthermore, the Canton Health and Safety Department of Ticino,
Switzerland ordered the hiring of a Health and Safety Manager in order to resume onsite operations of the CDU. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic
impacts Energy Vault’s business, operations and financial results will depend on numerous evolving factors that management may not be able to accurately
predict. The ultimate outcome of these matters is uncertain and, accordingly, the impact on our financial condition or results of operations is also uncertain.

Components of Results of Operations
Revenue

Prior to January 1, 2022, the Energy Vault had not recognized any revenue. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recognized revenue
of $42.9 million from the licensing of its intellectual property to one customer. In the future, we expect to earn revenue from the sale of energy storage
solutions, under four complementary sales programs based on customer preferences. Under the first program, Storage Asset Owners, the customer owns both
the energy storage system and the service, that the system provides (i.e., the energy storage and dispatch of electricity). Energy Vault anticipates that this
program will constitute the substantial majority of future sales and that utility companies, independent power producers, and industrial customers that consume
large amounts of power or are making a transition to 24/7 renewable power may be interested in being Storage Asset Owners.

Under the second program, Storage Service Customers, customers such as community choice aggregators, independent power producers, and utility companies
would sign long-term power purchase agreements and/or tolling agreements to purchase power on a fixed dollar per kilowatt on a monthly or hourly basis,
while Energy Vault and potentially other equity co-investors would retain an ownership interest in the system. An investment tax credit of up to 26% could be
applied against the costs incurred by the Company for U.S. based project installations if Energy Vault decides to combine other renewable energy components
into a combined storage project. See the section titled “Risks Related to Government Regulations” in Item 1A. Risk Factors for further details.

Under the third program, the customer would enter into a Software as a Service (“SaaS”) agreement with Energy Vault, and would be granted access to Energy
Vault’s Energy Management System that helps the economic dispatching of its energy storage and generation assets.

Under the fourth program, the Company would enter into intellectual property license and royalty agreements associated with our energy storage technology.
We intend to finalize our revenue recognition policies relating to these programs once we finalize definitive agreements with our future customers.
Operating expenses

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of expenses relating to professional service costs, trade shows, marketing and sales related promotional
materials, public relations expenses, website operating and maintenance costs, and stock-based compensation expenses for marketing, sales personnel, and
related support teams. We expect that our sales and marketing expenses will increase over time as we continue to hire additional personnel to support the
overall growth in our business.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of internal and external expenses incurred in connection with our research activities and development
programs that include materials costs directly related to the product development, testing and evaluation costs, construction costs including labor and
transportation of material, overhead related costs and other direct expenses consisting of stock-based compensation and consulting expenses relating to study of
product safety, reliability and development. We expect our research and development costs to increase for the foreseeable future as we continue to invest in
these activities to achieve our product design, engineering, and development roadmap.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of information technology expenses, legal and professional fees, travel cost, personnel-related expenses for our
corporate, executive, finance, and other administrative functions including expenses for professional and contract services. Personnel related expenses consist
of salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense. To a lesser extent, general and administrative expense includes depreciation, investor relations
costs, insurance
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costs, rent, office expenses, and maintenance costs. We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in the foreseeable future as we hire
personnel to meet the growth of our business, and as a result of operating as a public company, including compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC,
legal, audit, additional insurance requirements, investor relations fees, SOX 404 implementation fees, and other administrative and professional services.

Other income (expense)
Change in fair value of derivative

The gain (loss) on revaluation of embedded derivatives consists or periodic fair value adjustments associated with the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
issuance right derivative liability.

Interest expense
Interest expense consists primarily of interest related to finance leases.
Change in fair value of warrants liability

The Company’s warrants are subject to fair value remeasurement at each balance sheet date. The Company expects to incur incremental income (expense) in
the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the fair value change for the outstanding warrant liabilities at the end of each reporting period or
through the exercise of such warrants.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs consist of legal, accounting, banking fees, and other costs directly related to the consummation of the Merger and the PIPE.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income relating to our investment in money market funds as well as gains and losses related to
foreign exchange transactions.

Results of operations

Consolidated Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 to March 31, 2021

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the periods indicated (amounts in thousands, except percentages):

Three months ended March 31,

2022 2021 $ Change % Change

Revenue $ 42,884 $ — 3 42,884 — %
Operating Expenses:

Sales and marketing 2,580 85 $ 2,495 29353 %

Research and development 9,661 1,021 8,640 846.2 %

General and administrative 9,806 1,855 7,951 428.6 %
Income (loss from operations) 20,837 (2,961) 23,798 (803.7)%
Other Income (Expense):

Change in fair value of derivative — (24,102) 24,102 (100.0) %

Interest expense (1) 4) 3 (75.0) %

Change in fair value of warrant liability (20,237) — (20,237) — %

Transaction costs (20,586) — (20,586) — %

Other income (expenses), net 36 (1,928) 1,964 (101.9)%
Net loss before income taxes $ (19,951) $ (28,995) $ 9,044 31.2)%

Revenue

Revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2022 was $42.9 million. compared to no revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The revenue for
the three months ended March 31, 2022 resulted from a licensing agreement with
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Atlas Renewable. Revenue was recognized upon the transfer of the intellectual property to the customer. Currently, the Company does not expect to enter into
any other licensing agreements.

Operating expenses
Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $2.5 million to $2.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, from $0.1 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2021. The increase resulted primarily from an increase in marketing and public relations costs of $1.2 million and an increase in personnel-
related expenses of $0.9 million. The increase in personnel costs was due to expanded headcount, particularly at the senior levels, and increased stock-based
compensation expense. Stock-based compensation expense was $0.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to $6 thousand for the three
months ended March 31, 2021.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased by $8.6 million to $9.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, from $1.0 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2021. The increase resulted primarily from a $5.1 million increase in personnel-related expenses, a $1.2 million increase in
depreciation expense, a $1.0 million increase in engineering and development costs, and a $0.8 million increase in software expenses. The increase in personnel
costs was due to expanded headcount, particularly at the senior levels, and increased stock-based compensation expense. Stock-based compensation expense
was $3.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to no expense for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $8.0 million to $9.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 from $1.9 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2021. The increase resulted primarily from a $5.3 million increase in personnel-related expenses, a $1.3 million increase in legal and
professional fees, a $0.4 million increase in insurance expenses, and a $0.3 million increase in consultant expenses. The increase in personnel costs was due to
expanded headcount and an increase in stock-based compensation expense. Stock-based compensation expense was $4.9 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2022, compared to $1 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The increase in legal and professional fees was attributable to external
costs such as accounting, finance, tax, compliance, auditing, legal, and other professional fees associated with becoming a public company.

Other Income (Expense)
Change in fair value of derivative

Loss on revaluation of fair value adjustments decreased by $24.1 million to $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to a $24.1 million loss for
the three months ended March 31, 2021. The derivative liability associated with the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock expired without exercise in June
2021, therefore the derivative was not outstanding during the three months ended March 31, 2022.

Change in fair value of warrant liability

The Company recognized a change in the fair value of its warrant liability of $20.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 due to the increase in
the fair value of our outstanding warrants since the closing of the Merger. The Company did not have any outstanding warrants during the three month period
ending March 31, 2021.

Transaction costs
The Company recognized transaction costs of $20.6 million related to the consummation of the Merger during the three months ended March 31, 2021.
Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net improved by $2.0 million to other income, net of $36 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to other
expense, net of $1.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The change resulted primarily from fluctuations in foreign currency transaction gain
and losses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, we have financed our operations primarily through the issuance and sale of equity and the proceeds from the Merger and the PIPE.

Merger and PIPE

29



Table of Contents

Energy Vault completed the Merger and PIPE on February 11, 2022, pursuant to which we received net proceeds of $191.0 million.
Short-Term Liquidity

As of March 31, 2022, we had $303.5 million of cash and cash equivalents, representing an increase of $198.4 million from cash and cash equivalents of
$105.1 million at December 31, 2021. Management believes that its cash and cash equivalents on hand as of March 31, 2022 will be sufficient to fund our
operating activities for at least the next twelve months without regard to any cash proceeds we may receive upon the exercise for cash of our warrants. The
exercise price for any of our warrants is $11.50 per share, subject to certain specified adjustments. To the extent that the price of our common stock exceeds
$11.50 per share, it is more likely that our warrant holders will exercise their warrants. To the extent that the price of our common stock declines, including a
decline below $11.50 per share, it is less likely that our warrant holders will exercise their warrants. In addition, should Energy Vault enter into definitive
collaboration and/or joint venture agreements or engage in business combinations in the future, we may be required to seek additional financing.

Energy Vault has incurred negative operating cash flows and operating losses in the past. We may continue to incur operating losses for the next several years
due to its on-going research and development activities. The Company may seek additional capital through equity and/or debt financings depending on market
conditions. If we are required to raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, dilution to stockholders would result. Any equity securities issued may also
provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock. If we raise funds by issuing debt securities, these debt securities
would have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of common stock. The terms of debt securities or borrowings could impose significant
restrictions on our operations. The credit market and financial services industry have in the past, and may in the future, experience periods of uncertainty that
could impact the availability and cost of equity and debt financing.

Contractual Obligations

Our principal commitments as of March 31, 2022 consisted primarily of obligations under operating leases, finance leases, deferred pensions, and a refundable
contribution to Atlas. The Company has committed to make a $25.0 million refundable contribution that will be issued to Atlas during the period in which it
begins construction on its first GESS, and will be refunded to the Company upon Atlas’ first GESS reaching substantial completion and meeting certain
performance metrics.

Except for the commitment to provide the $25.0 million refundable contribution to Atlas, our commitments have not materially changed from those disclosed
in our financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2021, which are included in Amendment No. 1.

Cash Flows
The following table summarizes cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the periods indicated (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021
Net cash used operating activities $ (16,811) $ (6,004)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (83) 3)
Net cash provided by financing activities 215,304 14,674
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 17) 2,061
Net increase (decrease) in cash $ 198,393 § 10,728

Operating Activities

During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, cash used in operating activities totaled $16.8 million and $6.0 million, respectively. During the three
months ended March 31, 2022, cash used in operating activities was negatively impacted by a net loss of $20.1 million and an increase in operating assets of
$32.6 million. The change in operating assets was primarily due to a $30 million increase in accounts receivable. Operating cash flows were positively
impacted by non-cash charges of $30.9 million and a $5.0 million increase in operating liabilities. The non-cash charges primarily consisted of a $20.2 million
change in fair value of the warrant liability, $9.2 million in stock-based compensation expense, and $1.2 million in depreciation and amortization expense. The
increase in operating liabilities primarily consisted of a $7.1 million increase in deferred revenue and other liabilities, partially offset by a $2.0 million decrease
in accounts payable and accrued expenses.
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During the three months ended March 31, 2021, cash used in operating activities of $6.0 million was negatively impacted by a net loss of $29.0 million, a $0.8
million decrease in operating liabilities, and a $0.6 million increase in operating assets. Operating cash flows were positively impacted by non-cash charges of
$24.4 million. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of a $24.1 million change in the fair value of the derivative liability and $0.2 million in non-cash lease

expenses.
Investing Activities

During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, cash used in investing activities totaled $0.1 million and $3 thousand, respectively. Cash used in
investing activities for both periods consisted of purchases of property and equipment.

Financing Activities

During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, cash provided by financing activities totaled $215.3 million and $14.7 million, respectively. For the
three months ended March 31, 2022, cash provided by financing activities was primarily attributable to $235.9 million in proceeds from the reverse
recapitalization and PIPE financing, net, partially offset by $20.7 million in transaction cost payments related to the reverse recapitalization.

During the three months ended March 31, 2021, cash provided by financing activities was primarily attributable to $14.7 million in proceeds from the issuance
of Series B-1 preferred stock, net of issuance costs,

Non-GAAP Financial Measure

We use adjusted EBITDA to complement our condensed consolidated statements of operations. Management believes that this non-GAAP financial measure
complements our GAAP net loss and such measure is useful to investors. The presentation of this non-GAAP measure is not meant to be considered in isolation
or as an alternative to net loss as an indicator of our performance.

The following table provides a reconciliation from non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA to GAAP net loss, the most directly comparable GAAP measure (amounts in
thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021
Net loss (GAAP) $ (20,079) $ (28,995)
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Interest income, net 47) ®)
Income tax expense 128 —
Depreciation and amortization 1,218 17
Stock-based compensation expense 9,202 7
Change in fair value of warrant liability 20,237 —
Transaction costs 20,586 —
Foreign exchange (gains) and losses (1) 1,940
Change in fair value of derivative liability — 24,102
Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) $ 31,234 § (2,937)

We present adjusted EBITDA, which is net income (loss) excluding adjustments that are outlined in the quantitative reconciliation provided above, as a
supplemental measure of our performance and because we believe this measure is frequently used by securities analysts, investors, and other interested parties
in the evaluation of companies in our industry. The items excluded from adjusted EBITDA are excluded in order to better reflect our continuing operations.

In evaluating adjusted EBITDA, one should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses similar to the adjustments noted above. Our presentation of
adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by these types of adjustments. Adjusted EBITDA is not a
measurement of our financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net loss, operating income (loss), or any other
performance
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measures derived in accordance with GAAP or as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of our liquidity.

Our adjusted EBITDA measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as
reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

* it does not reflect our cash expenditures, future requirements for capital expenditures, or contractual commitments;
* it does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

» although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future,
and our adjusted EBITDA measure does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

* itis not adjusted for all non-cash income or expense items that are reflected in our condensed consolidated statements of cash flows;
* it does not reflect the impact of earnings or charges resulting from matters we consider not to be indicative of our ongoing operations;
* it does not reflect limitations on or costs related to transferring earnings from our subsidiaries to us; and

*  other companies in our industry may calculate this measure differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our
business or as a measure of cash that will be available to use to meet our obligations. You should compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our
GAAP results and using adjusted EBITDA only supplementally.

Off-Balance Sheet Commitments and Arrangements

The Company has not entered into off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC as of March 31, 2022.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (“GAAP”). In preparing
our financial statements, we make assumptions, judgments, and estimates based on historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

We believe that the following accounting policies involve a high degree of judgment and complexity. Accordingly, these are the policies we believe are the
most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our consolidated financial condition and results of operations. Other than the policies described in
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Company’s unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Quarterly Report, there have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates as compared to those disclosed in the notes to our
audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 included in Amendment No. 1.

Revenue

Effective January 1, 2022, Energy Vault’s revenue recognition policy is a critical policy due to the adoption of the guidance from ASC 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. We determine the amount of revenue to be recognized through the application of the following steps:

(1) Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer.

(2) Identification of the performance obligations in the contract.

(3) Determination of the transaction price.

(4) Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.

(5) Recognition of revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied.
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The Company identifies performance obligations in our contracts with customers, which to date have included licenses and support services. The transaction
price is determined based on the amount which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for providing the promised goods and services to the
customer. The transaction price in the contract is allocated to each distinct performance obligation on a relative standalone selling price basis. Revenue is
recognized when performance obligations are satisfied. When a part or all of a transaction price is considered to be variable, an estimate of the constrained
transaction price is recognized. Changes in variable consideration may result in an increase or a decrease to revenue.

Stock-Based Compensation

Accounting for stock-based compensation requires us to make a number of judgments, estimates, and assumptions. If any of the estimates prove to be
inaccurate, Energy Vault’s net loss and operating results could be affected adversely.

The Company’s stock-based compensation arrangements are accounted for in accordance with ASC Topic 718, “Share Based Payments.” Compensation
expense is recognized over the requisite service period (usually the vesting period) on a straight-line basis and adjusted for actual forfeitures of unvested
awards as they occur.

Stock awards that vest solely based on a service condition are measured based on the estimated fair values of the awards as of the grant date using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model, which was impacted by the following assumptions:

¢ Expected Term — The expected term represents the period that Energy Vault’s awards granted are expected to be outstanding and is determined based
upon the simplified method, as we do not have sufficient historical information to develop reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and
post-vesting employment termination behavior.

*  Expected Volatility — Since we were privately held and did not have any trading history for our common stock prior to the Merger, the expected
volatility was estimated based on the average volatility for comparable publicly traded companies over a period equal to the expected term of the stock
award grants.

*  Risk-Free Interest Rate — We use the U.S. Treasury yield for our risk-free interest rate that corresponds with the expected term.

*  Expected Dividend — Energy Vault has never paid dividends on its common stock and has no plans to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.
Therefore, an expected dividend yield of zero was used.

The grant date fair value of our common stock is determined using valuation methodologies which utilize certain assumptions, including probability weighting
of events, volatility, time to liquidation, a risk-free interest rate, and an assumption for a discount for lack of marketability (Level 3 inputs). The fair value of
the Company’s common stock was estimated because the common stock of Legacy Energy Vault had not yet been publicly traded prior to the Merger.

Defined Benefit Pension Obligation

Energy Vault’s wholly owned subsidiary in Switzerland has a defined benefit pension obligation covering retirement and other long-term benefits for the local
employees. The plan is a statutory requirement in accordance with local regulations which is accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the provisions of
GAAP relating to the accounting for pension plans. These GAAP provisions require the use of assumptions, such as the discount rate for liabilities and long-
term rate of return on assets, in determining the projected benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets and an underfunded net benefit obligation.

Warrant Liability

Energy Vault’s financial statements reflect the impact of the publicly-traded warrants (“Public Warrants™) and private warrants (‘“Private Warrants”) that were
assumed upon the closing of the Merger. The Company accounts for warrants for shares of the Company’s common stock that are not indexed to its own stock
as liabilities at fair value on the balance sheet. The warrants are subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date and any change in fair value is recognized
in the Company’s statement of operations.

Emerging Growth Company Accounting Election

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and have irrevocably elected to take advantage of
the benefits of this extended transition period for new or revised standard. We are expected to remain an emerging growth company through the end of 2022
and expects to continue to take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period. This may make it difficult or impossible to compare our financial
results with the financial results of another public company that is either not an emerging growth company or is an emerging growth company that has chosen
not to take advantage of the extended transition period exemptions for emerging growth companies because of the potential differences in accounting standards
used.
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Recently Adopted and Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Recently issued and adopted/unadopted accounting pronouncements are described in Note 2 of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position because of adverse changes in financial market prices and rates.
Foreign Currency Risk

Nearly all of our letters of intent are denominated in U.S. dollars, and certain of our definitive agreements could be denominated in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar, including the Euro, the Australian dollar, the Brazilian real, and the Saudi riyal. A strengthening of the U.S. dollar could increase the cost of our
solutions to our international customers, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations. In addition, an increasing portion of our operating
expenses is incurred outside the United States, is denominated in foreign currencies, such as the euro and the Swiss franc, and is subject to fluctuations due to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. If we become more exposed to currency fluctuations and are not able to successfully hedge against the risks
associated with currency fluctuations, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

Inflation Risk

Our operations could be adversely impacted by inflation, primarily from higher material, labor, and construction costs. While it is difficult to measure the
impact of inflation for such estimates accurately, we believe, if our costs are affected due to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset
higher costs through price increases or other corrective measures, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in our reports filed or submitted under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, has concluded, based upon its evaluation as of the end of
the period covered by this report, that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act), are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Previously Reported Material Weakness

As disclosed in the section titled “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Novus previously identified material weaknesses in
our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

The material weaknesses identified in our internal control over financial reporting related to (1) the accounting treatment of our warrants and (2) the
classification of Novus’s Class A common stock subject to possible redemption. Each of these material weaknesses was identified prior to the closing of the
Merger on February 11, 2022.

Remediation Plans

Since the closing of the Merger on February 11, 2022, we have commenced measures to remediate the identified material weaknesses, including the
employment of Legacy Energy Vault’s finance and accounting personnel and the hiring of additional finance and accounting personnel, further developing and
implementing formal policies, processes and documentation procedures relating to financial reporting and the adoption of new technological solutions. While
we believe the steps taken to date and those planned for future implementation will improve the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting,
we have not completed all remediation efforts. The material weaknesses cannot be considered remediated until applicable controls have operated for a
sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We are taking actions to remediate the material weakness relating to our internal control over financial reporting, as described above. Except as otherwise
described herein, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d)
and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

The effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent
limitations, including the exercise of judgment in designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate
misconduct completely. Accordingly, in designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any system of internal
control over financial reporting, including ours, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance, not absolute assurance of
achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints
and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. Moreover,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. We intend to continue to monitor and upgrade our internal controls as necessary
or appropriate for our business but cannot assure you that such improvements will be sufficient to provide us with effective internal control over financial
reporting.

35



Table of Contents

Part II-Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Energy Vault has been and continues to be involved in legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business, the outcome of which, if determined
adversely to Energy Vault, would not individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on Energy Vault’s business, financial condition, and results
of operations. From time to time, Energy Vault may become involved in additional legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its business.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. You should carefully consider the
risks and uncertainties described below, as well as the other information in this Quarterly Report, including our condensed consolidated financial statements
and the related notes and “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The occurrence of any of the events or
developments described below, or of additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial, could materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects. In such an event, the market price of our securities could decline, and
you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risk Factor Summary

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or subject to risk. This summary does not address all of
the risks facing our business. You should consider the risks in this summary together with the detailed discussion of risks that immediately follows this
summary in this section titled “Risk Factors,” as well as the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We are an early stage company with a history of losses, and expect to incur significant expenses and continuing losses for the foreseeable future, and we may
not be able to achieve profitability in the future.

Our limited operating history and our rapidly evolving industry make it difficult to evaluate our business, the risks and challenges we may face, and future
prospects.

The engineering of our systems is in continuous refinement to improve system cost and efficiency. There is no guarantee that we will be successful in
implementing all improvements under the expected schedule.

There is no assurance that non-binding letters of intent and other indication of interest will result in binding orders or sales. Customers may cancel or delay the
non-binding letters of intent and other indications of interest in our sales pipeline.

Our systems are based on established principles that are deployed in a novel way to create new technologies to store energy and potential customers may be
hesitant to make a significant investment in our technology or abandon the technology they are currently using.

Our systems include complex software and technology systems and do not have a meaningful history of operation, and there can be no assurance such systems
and technology will perform as expected or that software, engineering or other technical defects will not be discovered until after a system is installed and
operated by a customer. If our EVx systems contain manufacturing or construction defects, our business and financial results could be harmed. In addition, the
development and updating of these systems will require us to incur potentially significant costs and expenses.

If any of our products are or are alleged to be defective in design or manufacturing or experience other failures, we may be compelled to undertake corrective
actions, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, operating results, reputation and financial condition.

Our systems’ performance may not meet our customers’ expectations or needs.

Our energy storage systems involve a lengthy sales and installation cycle, and if we fail to close sales on a regular and timely basis it could harm our business.
Moreover, the long sales cycles for our energy storage systems may cause us to incur significant expenses without offsetting revenues.

Approvals, electrical interconnection, and other contingencies that may arise in the course of completing installations.

The failure or inability of our suppliers to deliver necessary components or raw materials for construction of our energy storage systems in a timely manner
could cause installation delays, cancellations, penalty payments and damage to our reputation.
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If the selling security holders sell their securities pursuant to the registration statement the Company initially filed with the SEC on February 14, 2022 and
declared effective by the SEC on May 6, 2022, it may negatively impact the market price of the shares of our common stock and such holders still may receive
significant proceeds.

Risks Related to Energy Vault’s Business and Industry

We are an early stage company with a history of losses, and expect to incur significant expenses and continuing losses for the foreseeable future, and we
may not be able to achieve profitability in the future.

Since our inception in October 2017, we have incurred significant net losses and have used significant cash in our business. As of March 31, 2022, we had an
accumulated deficit of $89.0 million, and net losses of $31.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 and $20.1 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2022. We expect to continue to expand our operations, including by investing in manufacturing, sales and marketing, research and development and
infrastructure to support our growth. We anticipate that we will incur net losses for the foreseeable future and, even if we begin to record revenue, there is no
guarantee that we will become profitable. Our ability to achieve profitability in the future will depend on a number of factors, including:

»  successfully implementing our products on a commercial scale;

* achieving meaningful sales volume;

»  the successful and timely development of a digital platform by our Energy Vault Solutions division;
e attracting customers;

»  expanding into geographical markets;

«  our future customers’ ability to attract and retain financing partners who are willing to provide financing for sales on a timely basis and with attractive
terms;

»  continuing to improve the expected useful life of our gravity-based energy storage technology and reducing our warranty servicing costs;
* the cost of producing our EVx systems, including our mobile masses;

»  ability to execute on our strategy to reduce costs, in the amount and on the timing projected;

* adding waste material, such as coal ash and wind turbine blades, in the production of mobile masses;

» improving the efficiency and predictability of our construction processes;

* entering into agreements with suppliers and service providers for the maintenance of our systems and other strategic relationships;

» improving the effectiveness of our sales and marketing activities and any independent sales representatives that we may engage;

e attracting and retaining key talent in a competitive marketplace;

*  the amount of stock-based compensation that Energy Vault recognizes in a given period;

* identifying new opportunities for other business to integrate our product into their operations;

¢ fluctuations in the costs of steel and raw materials;

* legal and commercial acceptance of the incorporation of waste material (including, but not limited to, coal ash) into our mobile masses; and

» delays associated with obtaining construction permits and potential regulatory review.

Even if we do achieve profitability, we may be unable to sustain or increase our profitability in the future.

Our limited operating history and our rapidly evolving industry make it difficult to evaluate our business, the risks and challenges we may face and future
prospects.

From our inception in October 2017 to the present, we have focused principally on developing and proving our fundamental gravity energy storage technology,
formulating and implementing the EV'1 design, and only recently designed the new EVx and EVRC platforms, which are the systems we are seeking to
commercialize. As a result, we have a limited history operating our business, and therefore a limited history upon which you can base an investment decision.
We have built only one EV1 system, which serves as a commercial demonstration unit, and we have not deployed any other systems
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as of the date of this Quarterly Report. Further, we have not yet finalized the design of our EVx system or our EVRC platform.

Our EVx systems and our EVRC platform are new types of products in the rapidly evolving energy storage industry. In light of the fact that the entire energy
sector is undergoing a major transition, from thermal generation to renewable energy generation, predicting our future revenue depends on the evolution of the
market itself and market acceptance of our technology and systems. Moreover, budgeting for our expenses presents some uncertainty because of the
unpredictability of the prices of raw materials and other trends that may emerge and affect our business. If actual results differ from our estimates or we adjust
our estimates in future periods, our operating results and financial position could be materially and adversely affected. You should consider our prospects in
light of the risks and uncertainties emerging companies encounter when introducing new products into a nascent industry.

The engineering of our systems is in continuous refinement to improve system cost and efficiency. There is no guarantee that we will be successful in
implementing all improvements under the expected schedule.

Our business depends on our ability to succeed in implementing our EVx systems and EVRC platform and introduce innovative and competitive energy storage
technologies. As of the date of this Quarterly Report, we have not deployed a fully operational EVx system or EVRC platform. As our EVx systems are highly
complex, this process is costly and time-consuming. Further, we have not yet finalized the design of our EVx system or our EVRC platform. The date of the
first EVx deployment may be delayed, and we may incur more costs than we expect. In addition, the processes by which we engineer and manufacture mobile
masses are still developing rapidly as we explore new processes and different techniques. Our business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition
may be materially adversely affected if we do not successfully implement our systems or to the extent that such implementation occurs later or costs more than
we expect. Examples of costs that we cannot control include the costs of electronics due to global allocation shortages or costs associated with construction
delays.

Our ability to use net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards and other tax attributes may be limited in connection with ownership changes.

As stated above, we have incurred significant net losses during our history and our ability to become profitable in the near future is uncertain. To the extent that
we continue to generate taxable losses, unused losses will carry forward to offset future taxable income, if any, until such unused losses expire (if at all). As of
December 31, 2021, we had approximately $19.1 million, $11.8 million and $34.2 million of federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards
(“NOLs”). The foreign net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire, if unutilzied, beginning in 2025. Additionally, as of December 31, 2021, the
Company had federal and state research tax credit carryforwards of and $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Federal NOLs incurred in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2021 may be carried back to each of the five tax years preceding
such loss, and NOLs arising in tax years beginning after December 31, 2020 may not be carried back. Moreover, federal NOLs generated in taxable years
ending after December 31, 2017, may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such federal NOLs may be limited to 80% of our taxable income
annually for tax years beginning after December 31, 2020. Our NOL carryforwards are subject to review and possible adjustment by the Internal Revenue
Service (the “IRS”), and state tax authorities. In addition, in general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs or tax credits to offset future
taxable income or taxes. For these purposes, an ownership change generally occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or more stockholders or groups
of stockholders who own at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases their ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest

ownership percentage within a specified testing period. Our existing NOLs or credits may be subject to limitations arising from previous ownership changes,
and if we underwent an ownership change in connection with, or undergo an ownership change following, the Merger, our ability to utilize NOLs or credits
could be further limited by Sections 382 and 383 of the Code. In addition, future changes in our stock ownership, many of which are outside of our control,
could result in an ownership change under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code. Our NOLs or credits may also be impaired under state law. Accordingly, we may
not be able to utilize a material portion of our NOLs or credits. If we determine that an ownership change has occurred and our ability to use our historical
NOLs or credits is materially limited, it would harm our future operating results by effectively increasing our future tax obligations. Section 382 and 383 of the
Code would apply to all net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, whether the carryforward period is indefinite or not. If we earn taxable income, such
limitations could result in increased future tax liability to us and our future cash flows could be adversely affected.
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Our systems are based on established principles that are deployed in a novel way to create new technologies to store energy and potential customers may be
hesitant to make a significant investment in our technology or abandon the technology they are currently using.

The design of our EVx systems and EVRC platform are based on established principles that are deployed in a novel way and will compete with alternative
energy storage products based on other technologies, like lithium-ion battery technology. We believe that the continued growth and acceptance of energy
storage generally will depend significantly on continued investment by the public and private sectors in the renewable energy industry, the regulatory
environment towards carbon intensive power generation and the speed of transition towards electric mobility.

The adoption of renewable energy may not proceed as quickly as (or at the levels that) we expect and may be influenced by changes in regulatory
environments, including incentives, fuel prices, public policy concerns and other factors beyond our control. Additionally, potential customers who previously
invested in alternatives to our gravity based energy storage solution may not deem a transition to our existing or future gravity based energy storage solutions to
be cost-effective. Moreover, given the limited history of our gravity based energy storage technology, potential customers may be hesitant to make a significant
investment in our products. Our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects could be adversely affected to the extent that customers, for
any reason, do not adopt our systems or migrate to our systems from another energy storage technology.

Our systems include complex software and technology systems and do not have a meaningful history of operation, and there can be no assurance such
systems and technology will perform as expected or that software, engineering or other technical defects will not be discovered until after a system is
installed and operated by a customer. If our EVx systems contain manufacturing or construction defects, our business and financial results could be
harmed. In addition, the development and updating of these systems will require us to incur potentially significant costs and expenses.

To date, we have only built the CDU but have not yet deployed any EVx system or an EVRC, and these systems do not have any history of commercial
operation. Once commercial production commences or our systems are installed and put into use by customers, our EVx systems, or any of our other products,
may contain defects in design, manufacture or construction that may cause them not to perform as expected or may require repair. Because there is as of yet no
prototype for our EVx systems or EVRCs and such systems are still under development, we currently have no frame of reference by which to evaluate the
performance of our EVx systems and EVRCs upon which our business prospects depend. For example, our EVx systems and any EVRC will use a substantial
amount of software to operate which may require modification and updates over the life of such systems. Software products are inherently complex and often
contain defects and errors when first introduced. Additionally, it is difficult for us to evaluate the manufacture and construction of our EVx systems or an
EVRC until there are working examples that have been manufactured, constructed and used by us and/or our customers.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to detect and fix any defects in the hardware or software of our EVx systems or EVRCs, and such defects may
not become apparent until a system is installed and operated by a customer. Our EVx systems and EVRCs may not perform consistent with customers’
expectations or consistent with other energy storage systems which may become available. Any product defects or any other failure of our EVx systems to
perform as expected could harm our reputation and result in negative publicity, lost revenue, delivery delays, product liability claims and significant warranty
and other expenses, and could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.

In addition, further development and updating of our EVx systems and EVRC platform will require us to incur potentially significant costs and expenses.

The performance and availability of our products, services and systems may be affected by factors outside of our control, which could result in harm to our
business and financial results.

The performance and availability of our products, services and systems may be affected by factors outside of our control, such as inclement weather and natural
disasters, failures in the power grid, acts of vandalism, shortages in skilled and qualified technical and construction personnel, shortages in raw materials or
spare parts, fluctuations in commodities prices, bad performance or poor quality of equipment and/or infrastructure purchased from our suppliers and
unforeseeable incidents or mistakes in the construction, commissioning or testing of prototype sites under the control of Energy Vault. The severity of such
factors and frequency at which they occur are also outside our control. If such factors occur and affect the performance of our systems, our business and
financial results could be harmed.
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If any of our products are or are alleged to be defective in design or manufacturing or experience other failures, we may be compelled to undertake
corrective actions, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, operating results, reputation and financial condition.

Once an EVRC or EVx system is delivered to a customer, some of the delivered product components may contain defects in design or manufacture that may
cause them not to perform as expected or that may require repair and design changes. The EVRC and our EVx systems are complex and incorporate technology
and components that may contain defects and errors, particularly when first introduced. We have a limited frame of reference from which to evaluate the long-
term performance of our EVx systems and EVRCs in light of the fact that there is still no prototype for them. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
detect and fix any defects in an EVRC or our EVx systems prior to the sale to potential consumers. If a mobile mass falls from an EVx system or an EVRC or
our systems otherwise fail to perform as expected, customers may delay or cancel deliveries, generate negative publicity about us, terminate further orders or
pursue warranty or other claims against us, each of which could adversely affect our sales and reputation and could adversely affect our business, prospects,
and results of operations.

Our systems’ performance may not meet our customers’ expectations or needs.

The systems will be subject to various operating risks that may cause them to generate less value for our customers than expected. These risks include a failure
or wearing out of our equipment or the equipment that our equipment connects into, an inability to find suitable replacement equipment or parts, or disruption
in our distribution systems. Any extended interruption or failure of our customer’s projects, including systems we operate under the Storage Service Customer
program, for any reason to generate the expected amount of output could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, our customers’ willingness to acquire additional systems or services from us may be impacted in the future if any of our systems incur operational
issues that indicate expected future cash flows from the system are less than the carrying value. Any such outcome could adversely affect our operating results
or ability to attract new customers.

If our estimates of the useful life for our energy storage systems are inaccurate or we do not meet service and warranties and performance guarantees, our
business and financial results could be adversely affected.

We expect to provide warranties and performance guarantees of our systems. To date, we have only deployed our CDU, and we have not deployed any EVx
system or an EVRC, and our estimates about product performance and life may prove to be incorrect. Failure to meet these warranties and performance
guarantee levels may require the purchase price to be adjusted downward based on agreed-upon performance targets, or require us to make cash payments to
the customer based on actual performance, as compared to expected performance.

Further, the occurrence of any defects, errors, disruptions in service, or other performance problems, interruptions, or delays with our systems, whether in
connection with day-to-day operations or otherwise, could result in:

¢ loss of customers;

* loss or delayed market acceptance and sales of our hardware and software-enabled services;

* delays in payment to us by customers;

e injury to our reputation and brand;

¢ legal claims, including warranty and service level agreement claims, against us; or

«  diversion of our resources, including through increased service and warranty expenses or financial concessions, and increased insurance costs.

The costs incurred in correcting any material defects or errors in our hardware and software or other performance problems may be substantial and could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Through Energy Vault Solutions, we intend to continue exploring, the potential for offering, as a standalone product, a digital platform that could help
energy storage businesses make decisions on when to charge their systems and when to sell their power. We are in the early stages of developing such a
digital platform, and there is no assurance that a market for such a digital platform exists or that it would be as beneficial to us as we expect.

Through Energy Vault Solutions, we are in the early stages of exploring the potential for offering, as a standalone product, a digital platform that could help
energy storage businesses make decisions on when to charge their systems and when to sell their power. We have begun developing this platform and we intend
to continue this exploration. Even after we spend time and resources to develop such a digital platform and to explore the market potential for such a digital
platform, there is no assurance that we will develop a product that can be sold on terms that are commercially acceptable to us. Moreover, even if we develop
the digital platform and enter into sales agreements for it, these agreements may not be as beneficial to
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us as we expected at the time of entering into the underlying agreement. Any of the foregoing may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results or
operations and prospects.

We intend to explore alternative, co-active use case opportunities for our systems, but there is no assurance that such opportunities exist or that they would
be as beneficial to us as we expect.

We intend to explore alternative, co-active use case opportunities for our EVx systems. For example, we intend to explore opportunities in energy-intensive
industries such as vertical farming, data centers, crypto mining, direct air carbon capture where our systems may be able to benefit from existing infrastructure,
including physical enclosures and electrical systems, that are built into the designs for our EVx and EVRC systems. Even after we spend time and resources
exploring such opportunities, there is no assurance that they exist on terms that are commercially acceptable to us. Moreover, even if we enter into agreements
to make use of such opportunities, such opportunities may not be as beneficial to us as we expected at the time of entering into the underlying agreement. Any
of the foregoing may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results or operations and prospects.

Insufficient warranty reserves to cover future warranty claims could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Once our EVx systems and EVRCs are in production, we will need to maintain warranty reserves to cover warranty-related claims. If the warranty reserves are
inadequate to cover future warranty claims on our EVx systems or our EVRCs or any digital platform that we may develop, our business, prospects, financial
condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected. We may become subject to significant and unexpected warranty expenses. There can be
no assurances that then-existing warranty reserves will be sufficient to cover all claims.

The implementation of our business plan and strategy may require additional capital. If we are then unable to achieve sufficient sales to generate that
capital or otherwise raise capital, it may create substantial doubt about our ability to pursue our business objectives and achieve profitability or to continue
as a going concern. If adequate capital is not available to us, including due to the cost and availability of funding in the capital markets, our business,
operating results and financial condition may be harmed.

The development, design, manufacture and sale of our energy storage systems is a capital-intensive business. As a result, we can be expected to continue to
incur substantial operating expenses without generating sufficient revenues to cover expenditures. Over time, we may need to raise additional funds, including
through entry into new joint venture arrangements, through the issuance of equity, equity-linked or debt securities or through obtaining credit from financial
institutions to fund, together with our principal sources of liquidity, ongoing costs such as research and development relating to our products and technologies,
the construction and tooling of prototypes, the implementation of our systems for our future customers, any significant unplanned or accelerated expenses, and
new strategic investments. We cannot be certain that additional capital will be available on attractive terms, if at all, when needed, which could be dilutive to
stockholders, and our financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

While we have outstanding warrants that may provide an additional source of cash, there is no assurance that holders of warrants will exercise all or any of
their warrants for cash. The exercise price of our warrants is $11.50 per share, subject to certain specified adjustments. To the extent that the price of our
common stock exceeds $11.50 per share, it is more likely that the warrant holders will exercise their warrants. To the extent that the price of our common stock
is less than $11.50 per share, it is less likely that the warrant holders will exercise their warrants.

If adequate capital is not available to us, whether through the exercise of warrants or otherwise, it may create substantial doubt among third parties, including
suppliers and potential customers, about our ability to pursue our objectives, to achieve profitability or to continue as a going concern. Such doubt could
materially and adversely impact our business, reputation and prospects.

Our energy storage systems involve a lengthy sales and installation cycle, and if we fail to close sales on a regular and timely basis it could harm our
business. Moreover, the long sales cycles for our energy storage systems may cause us to incur significant expenses without offsetting revenues

Although we have not yet completed any full cycle from sale to installation of our energy storage systems, we expect them to be lengthy. In order to make a
sale, we must typically provide a significant level of education to prospective customers regarding the use and benefits of our product and our technology. The
period between initial discussions with a potential customer and the sale of even a single product typically depends on a number of factors, including the
potential customer’s attitude towards innovative products, their budget and decision as to the type of financing it chooses to use, as well as the arrangement of
such financing. Prospective customers often undertake a significant evaluation process, which may further extend the sales cycle. Once a customer makes a
formal decision to purchase our product, the fulfillment of the sales order
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by us requires a substantial amount of time. Currently, we believe the time between the entry into a sales contract with a customer and the installation of our
EVx systems or an EVRC could range from 18 to 36 months or more. This lengthy sales and installation cycle is subject to a number of significant risks over
which we have little or no control. Because of both the long sales and installation cycles, we may expend significant resources without having certainty of
generating a sale.

These lengthy sales and installation cycles increase the risk that our customers fail to satisfy their payment obligations or cancel orders before the completion
of the transaction or delay the planned date for installation. Generally, a customer can cancel an order prior to installation, and, notwithstanding the fact that a
customer’s termination for convenience will obligate the customer to pay us certain fees, we may be unable to recover some of our costs in connection with
design, permitting, installation and site preparations incurred prior to cancellation. Cancellation rates in our industry could increase in any given period, due to
factors outside of our control including an inability to install an EVx system at the customer’s chosen location because of permitting or other regulatory issues,
unanticipated changes in the cost or availability of alternative sources of electricity available to the customer, or other reasons unique to each customer. Our
operating expenses are based on anticipated sales levels, and certain of our expenses are fixed. If we are unsuccessful in closing sales after expending
significant resources or if we experience delays or cancellations, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

Moreover, our customers typically expend significant effort in evaluating, testing and qualifying our products before making a decision to purchase them,
resulting in a lengthy initial sales cycle. While our customers are evaluating our products we have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, substantial sales,
marketing and research and development expenses to customize our products to the customer’s needs. During an initial sales cycle, we may also expend
significant management efforts and order long-lead-time components or materials. Even after this evaluation process, a potential customer may not purchase
our products. As a result, these long sales cycles may cause us to incur significant expenses without ever receiving revenue to offset those expenses.

Because of the long sales cycles and the expected limited number of customers for our energy storage systems, our operating results will likely fluctuate
significantly from quarter to quarter.

We expect that long sales cycles and the expected limited number of customers for our energy storage systems is likely to cause fluctuations in our operating
results from quarter to quarter. In light of the standards under which we expect to recognize revenue, small fluctuations in the timing of the completion of our
sales transactions could also cause operating results to vary materially from period to period. In addition, our financial condition and results of operations may
fluctuate in the future due to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. For example, the amount of revenue we recognize in a given period is
expected to be materially dependent on the volume and scale of purchases of our EVx systems and our customers’ preferences for choosing to purchase the
system or purchase the energy storage and dispatch of electricity from systems we build and in which we retain an ownership interest.

In addition to the other risks described herein, the following factors could also cause our financial condition and results of operations to fluctuate on a quarterly
basis:

» fluctuations in costs associated with the first group of EVx systems that we deploy;

* the timing of customer installations of our EVx systems, which may depend on many factors such as availability of inventory, product quality or
performance issues, or local permitting requirements, utility requirements, environmental, health and safety requirements, weather and customer
facility construction schedules, availability and schedule of our third-party general contractors;

»  size of particular customer installations and number of sites involved in any particular quarter;

e delays or cancellations of purchases and installations;

» fluctuations in our service costs;

» weaker than anticipated demand for our energy storage systems due to changes in government regulation, incentives and policies;
e interruptions in our supply chain;

* the timing and level of additional purchases by existing customers;

» unanticipated expenses incurred due to changes in governmental regulations, permitting requirements by local authorities at particular sites, utility
requirements and environmental, health and safety requirements;

*  disruptions in our sales, production, service or other business activities resulting from our inability to attract and retain qualified personnel;
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»  shortage of raw materials from our suppliers and associated price increases due to fluctuations in commodities prices; and
* availability of spare parts from our suppliers.

In addition, our revenue, key operating metrics and other operating results in future quarters may fall short of the expectations of investors and financial
analysts, which could have an adverse effect on the price of our common stock or warrants.

There is no assurance that we will be able to execute on our business model, including achieving market acceptance of our planned products or identifying
potential customers.

Investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by a new enterprise, many of which are beyond our control, including substantial risks and
expenses in the course of establishing or entering new markets, developing and commercializing new products and technologies, organizing operations and
undertaking marketing activities. The likelihood of our success must be considered in light of these risks, expenses, complications, delays and the competitive
environment in which we operate. There is, therefore, nothing at this time upon which to base an assumption that our business plan will prove successful, and
we may not be able to generate significant revenue, raise additional capital or operate profitably. We will continue to encounter risks and difficulties frequently
experienced by pre-commercial and early commercial stage companies, including scaling up our infrastructure and headcount, and may encounter unforeseen
expenses, difficulties or delays in connection with our growth. Any investment in our company is therefore highly speculative and could result in the loss of
your entire investment.

The size of our energy storage systems may negatively impact our ability to enter into contracts with customers or obtain government permits and
approvals.

Our EVx systems require a considerably larger space for their deployment than comparable systems based on certain technologies such as lithium-ion
technology, and this can result in a significant delay in the permitting process. In addition, the size of our EVx systems may represent an impediment for the
deployment of our EVx systems in denser areas or areas with restrictions on the height of buildings. And, in light of the size of our systems, we require hard
soil or the ability to get to bedrock in order to deploy our systems. These factors may negatively impact our ability to enter into customer contracts or obtain
government permits and approvals, each of which may materially affect our business.

Our business is subject to risks associated with construction, cost overruns and delays, including those related to obtaining government permits and
approvals, electrical interconnection, and other contingencies that may arise in the course of completing installations.

Our business is subject to risks relating to construction, cost overruns and delays. The installation and operation of our energy storage systems at a particular
site is generally subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with national, state and local laws and ordinances relating to building codes, safety,
environmental protection, FERC and specific Independent System Operators regulation and related matters, and typically requires obtaining and keeping in
good standing various local and other governmental approvals and permits, including environmental approvals and permits, that vary by jurisdiction. In some
cases, these approvals and permits require periodic renewal. It is difficult and costly to track the requirements of every individual authority having jurisdiction
over energy storage system installations, to design our energy storage systems to comply with these varying standards, which may change over time, and for
customers to obtain all applicable approvals and permits. We cannot predict whether or when all permits required for a given customer’s project will be granted
or whether the conditions associated with the permits will be achievable. The denial of a permit or utility connection essential to a project or the imposition of
impractical conditions would impair our customer’s ability to develop the project. In addition, we cannot predict whether the permitting process will be
lengthened due to complexities and appeals. Delay in the review and permitting process for a project can impair or delay our customers’ abilities to develop
that project or increase the cost so substantially that the project is no longer attractive to our customers. Furthermore, unforeseen delays in the review and
permitting process could delay the timing of the installation of our energy storage systems and could therefore adversely affect the timing of the recognition of
revenue related to hardware acceptance by our customer, which could adversely affect our operating results in a particular period. Delays relating to
constructions may also bring about cost overruns, which could further adversely affect our business.

In addition, the successful installation of our energy storage systems is dependent upon the availability of and timely connection to the local electric grid.
Before beginning construction on an EVx system, we may be unable to obtain in a timely fashion or at all the required consent and authorization of local
utilities to ensure successful interconnection to energy grids to enable the successful discharge of renewable energy to customers. Any delays in our customers’
ability to connect with utilities, delays in the performance of installation-related services or poor performance of installation-related services will have an
adverse effect on our results and could cause operating results to vary materially from period to period.
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The failure or inability of our suppliers to deliver necessary components or raw materials for construction of our energy storage systems in a timely
manner could cause installation delays, cancellations, penalty payments and damage to our reputation.

We rely on a limited number of third-party suppliers for some of the raw materials and components for our EVx systems, including steel, cement, polymers
and, in certain cases, coal ash waste and retired wind turbine blades, and other materials that may be of limited supply. If any of our suppliers provide
insufficient inventory at the level of quality required or if our suppliers are unable or unwilling to provide us with the contracted quantities (as we have limited
or in some case no alternatives for supply), our results of operations could be materially and negatively impacted. If we fail to develop or maintain our
relationships with any of our suppliers, or if there is otherwise a shortage or lack of availability of any required raw materials or components, we may be unable
to manufacture our EVx systems or EVRCs or such products may be available only at a higher cost or after a long delay. For example, there has recently been a
shortage of microchips, which has affected certain manufacturers, and if such shortage continues, our business could be affected as our products incorporate
microchips. Current or future supply chain interruptions that could be exacerbated by global political tensions, such as the situation in Ukraine, could
negatively impact our ability to acquire such microchips. Such delays could prevent us from delivering our EVx systems or our EVRCs to customers within
required time frames and cause order cancellations. These activities are time and capital intensive. Accordingly, the number of suppliers we have for some of
our components and materials is limited and, in some cases, sole sourced. We may be unable to obtain comparable components from alternative suppliers
without considerable delay, expense, or at all. If our suppliers face difficulties obtaining the credit or capital necessary to expand their operations when needed,
they could be unable to supply necessary raw materials and components needed to support our planned sales and services operations, which would negatively
impact our sales volumes and cash flows.

Moreover, we have in the past and may in the future experience unanticipated disruptions to operations or other difficulties with our supply chain or
internalized supply processes due to exchange rate fluctuations, volatility in regional markets from where materials are obtained, changes in the general
macroeconomic outlook, global trade disputes, political instability, expropriation or nationalization of property, public health emergencies such as the COVID-
19 pandemic, civil strife, strikes, insurrections, acts of terrorism, acts of war, or natural disasters. The failure by us to obtain raw materials or components in a
timely manner or to obtain raw materials or components that meet our quantity and cost requirements could impair our ability to manufacture our products or
increase their costs or the associated service costs of under maintenance services agreements, if any are entered into. If we cannot obtain substitute materials or
components on a timely basis or on acceptable terms, we could be prevented from delivering our EVx systems to customers within required time frames, which
could result in sales and installation delays, cancellations, penalty payments, or damage to our reputation, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business and results of operations. In addition, we rely on our suppliers to meet quality standards, and the failure of our suppliers to meet or exceed those
quality standards could cause delays in the delivery of our products, cause unanticipated servicing costs, and cause damage to our reputation.

Our future growth is dependent upon the pace and depth of renewable energy adoption and energy storage technologies, which are emerging industries, as
well as our competition. If the markets for renewable energy and energy storage do not develop as we expect, or if they develop more slowly than we expect,
our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.

Our future growth depends upon factors in our industry, including with respect to our competition, the speed at which the market adopts renewable energy, our
ability to penetrate such market and the state of energy storage technologies. Because renewable energy and energy storage are emerging industries, they are
evolving and characterized by rapidly changing technologies, changing government regulation and industry standards and changing consumer demands and
behaviors. If the markets for these do not develop as we expect, including if they develop more slowly than we expect, demand for our EVx systems, our
EVRC:s or any digital platform that we may develop, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.

Additionally, the energy storage market is largely driven by installed capacity of renewable electricity generation and increasing demand for renewable sources
of power. Since many of these renewable sources of power are intermittent, like wind and solar, the energy produced by them must be stored for use when there
is demand. Should government requirements for these intermittent power sources be relaxed or social desires for lower-carbon sources of energy decline, there

could be a detrimental impact on one of our primary markets.

Even if renewable energy and energy storage become more widely adopted, our gravity energy storage technology may not achieve widespread market
acceptance or may be less cost-effective as compared to competing technologies.

Our business depends on the acceptance of our products, including the EVx systems, in the marketplace. Even if renewable energy and energy storage become
more widely adopted than they have been to date, potential customers may choose energy storage products from our competitors that are based on technologies
other than gravity energy storage, for
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example, lithium-ion battery technology. If they do so, it may be difficult to later transition such potential customers to products offered by us. Moreover, the
marketplace for renewable energy storage products is rapidly evolving, and competing technologies of which we are currently unaware may emerge in the
future. If the gravity energy storage technology that supports our products, including the EVx systems, does not achieve market acceptance then our business
and results of operations would be materially adversely affected.

The growth and profitability of our business is dependent upon our technology being more cost-effective than competing energy storage technologies. For
example, over the last decade, the cost of battery storage systems, particularly lithium-ion based battery storage systems, has declined significantly. If the cost
of competing technologies, including battery storage systems, declines sufficiently, our gravity energy storage technology system may be less cost-effective for
potential customers, which would decrease the demand for our products. Such a decrease in demand would materially adversely affect our business, prospects
and results of operations.

If we are not able to reduce our cost structure in the future, our ability to become profitable may be impaired.

Over time, we must effectively manage the manufacturing costs for our EVx systems to expand our market. While we have sought, and will continue to seek,
to manage our manufacturing and services costs, the cost of components and raw materials, for example, could increase in the future. Any such increases could
slow our growth and cause our financial results and operational metrics to suffer. In addition, we may face increases in our other expenses, including increases
in wages or other labor costs, as well as installation, marketing, sales or related costs. We may continue to make significant investments to drive growth in the
future. To the extent that the price of electricity from the grid is low in certain markets, we will need to continue to reduce our costs to maintain our expected
margins in those markets. Increases in any of these costs or our failure to achieve projected cost reductions could adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition and harm our business and prospects. If we are unable to reduce our cost structure sufficiently in the future, we may not be able to achieve
profitability, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.

We have experienced rapid internal growth and expect to invest in our growth for the foreseeable future. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our
business and operating results may suffer.

In recent periods, our internal operations have grown in terms of complexity and the number of our employees, and we intend to continue such investment for
the foreseeable future. The growth and expansion of our business has placed and continues to place a strain on management, operations, financial infrastructure
and corporate culture. In the event of further growth, our information technology systems and our internal control over financial reporting and procedures may
not be adequate to support our operations and may introduce opportunities for data security incidents that may interrupt business operations and permit bad
actors to obtain unauthorized access to business information or misappropriate funds. We may also face risks to the extent such bad actors infiltrate the
information technology infrastructure of our contractors.

To manage growth in operations and personnel, we will need to continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls and reporting systems
and procedures. Failure to manage growth effectively could result in difficulty or delays in attracting customers, declines in quality or customer satisfaction,
increases in costs, difficulties in introducing new products and services or enhancing existing products and services, loss of customers, information security
vulnerabilities or other operational difficulties, any of which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

If we are unable to attract and retain key employees and hire qualified management, technical, engineering, and sales personnel, including a highly skilled
and diverse management team with experience in the energy storage sectors, our ability to compete and successfully grow our business could be harmed.

We believe that our success and our ability to reach our strategic objectives are highly dependent on the contributions of our key management, technical,
engineering and sales personnel. The loss of the services of any of our key employees could disrupt our operations, delay the development and introduction of
our products and services, including with respect to our prototype products, and negatively impact our business, prospects and operating results. In particular,
we are highly dependent on the services of Robert Piconi, our Chief Executive Officer, Marco Terruzzin, our Chief Product Officer and Andrea Pedretti our
Chief Technology Officer. None of our key employees is bound by an employment agreement for any specific term. We cannot assure you that we will be able
to successfully attract and retain senior leadership necessary to grow our business. Furthermore, there is increasing competition for talented individuals in our
field, and competition for qualified personnel is especially intense in the renewable energy and energy storage industry in the USA and Switzerland, where,
collectively, our primary offices are located. Our failure to attract and retain our executive officers and other key technology, sales, marketing and support
personnel, could adversely impact our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results. In addition, we do not have “key person” life insurance
policies covering any of our officers or other key employees.

We believe that it is vital to our operating success that we recruit and retain key personnel, including a highly skilled and diverse management team with
experience in the renewable energy and energy storage sectors. If we fail to maintain a
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highly skilled and diverse management team, we may not be able to achieve our strategic objectives, which would negatively impact our business and
operating success. In addition, because our industry is still in a nascent stage, there is and will continue to be a scarcity of skilled personnel with experience in
our industry. If we lose a member of our management team or key employee, it may prove difficult for us to replace him or her with a similarly qualified
individual with experience in the renewable energy and energy storage industry, which could impact our business and operating success.

Our EVx systems have significant upfront costs, and our customers may need to obtain financing to help finance purchases. If our customers are unable to
procure third-party financing or if the cost of such financing exceeds our estimates, our business would be adversely affected.

Our EVx systems have significant upfront costs, and certain customers may need, or may prefer to acquire, third-party financing to purchase our systems.

Therefore, our growth, including the deployment of our EVx systems, may to an extent depend on our customers’ ability to attract third-party financing
partners. Their ability to attract third-party financing depends on many factors that are outside of our control, including the ability of third parties to utilize tax
credits and other government incentives, interest rate and/or currency exchange fluctuations, their perceived creditworthiness and the condition of credit
markets generally. We expect that the financing of customer purchases of our EVx systems will be subject to customary conditions such as the customer’s
credit quality, and if these conditions are not satisfied, such customers may be unable to finance purchases of our EVx systems, which would have an adverse
effect on our revenue in a particular period. To the extent our customers are unable to arrange future financings for any of our current or potential projects, our
business would be negatively impacted.

In attempting to attract new customers to support our growth, we intend to refine our customer agreements based on experience. Moreover, new types of
product offerings may require our customers to find partners willing to finance these new projects, which may have different terms and financing conditions
from prior transactions. If the terms of these transactions or the structure of these projects fails to attract financiers, we may not be able to proceed with
growing our business and our potential for growth may be limited. Additionally, financing options are also limited by the customer’s willingness to commit to
making fixed payments regardless of the performance of the EVx systems or our performance of our obligations under the customer agreement

Further, our sales process for transactions that require financing require that we and our customers make certain assumptions regarding the cost of financing
capital. If the cost of financing ultimately exceeds our estimates, we may be unable to proceed with some or all of the impacted projects or our revenue from
such projects may be less than our estimates. Actual financing costs for potential customers may vary from our estimates due to factors outside of our control,
including changes in customer creditworthiness, macroeconomic factors, the returns offered by other investment opportunities available to our financing
partners, and other factors.

If our customers are unable to procure financing partners willing to finance deployments of our products or if the cost of such financing exceeds our estimates,
our business would be negatively impacted.

We face additional risks to the extent that customers choose to purchase energy storage and dispatch of electricity from systems we build and in which
retain an ownership interest rather than purchase an energy storage system.

We expect to offer our customers a choice of two programs. Under the first program, Storage Asset Owners, the customer owns both the energy storage system
and the service the system provides (the energy storage and dispatch of electricity). We anticipate that this program will constitute the substantial majority of
future sales. Under the second program, Storage Service Customers program, customers purchase the energy storage and dispatch of electricity from us while
we retain an ownership interest in the system, together with financing partners.

We could face additional risks under the Storage Service Customers program that we would not otherwise face under our Storage Asset Owners program. For
example, we would need to seek equity and/or debt financing to fund the construction and operation of any energy systems built in connection with a project
for a customer who chooses the Storage Service Customers program. Such financing may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Moreover, we
expect that any such indebtedness would be secured by a lien on the related energy storage system, and the governing debt agreement may contain covenants
imposing operating and financial restrictions on our operations. In addition, until any such debt is repaid, we may not be able to generate meaningful cash flow
from the project. Moreover, the failure of our customers to make payments could trigger an event of default under such governing debt agreements, which
could result in the acceleration of repayment of our outstanding indebtedness or even entitle our lender to foreclose on the collateral securing our debt. In
addition, to the extent equity financing is also used, our right to receive cash flows from the project could be subordinated to the other equity investors.
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Additionally, there could be a material adverse effect on our operating results and our cash flows to the extent we own and operate our energy storage systems
for the benefit of customers who choose the Storage Services Customers program. For example, we would not expect to receive any payments from the
customer until the system is completed and expenses relating to insurance premiums, personnel and our interest payments under debt agreements would be
increased, and such increases may be material. We could also be required to provide ongoing maintenance and repair services or could face liability for any
damages or injuries if the system malfunctions. Additionally, we would be subject to the risks of termination of the agreement by the customer and the inability
to replace the customer would result in the system failing to generate revenue. We may also incur liabilities as a result of a performance failure or other breach
of our obligations in connection with the operation of the system

We may also be subject to additional legal and regulatory restrictions to the extent we own and operate an energy storage system, including relating to the
transmission of energy. Such legal and regulatory restrictions could increase the costs of compliance and potentially subject us to threatened or actual litigation
or administrative proceedings, each of which could have a material adverse affect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Although we expect the significant majority of the revenue from our two programs to be from the Storage Asset Owners program based on our current outlook,
there is no assurance that the Storage Services Customers program will not account for a significant portion of our business.

Our operations are international, and expanding operations in some international markets could expose us to additional risks.

Our operations are international, and we continue to expand our business internationally as we seek to partner with customers, suppliers and other partners
around the world. We currently have operations relating to the EV1 in Switzerland, and our signed purchase order and letters of intent are with counterparties
around the world. Managing further international expansion will require additional resources and controls including additional manufacturing and assembly
facilities. Any expansion internationally could subject our business to risks associated with international operations, including:

*  conformity with applicable business customs, including translation into foreign languages and associated expenses;
* lack of availability of government incentives and subsidies;

*  challenges in arranging, and availability of, financing for our customers;

*  potential changes to our established business model;

e cost of alternative power sources, which could be meaningfully lower outside the United States;

» availability and cost of raw materials, labor, equipment for manufacturing or assembling our EVx systems;

« difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations in an environment of diverse culture, laws, and customers, and the increased travel,
infrastructure, and legal and compliance costs associated with international operations;

* installation challenges which we have not encountered before which may require the development of a unique model for each country;

*  compliance with multiple, potentially conflicting and changing governmental laws, regulations, and permitting processes including construction,
environmental, banking, employment, tax, privacy, safety, security, grid minimum performances, and data protection laws and regulations;

« compliance with U.S. and foreign anti-bribery laws including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Anti-Bribery Act;

« greater difficulties in securing or enforcing our intellectual property rights in certain jurisdictions, or in potential infringement of third-party
intellectual property rights in new jurisdictions;

« difficulties in collecting payments in foreign currencies and associated foreign currency exposure;
*  restrictions on repatriation of earnings;

*  compliance with potentially conflicting and changing laws of taxing jurisdictions where we conduct business and compliance with applicable U.S. tax
laws as they relate to international operations, the complexity and adverse consequences of such tax laws, and potentially adverse tax consequences
due to changes in such tax laws;

* increases or decreases in our expenses caused by fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates;

» changes in import tariffs imposed by local governments;
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»  changes in regulations regarding the use of waste materials in our products;
*  changes in regulations that would prevent us from doing business in specified countries;
»  failure of the supply chain in local countries to provide us with materials of a sufficient quality and quantity delivered on timelines we expect;
¢ the outbreak of war or other hostilities; and
» regional economic and political conditions.
As a result of these risks, any potential future international expansion efforts that we may undertake may not be successful.

In addition, nearly all of our letters of intent are denominated in U.S. dollars, and certain of our definitive agreements could be denominated in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar, including the euro, the Australian dollar, the Brazilian real and the Saudi riyal. A strengthening of the U.S. dollar could increase the cost of
our solutions to our international customers, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations. In addition, an increasing portion of our
operating expenses is incurred outside the United States, is denominated in foreign currencies, such as the euro and the Swiss franc, and is subject to
fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. If we become more exposed to currency fluctuations and are not able to successfully hedge
against the risks associated with currency fluctuations, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our projections are subject to significant risks, assumptions, estimates and uncertainties. As a result, our projected revenues, market share, expenses and
profitability may differ materially from our expectations.

Our projections are subject to significant risks, assumptions, estimates and uncertainties. Such projections reflect our current views with respect to future events
or our future financial performance, are based on assumptions, and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our
actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by our
projections. We may not actually achieve the plans, expectations or objectives contained in our projections, and the underlying assumptions may prove
incorrect. Such deviations may be due to factors outside our control or currently unknown to us. For example, our actual revenues, market share, timing for
achieving business milestones, expenses and profitability may differ materially from our expectations. Therefore, undue reliance should not be placed on any of
our projections.

For example, in October 2021, we entered into an agreement with DG Fuels LLC, which was subsequently amended in May 2022, which we refer to as the
“DG Fuels Agreement.” We announced that the DG Fuels Agreement has the potential to generate up to $737 million in revenue across three projects, the first
of which is expected to commence in mid-2022. The timing of the commencement of and payments under each project is subject to the execution of a sales
agreement relating to such project and the revenue from each project will be dependent upon the agreed upon size of the project, and the timing of such project
and the performance of DG Fuels. The receipt and timing of any revenue recognition and payments from the DG Fuels Agreement will be subject to the timing
and execution of sales agreements and the performance by our counterparty under any such sales agreement for our energy storage systems. Any event or
circumstance that delays or impairs our or our counterparty’s performance could materially adversely affect the amount or timing of revenue generated under
the DG Fuels Agreement, and such revenue, if any, may be materially less than what we expect. There can be no assurance that sales agreements will be
executed with respect to any of the projects, that any of such projects are completed, or that we will generate all $737 million of revenue, or any meaningful
part thereof, under the DG Fuels Agreement or on the timeline we expect.

Operational costs can be difficult to predict and may include costs from requirements related to the decommissioning of our systems.

We will rely heavily on complex machinery for our operations and our production will involve a significant degree of uncertainty and risk in terms of
operational performance and costs. Our EVx systems will consist of large-scale machinery comprised of many components assembled on-site for our
customers. The components of our EVx systems are likely to suffer unexpected malfunctions from time to time and will depend on repairs and spare parts to
resume operations, which may not be available when needed. Unexpected malfunctions of our EVx systems or their constituent components may significantly
affect the intended operational efficiency and performance. In addition, our EVx systems may need to be decommissioned from time to time, and the related
costs could be significant given the expected size and complexity of our EVx systems. Operational performance and costs, including those related to project
stoppage, can be difficult to predict and are often influenced by factors outside of our control, such as, but not limited to, scarcity of natural resources,
environmental hazards and remediation, costs associated with construction, commissioning, testing or decommissioning of machines, labor disputes and
strikes, difficulty or delays in obtaining governmental permits, damages or defects in electronic systems, industrial accidents, fire, seismic activity and natural
disasters. Should operational risks materialize, it
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may result in the personal injury to or death of workers, the loss of production equipment, damage to manufacturing facilities, monetary losses, delays and
unanticipated fluctuations in production, environmental damage, administrative fines, increased insurance costs and potential legal liabilities, all which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition or prospects.

There is no assurance that non-binding letters of intent and other indications of interest will result in binding orders or sales. Customers may cancel or
delay the non-binding letters of intent and other indications of interest in our sales pipeline. As a result, our operating results and cash flows may be
materially lower than our expected results of operations.

Our success depends on our ability to generate revenue and operate profitably, which depends in part on our ability to identify target customers and convert
such contacts into meaningful orders or expand on current customer relationships. As of this date, we do not have any definitive sales agreements in place
although we have the DG Fuels Agreement, the non-binding strategic partnership agreement with Sun Metals and certain detailed letters of intent that
contemplate sales agreements. Potential customers may abandon their indications of interest, and non-binding letters of interest may be cancelled or delayed by
a customer for any reason or its terms may be amended in an manner adverse to us in connection with negotiating a definitive sales agreement. For that reason,
there can be no assurance that any current or future indications of interest or non-binding letters of intent will result in binding orders or sales. Furthermore, in
light of our limited operating history, it is difficult for us to predict the rates at which the non-binding letters of interest in our pipeline will result in binding
orders or sales. It is also difficult for us to predict how quickly we will be able to fill binding orders in the event that we obtain multiple orders. In addition,
revenue is expected to be recognized in stages, and customers may in some cases delay actual cash payments regardless of progressive billings. Additionally, a
customer’s ability to make payments could decline during the sales process, even to the point of insolvency or bankruptcy. As a result, our operating results and
cash flow may be materially lower than we expect.

We have also entered into the DG Fuels Agreement, which contemplates the execution of more definitive sales agreements for the proposed projects. The
timing of projects and payments under the DG Fuels Agreement depends on the timing for signing the sales agreements, and potential delays in signing such
agreements would result in reduced revenue and profitability under the sales agreements and would have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and cash flow, which could be material.

Fuel prices, including volatility in the cost of diesel or natural gas or a prolonged period of low gasoline and natural gas costs, could decrease incentives to
transition to renewable energy.

A portion of the current and expected demand for renewable energy results from concerns about volatility in the cost of gasoline and other petroleum-based
fuel, the dependency of the United States on oil from unstable or hostile countries, government regulations and economic incentives promoting fuel efficiency
and alternative forms of energy, as well as concerns about climate change resulting in part from the burning of fossil fuels. If the cost of gasoline and other
petroleum-based fuel decreases significantly, the outlook for the long-term supply of oil to the United States improves, the government eliminates or modifies
its regulations or economic incentives related to fuel efficiency and alternative forms of energy or there is a change in the perception in the cost-benefit analysis
regarding the effects of burning fossil fuels on the environment, the demand for renewable energy, including energy storage products such as ours, could be
reduced, and our business and revenue may be harmed.

Diesel, gasoline, natural gas and other petroleum-based fuel prices have historically been extremely volatile, particularly during the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic, and it is difficult to ascertain whether such volatility will continue to persist. Lower gasoline and natural gas costs over extended periods of time
may lower the perception in government and the private sector that cheaper, more readily available energy alternatives, such as wind and solar, should be
developed and produced. If gasoline or other petroleum-based fuel prices remain at deflated levels for extended periods of time, the demand for renewable
energy may decrease notwithstanding incentives to transition to renewable energy, which would have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations.

The economic benefit of our energy storage systems to our customers depends on the cost of electricity available from alternative sources, including local
electric utility companies, which cost structure is subject to change.

The economic benefit of our energy storage systems to our customers includes, among other things, the benefit of reducing such customer’s payments to the
local electric utility company. The rates at which electricity is available from a customer’s local electric utility company is subject to change and any changes in
such rates may affect the relative benefits of our energy storage systems. Further, the local electric utility may impose “departing load,” “standby” or other
charges on our customers in connection with their acquisition of our energy storage systems, the amounts of which are outside of our control and which may
have a material impact on the economic benefit of our energy storage systems to our customers. Changes in the rates offered by local electric utilities and/or in
the applicability or amounts of charges and other fees
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imposed by such utilities on customers acquiring our energy storage systems could adversely affect the demand for our energy storage systems.

Additionally, the electricity stored and released by our systems may not currently be cost-competitive in some geographic markets, and we may be unable to
reduce our costs to a level at which our energy storage systems would be competitive in such markets. As such, unless the cost of electricity in these markets
rises or we are able to generate demand for our energy storage systems based on benefits other than electricity cost savings, our potential for growth may be
limited.

We operate in highly competitive energy industries and there is increasing competition. Many of our competitors and future competitors may have
significantly more financial and other resources than we do and if we do not compete effectively, our competitive positioning and our operating results will
be harmed.

The energy markets in which we intend to compete continue to evolve and are highly competitive. Many of our current and potential competitors are large
entities at a more advanced stage in development and commercialization than we are and in some cases have significantly more financial and other resources,
including larger numbers of managerial and technical personnel, to increase their market share. For example, several companies, such as ESS Inc., Eos Energy
Enterprises Inc., Hydrostor Inc. and Primus Power, have each announced plans and demonstrated prototypes of products that would compete in the energy
storage market, and battery vendors with whom we compete, such as Tesla, Inc., Fluence Energy, Inc., LG Chem, Ltd., Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd and
Contemporary Amperex Technology Co. Limited, have already commercialized their respective energy storage solution products. Companies such as Tesla,
Inc., Fluence Energy, Inc. and Wartsila Corporation are also developing their own energy management software. If our competitors continue to penetrate the
renewable energy, energy storage and energy management software markets, we may experience a reduction in potential and actual market share. To date, we
have focused our efforts on recruiting management and other employees, business planning, raising capital, selecting applicable third party technologies,
establishing and attempting to establish partnerships with potential suppliers, customers and ecosystem partners, developing the EV1 and EVx systems and a
digital platform, and general corporate development.

We expect competition in energy storage technology to intensify due to a regulatory push for lower-carbon energy sources, including intermittent sources such
as wind and solar, continuing globalization, and consolidation in the energy industry. Developments in alternative technologies or improvements in energy
storage technology made by competitors may materially adversely affect the sales, pricing and gross margins of our future EVx systems and any digital
platform. If a competing process or technology is developed that has superior operational or price performance, our business would be harmed.

Furthermore, our gravity based energy storage technology also competes with other emerging or evolving technologies, such as thermal storage, chemical
storage, hydrogen energy storage and carbon capture storage and sequestration. If we are unable to keep up with competitive developments, including if such
technologies achieve lower prices or enjoy greater policy support than our technology, our competitive position and growth prospects may be harmed, which
would adversely affect our business, prospects and financial condition.

Some of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories and greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do. These
factors may allow our competitors to respond more quickly or efficiently than we can to new or emerging technologies. These competitors may engage in more
extensive research and development efforts, undertake more far-reaching marketing campaigns and adopt more aggressive pricing policies, which may allow
them to more effectively compete for new energy storage projects and energy management software customers.

We intend to continue committing significant resources to establish a competitive position. There is no assurance we will successfully identify the right partners
or produce and bring our EVx systems and a digital platform to market on a timely basis, if at all, or that products and technologies developed by others will
not render our EVx systems and any digital platform that we may develop obsolete or noncompetitive, any of which would adversely affect our business,
prospects and operating results.

Our future growth depends upon our ability to maintain relationships with third parties, and the terms and enforceability of many of these relationships
are not certain.

We expect to rely on engineering, procurement, construction, or EPC, firms as third-party general contractors to install energy storage systems at our
customers’ sites. We are likely to work with a limited number of such EPC firms, which may impact our ability to facilitate customer installations as planned.
Our work with contractors or their sub-contractors may have the effect of our being required to comply with additional rules (including rules unique to our
customers), working conditions, site remediation and other union requirements, which can add costs and complexity to an installation project. In the future, the
timeliness, thoroughness and quality of installation-related services performed by our general contractors and their sub-contractors may not meet our
expectations and standards and it may be difficult to find and train third-party general contractors that meet our standards at a competitive cost.
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In addition, a key component of our growth strategy is to develop or expand our relationships with third parties. For example, we are investing resources in
establishing strategic relationships with market players across a variety of industries, including, large renewable project developers, commercial agents,
environmental organizations and unions, to generate new customers or to grow our business. These programs may not roll out as quickly as planned or produce
the results we anticipated. A significant portion of our business depends on attracting new partners and retaining existing partners, and such relationships may
not be predicated on enforceable agreements or any agreements at all.

Any failure to offer high-quality technical support services may adversely affect our relationships with our customers and adversely affect our financial
results.

Although we do not have definitive customer agreements in place, we expect that potential and actual customers will depend on our support organization to
resolve any technical issues relating to the hardware and software included in our systems. In addition, our sales process is likely to depend highly on the
quality of our hardware and software-enabled services, on our business reputation and on strong recommendations from our existing customers. Any failure to
maintain high-quality and highly-responsive technical support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality and highly-responsive support,
could adversely affect our reputation, our ability to sell our products to existing and prospective customers, and our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We intend to offer technical support services alongside our systems. We intend to have a designated team of engineers to support our customers, and they may
be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in demand for support services, particularly as we increase the size of our customer
base. We also may be unable to modify the format of our support services to compete with changes in support services provided by competitors. At our current
stage, it is difficult to predict demand for technical support services and if demand were to increase significantly beyond our expectations, we may be unable to
provide satisfactory support services to our customers. Additionally, increased demand for these services, without corresponding revenue, could increase costs
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our systems rely on interconnections to distribution and transmission facilities that are owned and operated by third parties, and as a result, are exposed to
interconnection and transmission facility development and curtailment risks.

Moreover, our EVx systems and EVRCs are intended to be interconnected with electric distribution and transmission facilities owned and operated by
regulated utilities, and independent system operators, necessary to deliver the electricity that our energy storage systems produce. A failure or delay in the
operation or development of these distribution or transmission facilities could result in a loss of revenues or breach of a contract because such a failure or delay
could limit the amount of renewable electricity that our energy storage systems deliver or delay the completion of our customers’ construction projects. In
addition, certain of our energy storage systems’ generation may be curtailed without compensation due to distribution and transmission limitations, reducing
our revenues and impairing our ability to capitalize fully on a particular customer project’s potential. Such a failure or curtailment at levels above our
expectations could adversely affect our business.

Incorrect estimates or assumptions by management in connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements could adversely affect our
reported assets, liabilities, income, revenue or expenses.

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires management to make critical accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income, revenues or expenses during the reporting periods. Incorrect estimates and assumptions by management could adversely
affect our reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. If we make incorrect assumptions or estimates,
our reported financial results may be over- or understated, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations

Unanticipated changes in our income tax rates or exposure to additional tax liabilities may affect future financial results.

We are a U.S. corporation and thus subject to U.S. corporate income tax on its worldwide operations. Certain of our operations and potential customers are
located in the United States, and as a result, we are subject to various U.S. federal, state and local taxes. New U.S. laws and policy relating to taxes may have
an adverse effect on our business and future profitability. Further, existing U.S. tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be interpreted,
changed, modified or applied adversely to us.

For example, on December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”), was signed into law making significant changes to the Code, and
certain provisions of the Tax Act may adversely affect us. In particular, sweeping changes were made to the U.S. taxation of foreign operations. Changes
include, but are not limited to, a reduction to the corporate income tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35% to a flat rate of 21%, the limitation of the tax
deduction for net
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interest expense to 30% of adjusted taxable income (except for certain small businesses), the limitation of the deduction for net operating losses from

taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 to 80% of current year taxable income and the elimination of net operating loss carrybacks generated in
taxable years ending after December 31, 2017 (though any such net operating losses may be carried forward indefinitely), adoption of elements of a territorial
tax system, assessment of a repatriation tax or “toll-charge” on undistributed earnings and profits of U.S.-owned foreign corporations, and introduction of
certain anti-base erosion provisions, including a new minimum tax on global intangible low-taxed income and base erosion and anti-abuse tax. Additionally, on
March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was signed into law, and among other things, the CARES Act
suspends the 80% limitation on the deduction for net operating losses in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2021, permits a 5-year carryback of net
operating losses arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2021, and generally caps the limitation on the deduction for
net interest expense at 50% of adjusted taxable income for taxable years beginning in 2019 and 2020.

Further, President Joe Biden has set forth several tax proposals that would, if enacted, make significant changes to U.S. tax laws (including provisions enacted
pursuant to the Tax Act). Such proposals include, but are not limited to an increase in the U.S. income tax rate applicable to corporations from 21% to 28%,
(i1) an increase in the maximum U.S. federal income tax rate applicable to individuals and (iii) an increase in the U.S. federal income tax rate for long term
capital gain for certain taxpayers with income in excess of a threshold amount. Congress may consider, and could include, some or all of these proposals in
connection with tax reform to be undertaken by the current administration. It is unclear whether these or similar changes will be enacted and, if enacted, how
soon any such changes could take effect. The passage of any legislation as a result of these proposals and other similar changes in U.S. federal income tax laws
could adversely affect our business and future profitability. Investors are urged to consult with their legal and tax advisors with respect to any such legislation
and the potential tax consequences of holding our securities.

Additionally, although we currently primarily operate in the U.S. and Switzerland, we will seek to expand our business internationally to other markets
including additional EU countries, the U.K., Saudi Arabia, Australia, Brazil. Any international expansion of our business could subject our business to tax risks
associated with international operations. For example, tax compliance in various jurisdictions, some of which may have potentially conflicting tax laws, and all
of which are subject to change, potentially with retroactive effect, could result in materially higher cash tax liabilities for our business. The tax laws in
jurisdictions where we conduct business and applicable U.S. tax laws as they relate to international operations may not act together in a coordinated fashion,
which could also result in material incremental taxes for our business. Moreover, an expansion of our business internationally also creates risks that our
business could have a taxable presence in jurisdictions where we are not filing tax returns. Taxing authorities have gotten increasingly aggressive regarding
asserting that companies have a taxable presence in jurisdictions, and our business could face these risks in connection with the internal expansion of our
business.

Cyber-attacks and other security breaches could have an adverse effect on our business, harm our reputation and expose us to liability.

Computer malware, viruses, physical or electronic break-ins and similar disruptions could lead to interruption and delays in our services and operations and
loss, misuse or theft of data. Computer malware, viruses, ransomware, hacking and phishing attacks against online networks have become more prevalent and
may occur on our systems in the future. Due to the political uncertainty involving Russia and Ukraine, there is an increased likelihood that escalation of
tensions could result in cyber attacks or cybersecurity incidents that could either directly or indirectly impact our operations. Any attempts by cyber attackers to
disrupt our services or systems, if successful, could harm our business, introduce liability to data subjects, result in the misappropriation of funds, be expensive
to remedy and damage our reputation or brand. Insurance may not be sufficient to cover significant expenses and losses related to cyber-attacks (such as the
May 2021 cyber-attacks with Colonial Pipeline). Efforts to prevent cyber attackers from entering computer systems are expensive to implement, and we may
not be able to cause the implementation or enforcement of such preventions with respect to our third-party vendors. Though it is difficult to determine what, if
any, harm may directly result from any specific interruption or attack, any failure to maintain performance, reliability, security and availability of systems and
technical infrastructure may, in addition to other losses, harm our reputation, brand and ability to attract customers.

We may in the future experience, service disruptions, outages and other performance problems due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes,
third-party service providers, human or software errors and capacity constraints.

We are putting processes and procedures in place designed to enable Energy Vault to quickly recover from a disaster or catastrophe and continue business
operations and have tested this capability under controlled circumstances. However, there are several factors ranging from human error to data corruption that
could materially impact the efficacy of such processes and procedures, including by lengthening the time services are partially or fully unavailable to customers
and users. It may be difficult or impossible to perform some or all recovery steps and continue normal business operations due
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to the nature of a particular disaster or catastrophe, especially during peak periods, which could cause additional reputational damages, or loss of revenues, any
of which could adversely affect our business and financial results.

In the future our EVx systems, EVRCs and any digital platform that we develop may experience outages and other performance problems due to a variety of
factors, including infrastructure changes, third-party service providers, human or software errors and capacity constraints. We may also face changes in our
EVx system and EVRCs, which could lead to damages, accidents and or system disruptions. We may in the future experience blackmail for our EVx software
or any software underpinning any digital platform that we may develop, which could shut down operation of our systems, those of our potential customers, or
cause other damage to such systems.

Any significant disruption in our computer systems, some of which will be hosted by third-party providers, could damage our reputation and result in
negative publicity, which would harm our business and results of operations.

Although the computer systems for our EVx systems and EVRCs will strictly be on-premise, we will use third-party web services for administrative purposes
and as a backup for our customers in case there is an on-site system failure. Interruptions, whether due to system failures, human errors, computer viruses,
physical or electronic break-ins, denial-of-service attacks, and capacity limitations, could delay or inhibit our operations. Problems with the reliability of our
systems could prevent us from earning revenue and could harm our reputation. Damage to our reputation, any resulting loss of user confidence and the cost of
remedying these problems could negatively affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects.

We have service agreements with data center providers. Problems with our third-party service providers or with their network providers or with the systems
allocating capacity among their users, including us, could adversely affect our ability to serve our customers or perform our administrative work. Our third-
party service providers could decide to close their facilities without adequate notice. Any financial difficulties, such as bankruptcy or reorganization, faced by
our third-party service providers or any of the service providers with whom they contract may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of
which are difficult to predict. If our third-party service providers are unable to keep up with our needs for capacity, this could have an adverse effect on our
business. In the event that our agreements with any of our third-party service providers is terminated, or we add additional cloud infrastructure service
providers, we may experience significant costs or downtime in connection with the transfer to, or the addition of, new cloud infrastructure service providers.
Any of the above circumstances or events may harm our reputation and brand or increase our costs, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Changes in business, economic, or political conditions, including overall changes in demand, are beyond our control and could impact our business,
resulting in lower revenues and other adverse effects to our results of operations.

In recent years, the United States and other significant markets have experienced cyclical downturns and worldwide economic conditions remain uncertain.
This was especially the case in 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, there is uncertainty relating to Russian acts in Ukraine and the
political escalation of tensions in the region. In addition, economic uncertainty and associated macroeconomic conditions, including inflation, make it
extremely difficult for our partners, suppliers, and us to accurately forecast and plan future business activities and could cause our customers to slow spending
on our offerings.

A significant downturn in the domestic or global economy may cause our customers to pause, delay, or cancel spending on our offerings or seek to lower their
costs by exploring alternatives. To the extent purchases of our offerings are perceived by customers and potential customers as discretionary, our revenue may
be disproportionately affected by delays or reductions in energy storage spending. Also, competitors may respond to challenging market conditions by lowering
prices and attempting to lure away our customers.

Similarly, our business depends on the overall business and global or regional political conditions, which are beyond our control.

We cannot predict the timing, strength, or duration of any economic slowdown or any subsequent recovery generally, or any industry in particular or how
global business and political conditions may change. To the extent that general business, economic or political conditions, including overall changes in demand
for our products, decline, our business, financial condition and results of operations, including revenues, could be materially adversely affected.

Our facilities or systems could be damaged or adversely affected as a result of disasters or other unpredictable events. Any prolonged disruption in
operations would adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Our facilities or systems could be adversely affected by events outside of our control, such as natural catastrophic events, geographical instability, wars, and
other calamities. For example, an installed EVx system or EVRC could be severely damaged by fire or earthquake, and the severity of such event may be
exacerbated if we, as opposed to our customer, own
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such product. We cannot assure you that, collectively, our process and procedures to recover from a disaster or catastrophe will be adequate to protect us from
the effects of fire, floods, typhoons, earthquakes, power loss, telecommunications failures, break-ins, war, riots, terrorist attacks, pandemics (including the
COVID-19 pandemic) or similar events. Any of the foregoing events may give rise to interruptions, breakdowns, system failures, technology platform failures
or internet failures, which could cause the loss or corruption of data or malfunctions of software or hardware as well as adversely affect our ability to produce
our EVx systems. In addition, to the extent such events precipitate prolonged disruptions in our operations, our business, prospects, financial condition and
operating results may be materially adversely affected.

Our financial condition and results of operations as well as those of potential customers have been, and may continue to be for the foreseeable future,
adversely affected by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which has caused a material adverse effect on the level of economic activity around the world,
including in the markets we serve.

On March 12, 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 to be a pandemic. In an effort to contain and mitigate the spread of COVID-19, many
countries, including the United States, imposed unprecedented restrictions on travel and business operations, and there have been business closures and a
substantial reduction in economic activity in countries that have had significant outbreaks of COVID-19, including in the markets we serve. In certain cases,
these restrictions have been lifted and then reimposed in part or in full.

Our operations and performance depend significantly on global and regional economic conditions, and the outbreak of COVID-19, together with the measures
taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, has had a significant negative effect on global and regional economies. For example, Energy Vault contracted a
third party to build the crane that is part of its commercial demonstration unit in Switzerland. The third party failed to deliver critical equipment, and certain
errors in construction became apparent. We therefore terminated the relationship, and the construction of the crane in Switzerland was more expensive and took
longer than expected. We believe that the effects COVID-19 exacerbated the additional costs and time required to complete this crane and that the completion
of the crane was delayed by at least six months.

We are continuing to conduct business with substantial restrictions, such as remote working and less employee travel, among other modifications. We also put
into place health and safety policies. As a cash conservation policy, we also instituted salary reductions across our entire employee base, including members of
our senior management team.

The global outbreak of COVID-19 continues to rapidly evolve, especially as COVID-19 cases and corresponding government actions responsive to COVID-19
continue to increase in certain parts of the world. The extent to which COVID-19 may impact our business will depend on future developments, cannot be
predicted with confidence, including the duration of the pandemic, travel restrictions, social distancing requirements or other governmental or business
disruptions, global unemployment rates, the development and distribution of vaccines, the emergence of COVID-19 variants, and the effectiveness of actions
taken in the United States and other countries to prevent, contain, and treat the disease. See the section titled “Management s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Key Factors and Trends Affecting our Business — COVID-19” for a further discussion of the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on our business.

While Legacy Energy Vault did not make material acquisitions, should we pursue acquisitions in the future, it would be subject to risks associated with
acquisitions.

We may acquire additional assets, products, technologies, or businesses that are complementary to its existing business. The process of identifying and
consummating acquisitions and the subsequent integration of new assets and businesses into our own business would require attention from management and
could result in a diversion of resources from its existing business, which in turn could have an adverse effect on its operations. Acquired assets or businesses
may not generate the expected financial results. Acquisitions could also result in the use of cash, potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, the
occurrence of goodwill impairment charges, amortization expenses for other intangible assets and exposure to potential unknown liabilities of the acquired
business.

If we complete future acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen our competitive position or achieve our goals and business strategy. We may be subject to
claims or liabilities assumed from an acquired company, product, or technology; acquisitions we complete could be viewed negatively by our customers,
investors, and securities analysts; and we may incur costs and expenses necessary to address an acquired company’s failure to comply with laws and
governmental rules and regulations. Additionally, we may be subject to litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims
from terminated employees, former stockholders or other third parties, which may differ from or be more significant than the risks our business faces. If we are
are unsuccessful at integrating future acquisitions in a timely manner, or the technologies and operations associated with such acquisitions, our revenue and
operating results could be adversely affected. Any integration process may require significant time and resources, which may disrupt our ongoing business and
divert management’s attention, and we may not be able to manage the integration process successfully or in a timely manner. We may not successfully evaluate
or utilize the acquired technology or personnel, realize anticipated synergies
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from the acquisition, or accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition transaction and integration of such acquisition, including accounting charges
and any potential impairment of goodwill and intangible assets recognized in connection with such acquisitions. We may have to pay cash, incur debt, or issue
equity or equity-linked securities to pay for any future acquisitions, each of which could adversely affect our financial condition or the market price of our
common stock or warrants. Furthermore, the sale of equity or issuance of equity-linked debt to finance any future acquisitions could result in dilution to our
stockholders. The occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We expect to incur significant increased expenses and administrative burdens as a public company, which could negatively impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We expect to incur increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses as a public company that Legacy Energy Vault did not incur as a
private company. We expect such costs and increases to be increased further after we are no longer an emerging growth company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
including the requirements of Section 404, as well as rules and regulations subsequently implemented by the SEC, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the rules and regulations promulgated and to be promulgated thereunder, the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board and the securities exchanges, impose additional reporting and other obligations on public companies. Compliance with public company requirements
will increase costs and make certain activities more time-consuming. A number of those requirements require us to carry out activities we have not done
previously. In addition, expenses associated with SEC reporting requirements will be incurred. Furthermore, if any issues in complying with those requirements
are identified (for example, if the auditors identify a significant deficiency or material weaknesses in the internal control over financial reporting), we could
incur additional costs to rectify those issues, and the existence of those issues could adversely affect our reputation or investor perceptions.

In addition, we will maintain director and officer liability insurance, which has substantial additional premiums. Advocacy efforts by stockholders and third
parties may also prompt additional changes in governance and reporting requirements, which could further increase costs.

As a private company, Legacy Energy Vault did not endeavor to establish and maintain public company-quality internal control over financial reporting. If
we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting as a public company, our ability to produce accurate and
timely financial statements could be impaired, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting and the trading price of our common stock may
decline.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the report by management on internal control over financial reporting will be on our financial reporting and
internal controls (as accounting acquirer). As a private company, Legacy Energy Vault was not previously required to conduct an internal control evaluation and
assessment. The rules governing the standards that must be met for management to assess internal control over financial reporting are complex and require
significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. To comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the requirements of being a reporting company under the
Exchange Act and any complex accounting rules in the future, we may need to upgrade our legacy information technology systems; implement additional
financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures; and hire additional accounting and finance staff.

If we are unable to hire the additional accounting and finance staff necessary to comply with these requirements, it may need to retain additional outside
consultants. we or, if required, our independent registered public accounting firm, are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could negatively impact the market price of our common stock.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

Our business may depend on the continued availability of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives. The reduction, modification, or elimination of
government economic incentives could cause our revenue to decline and harm our financial results.

The U.S. federal government and some state and local governments provide incentives to end users in the form of rebates, tax credits, and other financial
incentives, such as system performance payments and payments for renewable energy credits associated with renewable energy generation. For example,
current U.S. law enables any utilization of the federal 26% Investment Tax Credit (ITC) in case a storage project is built in combination with (i) wind, (ii) open
or closed [loop] biomass, (iii) geothermal or solar, (iv) landfill gas, (v) trash, (vi) hydropower, or (vii) marine/hydro-kinetic renewable energy. Furthermore, the
Company’s storage technology can be paired together with a qualified fuel cell plant, which would qualify for a 26% ITC if placed before January 1, 2023
(22% if before January 1, 2024). In addition, some countries outside the United States also provide incentives to end users. Our EVx systems may qualify for
tax exemptions, incentives, or other customer incentives in certain jurisdictions. Some states have utility procurement programs and/or renewable portfolio
standards for which our technology may be eligible. Our business may rely on these governmental
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rebates, tax credits, and other financial incentives to significantly lower the effective price of our EVx systems to our customers. However, these incentives
may expire on a particular date, end when the allocated funding is exhausted, or be reduced or terminated as a matter of regulatory or legislative policy.

Changes in the availability of rebates, tax credits, and other financial programs and incentives could reduce demand for our EVx systems, impair sales
financing, and adversely impact our business results. The continuation of these programs and incentives depends upon political support which to date has been
bipartisan and durable. Nevertheless, a set of political activists may seek to expand these programs while may seek to eliminate them.

We could be liable for environmental damage resulting from our operations, which could impact our reputation, our business, and our operating results.

We are subject to federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations as well as environmental laws in those foreign jurisdictions in which we operate.
Environmental laws and regulations can be complex and may often change. These laws can give rise to liability for administrative oversight costs,

cleanup costs, property damage, bodily injury, fines, and penalties. Capital and operating expenses needed to comply with environmental laws and regulations
can be significant, and violations may result in substantial fines and penalties or third-party damages. In addition, maintaining compliance with applicable
environmental laws requires significant time and management resources and could cause delays in our ability to build out, equip and operate our facilities as
well as service our fleet, which would adversely impact our business, our prospects, our financial condition, and our operating results. In addition,
environmental laws and regulations such as the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act in the United States impose liability
on several grounds including for the investigation and cleanup of contaminated soil and ground water, for building contamination, for impacts to human health
and for damages to natural resources. If contamination is discovered in the future at properties formerly owned or operated by us or currently owned or
operated by us, or properties to which hazardous substances were sent by us, it could result in our liability under environmental laws and regulations. Many of
our customers who have agreed to purchase our EVx systems and EVRCs have high sustainability standards, and any environmental noncompliance by us
could harm our reputation and impact a current or potential customer’s buying decision. Additionally, in many cases we contractually commit to performing all
necessary installation work on a fixed-price basis, and unanticipated costs associated with environmental remediation and/or compliance expenses may cause
the cost of performing such work to exceed our revenue. The costs of complying with environmental laws, regulations, and customer requirements, and any
claims concerning noncompliance or liability with respect to contamination in the future, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or our
operating results.

Action by governmental authorities and local residents to restrict construction or use of our systems in their localities could substantially harm our
business and financial results.

In the United States and elsewhere, the construction and implementation of our systems is subject to local laws, regulations, rules and agreements regarding
zoning, permitting and land use. From time to time, various interest groups lobby for or against amendments to such rules that would allow potential customers
to implement our systems in locations desirable to them. In certain cases, potential customers may need to petition for changes or waivers to such rules in order
to be allowed to implement our systems. In all cases, governmental authorities and local residents may oppose the implementation of our systems by our
potential customers, which could cause delays, potential damage to our relationships with customers and increased costs to us and our customers. If laws,
regulations, rules, or agreements significantly restrict or discourage our potential customers in certain jurisdictions from purchasing and implementing our
systems, it would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. In addition, there can be no assurance that future
macroeconomic pressures and public policy concerns could continue to lead to new laws and regulations, or interpretations of existing laws and regulations,
that would limit our future customers’ use of our systems.

Changes in regulatory enforcement policies and priorities may negatively impact the management of our business, results of operations, and ability to
compete.

Energy and environmental regulation is constantly changing, and policy or changes in enforcement of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business, or
reexamination of current practices, could adversely impact our profitability, limit our ability to continue existing or pursue new business activities, require us to
change certain of our business practices, affect retention of key personnel, or expose us to additional costs (including increased compliance costs and/or
customer remediation). These changes also may require us to invest significant resources, and devote significant management attention, to make any necessary
changes and could adversely affect our business. The Company’s newly hired Project Development Group conducts required environmental impact and
sustainability studies prior to any storage project commitment.
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We are subject to licensing and operational requirements that result in substantial compliance costs, and our business would be adversely affected if our
licenses are impaired.

Our business is subject to numerous federal and state laws and regulations. In particular, our business is subject to oversight and regulation under local
ordinances, building, zoning and fire codes, environmental protection regulation, utility interconnection requirements, and other rules and regulations. Such
licenses often require us to operate in ways that incur substantial compliance costs.

To date, we have not deployed any EVx systems. We intend to obtain and hold the certificates and/or licenses needed for our near-term plans to install EVx
systems. Although we believe that obtaining and renewing such certificates and/or licenses will be routine, we cannot assure you that any of them will be
renewed in a timely manner. Our failure to hold a given license or certificate would impair our ability to perform our obligations under our customer contracts.
The number of laws affecting our business continues to grow. If our licenses or certificates were impaired, whether by expiration, nonrenewal or modification
or termination, our business would be adversely impaired.

We can give no assurances that we will properly and timely comply with all laws and regulations that may affect us. If we fail to comply with these laws and
regulations, we may be subject to legal penalties, which would adversely affect our business, prospects, and results of operations.

Litigation, regulatory actions and compliance issues could subject us to significant fines, penalties, judgments, remediation costs, negative publicity and
requirements resulting in increased expenses.

We have been and continue to be involved in legal proceedings, administrative proceedings, claims and other litigation that arise in the ordinary course of
business. In addition, since our energy storage system is a new type of product in a nascent market, we may in the future need to seek the amendment of
existing regulations or, in some cases, the creation of new regulations, in order to operate our business in some jurisdictions. Such regulatory processes may
require public hearings concerning our business, which could expose us to subsequent litigation.

Unfavorable outcomes or developments relating to proceedings to which we are a party or transactions involving our products, such as judgments for monetary
damages, injunctions, or denial or revocation of permits, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. To
the extent such proceedings also generate negative publicity, our reputation and business could also be adversely affected. In addition, handling compliance
issues and the settlement of claims could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Laws, regulations and rules relating to privacy, information security, and data protection could increase our costs and adversely affect our business
opportunities. In addition, the ongoing costs of complying with such laws, regulations and rules could be significant.

We are subject to various laws regarding privacy, information security and data protection. In particular, our handling of data relating to individuals is subject to
a variety of laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, and information security, and it may become subject to additional obligations, including
contractual obligations, relating to our maintenance and other processing of this data. For example, the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation,
or GDPR, imposes stringent data protection requirements and provides for significant penalties for noncompliance. Laws, regulations, and other actual and
potential obligations relating to privacy, data protection, and data security are evolving rapidly, and the regulatory landscape regarding privacy, data protection,
and data security is likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. We expect to be subject to new laws and regulations, or new interpretations of laws
and regulations, in the future in various jurisdictions. These laws, regulations, and other obligations, and changes in their interpretation, could require us to
modify our operations and practices, restrict our activities, and increase our costs in the future, and it is possible that these laws, regulations, and other
obligations may be inconsistent with one another or be interpreted or asserted to be inconsistent with our business or practices. Any inability to adequately
address privacy and security concerns or comply with applicable privacy and information security laws, rules and regulations could have an adverse effect on
our business, prospects, results of operations, financial position and reputation.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

We may be unable to protect, defend, maintain or enforce intellectual property on which our business depends, including as against existing or future
competitors. Failure to protect defend, maintain and enforce that intellectual property could result in our competitors offering similar products, potentially
adversely affecting our growth and success.

Although we have taken many protective measures to protect our trade secrets, including agreements, limited access, segregation of knowledge, password
protections and other measures, policing unauthorized use of proprietary technology can be difficult and expensive. For example, certain of our engineers
reside in California and it is not legally permissible to prevent them from working for a competitor, if and when one should exist. Also, litigation may be
necessary to enforce our
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intellectual property rights, protect our trade secrets, or determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Such litigation may result in our
intellectual property rights being challenged, limited in scope, or declared invalid or unenforceable. We cannot be certain that the outcome of any litigation will
be in our favor, and an adverse determination in any such litigation could impair our intellectual property rights and may harm our business, prospects and
reputation.

We rely primarily on patent, copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, and non-disclosure, confidentiality, and other types of contractual restrictions to
establish, maintain, and enforce our intellectual property and proprietary rights. However, our rights under these laws and agreements afford us only limited
protection and the actions we take to establish, maintain, and enforce our intellectual property rights may not be adequate. For example, our trade secrets and
other confidential information could be disclosed in an unauthorized manner to third parties, our owned or licensed intellectual property rights could be
challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed, or misappropriated or our intellectual property rights may not be sufficient to provide us with a competitive
advantage, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results. In addition, the laws of some countries
do not protect proprietary rights as fully as do the laws of the United States. As a result, we may not be able to protect our proprietary rights adequately abroad.

Our patents and, patent applications if issued, may not provide adequate protection to create a barrier to entry. The provisional and non-provisional patent
applications that we own may not issue as patents or provide adequate protection to create a barrier to entry, which may hinder our ability to prevent
competitors from selling products similar to ours.

We cannot be certain that our pending patent applications will result in issued patents or that any of our issued patents will afford protection against a
competitor. The status of patents involves complex legal and factual questions, and the breadth of claims allowed is uncertain. As a result, we cannot be certain
that the patent applications that we file will result in patents being issued or that our patents and any patents that may be issued to us in the future will afford
protection against competitors with similar technology. In addition, patent applications filed in foreign countries are subject to laws, rules, and procedures that
differ from those of the United States, and thus we cannot be certain that foreign patent applications related to issued U.S. patents will be issued in other
regions. Furthermore, even if these patent applications are accepted and the associated patents issued, some foreign countries provide significantly less
effective patent enforcement than in the United States.

In addition, patents issued to us may be infringed upon or designed around by others and others may obtain patents that we need to license or design around,
either of which would increase costs and may adversely affect our business, our prospects, and our operating results.

We may be subject to third-party claims of infringement, misappropriation or other violation of intellectual property rights, or other claims challenging our
agreements related to intellectual property, which may be time-consuming and costly to defend, and could result in substantial liability.

Companies, organizations, or individuals, including our competitors, may hold or obtain patents, trademarks, or other proprietary rights that they may in the
future believe are infringed by our products or services. These companies holding patents or other intellectual property rights allegedly relating to our
technologies could, in the future, make claims or bring suits alleging infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of such rights, or otherwise assert their
rights and by seeking royalties or injunctions. If a claim is successfully brought in the future and we or our products are determined to have infringed,
misappropriated, or otherwise violated a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may be required to do one or more of the following:

e cease selling or using our products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;

*  pay substantial damages (including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if our infringement is determined to be willful);

*  obtain a license from the holder of the intellectual property right, which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all; or
*  redesign our products or means of production, which may not be possible or cost-effective.

Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, prospects, operating results, and financial condition. In addition, any litigation or claims, whether or
not valid, could harm our reputation, result in substantial costs and divert resources and management attention.

We also license technology from third parties and incorporate components supplied by third parties into our products. We may in the future face claims that our
use of such technology or components infringes or otherwise violates the rights of others, which would subject us to the risks described above. We may in some
cases seek indemnification from our licensors
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or suppliers under our contracts with them, but our rights to indemnification or our suppliers’ resources may be unavailable or insufficient to cover our costs
and losses.

Risks Related to Ownership of Energy Vault’s Securities

Concentration of ownership among our executive officers, directors, and their affiliates may prevent new investors firom influencing significant corporate
decisions.

As of April 1, 2022, our executive officers, directors and their affiliates as a group beneficially own approximately 38.5% of our outstanding common stock. As
a result, these stockholders are able to exercise a significant level of control over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors,
appointment and removal of officers, any amendment of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation and approval of mergers and other business
combination transactions requiring stockholder approval. This control could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in
management and will make the approval of certain transactions difficult or impossible without the support of these stockholders.

The SEC has recently issued guidance on the accounting treatment of warrants. We have accounted for our outstanding warrants as a warrant liability and
will be required to determine the value of the warrant liability on a quarterly basis, which could have a material impact on our financial position and
operating results.

In the Staff Statement issued by the Staff of the SEC on April 12, 2021, the Staff expressed its view that certain terms and conditions common to SPAC
warrants may require the warrants to be classified as liabilities on the SPAC’s balance sheet as opposed to equity. Following the issuance of such Staff
Statement, on May 20, 2021, Novus concluded that it was appropriate to restate its previously issued audited balance sheet as of February 8, 2021. A summary
of the effect of the restatement on the audited balance sheet was included in the notes to the financial statements filed as part of Novus’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The restated balance sheet summary reflects the change in accounting treatment of the public warrants
and private warrants issued in connection with its initial public offering in February 2021 (which were previously recorded as a component of equity on the
balance sheet) as liabilities measured at fair value upon issuance, with subsequent changes in fair value reported in the statement of operations for subsequent
reporting periods. Under this accounting treatment, we are required to measure the fair value of the warrants on a quarterly basis as well as re-evaluate the
treatment of the warrants and recognize changes in the fair value from the prior period in our operating results for the current period, which could have a
material impact on our financial position and operating results. The impact of changes in fair value on earnings, which may be material, may have an adverse
effect on the market price of our securities.

We may face litigation and other risks as a result of the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may report additional
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in the future.

On May 20, 2021, Novus concluded that it was appropriate to restate its previously issued audited balance sheet as of February 8, 2021, and as part of such
process, Novus identified a material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting, including the valuation of the warrants. Additionally, on
November 14, 2021, Novus concluded that it was appropriate to restate its previously issued unaudited financial statements for the periods ended March 31,
2021 and June 30, 2021, and as part of such process, Novus identified an additional material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting resulting
from the improper valuation of its Class A common stock subject to possible redemption. As the accounting acquirer in the business combination, we will
inherit this material weakness and the warrants. We cannot assure as to when these material weaknesses will be remediated.

As a result of such material weaknesses, the changes in accounting for our warrants and our common stock, and other matters raised or that may in the future
be raised by the SEC, we face potential for litigation or other disputes which may include, among others, claims invoking the federal and state securities laws,
contractual claims or other claims arising from the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and the preparation of our financial
statements. As of the date of this Quarterly Report, we have no knowledge of any such litigation or dispute. However, we can provide no assurance that such
litigation or dispute will not arise in the future. Any such litigation or dispute, whether successful or not, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

We cannot assure you that there will not be additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting now or in the future. Any failure to
maintain internal control over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows. If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm
determines that we have a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of
our financial reports, the market price of our common stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by NYSE, the SEC or other
regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in
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our internal control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public companies, could also restrict our
future access to the capital markets.

The Company’s failure to timely and effectively implement controls and procedures required by Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could negatively
impact its business.

As a public company, we will be required to provide management’s attestation on internal controls. The standards required for a public company under

Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are significantly more stringent than those required as a privately held company. Management may not be able to
effectively and timely implement controls and procedures that adequately respond to the increased regulatory compliance and reporting requirements. If the
Company is not able to implement the additional requirements of Section 404(a) in a timely manner or with adequate compliance, we may not be able to assess
whether our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, which may subject it to adverse regulatory consequences and could harm investor
confidence and the market price of our securities.

The Company will qualify as an “emerging growth company” and “smaller reporting company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we takes
advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies, which could make our securities less attractive to
investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance to the performance of other public companies.

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act. As such, the Company is
eligible for and intends to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging
growth companies for as long as it continues to be an emerging growth company, including (a) the exemption from the auditor attestation requirements with
respect to internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (b) the exemptions from say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and
say-on-golden parachute voting requirements and (c) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy
statements. The Company will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market value of our
common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of that fiscal year, (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total
annual gross revenue of $1.07 billion or more during such fiscal year (as indexed for inflation), (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in
non-convertible debt in the prior three-year period or (iv) December 31, 2026. In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth
company can take advantage of the exemption from complying with new or revised accounting standards provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act
as long as the Company is an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until
those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have elected not to opt out of such extended transition period and, therefore, the Company
may not be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

Even after the Company no longer qualifies as an emerging growth company, we may still qualify as a “smaller reporting company,” which would allow it to
continue to take advantage of many of the same exemptions from disclosure requirements, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation
requirements, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy
statements. Moreover, smaller reporting companies may choose to present only the two most recent fiscal years of audited financial statements in their Annual
Reports on Form 10-K.

Investors may find the Company’s common stock less attractive because the Company will rely on these exemptions, which may result in a less active trading
market for our common stock and its price may be more volatile.

Our management has limited experience in operating a public company.

Our executive officers have limited experience in the management of a publicly traded company. Our management team may not successfully or effectively
manage the transition to a public company that will be subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal securities laws. Their
limited experience in dealing with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies could be a significant disadvantage in that it is likely that an
increasing amount of their time may be devoted to these activities which will result in less time being devoted to the management and growth of our business.
We may not have adequate personnel with the appropriate level of knowledge, experience, and training in the accounting policies, practices or internal controls
over financial reporting required of public companies in the United States. The development and implementation of the standards and controls necessary for us
to achieve the level of accounting standards required of a public company in the United States may require costs greater than expected. It is possible that the
Company will be required to expand its employee base and hire additional employees to support our operations as a public company which will increase our
operating costs in future periods.
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1If, securities or industry analysts cease publishing research or reports about the Company, its business, or its market, or if they change their
recommendations regarding the Company’s securities adversely, the price and trading volume of the Company’s securities could decline.

Research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about the Company, its business, market or competitors may influence the public market for
our securities. If securities or industry analysts cease coverage of the Company, the price and trading volume of our publicly traded securities would likely be
negatively impacted. If any of the analysts who may cover the Company adversely change their recommendation regarding our securities, or provide more
favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the price of the our publicly traded securities would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover
the Company were to cease coverage of the Company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, the Company could lose visibility in the financial markets,
which in turn could cause the price or trading volume of our publicly traded securities to decline.

Because we have no current plans to pay cash dividends on the Company’s common stock for the foreseeable future, you may not receive any return on
investment unless you sell the Company’s common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

The Company may retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and has no current plans to pay any cash dividends for
the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends will be made at the discretion of the Company’s board of directors and will depend on, among
other things, the Company’s results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors that the Company’s board of
directors may deem relevant. In addition, the Company’s ability to pay dividends may be limited by covenants of any existing and future outstanding
indebtedness it or its subsidiaries incur. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in the Company’s common stock unless you sell your
shares of common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

The Company may issue additional shares of common stock or other equity securities without your approval, which would dilute your ownership interests
and may depress the market price of the Company’s common stock.

As of April 1, 2022, the Company had warrants outstanding to purchase an aggregate of 14,749,922 shares of common stock. In addition, the Company may
issue an aggregate of up to 15,516,760 shares of common stock pursuant to our 2022 Equity Incentive Plan, which amount may be subject to increase from
time to time. The Company may also issue additional shares of common stock or other equity securities of equal or senior rank in the future in connection with,
among other things, future acquisitions or repayment of outstanding indebtedness, without stockholder approval, in a number of circumstances.

The issuance of additional shares or other equity securities of equal or senior rank would have the following effects:
*  existing stockholders’ proportionate ownership interest in the Company will decrease;
» the amount of cash available per share, including for payment of dividends in the future, may decrease;
* the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding share of common stock may be diminished; and
* the market price of the Company’s common stock may decline.

If the selling security holders sell their securities pursuant to the registration statement the Company initially filed with the SEC on February 14, 2022 and
declared effective on May 6, 2022 (the “Resale S-1”), it may negatively impact the market price of the shares of our common stock and such holders still
may receive significant proceeds.

Even if the price of our common stock falls below $10.00 per share, which was the price per unit sold in our IPO and the per-share price of the shares sold in
the PIPE, Novus’s Founders and the Legacy Energy Vault stockholders (the “EV Reg Rights Holders”) who received shares of our common Stock in
connection with the Merger have registration rights pursuant to our amended and restated registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”),
and Mr. Piconi, our director and Chief Executive Officer (together with the EV Reg Rights Holders, (the “EV Sellers™)) will be able to sell the securities
registered hereby because they purchased such securities at prices significantly less than $10.00 per share. In particular, Novus’s Founders purchased their
shares of common stock registered for resale at a price of $0.004 per share and the private warrants at a price of $1.50 per warrant. The EV Sellers purchased
their shares at a weighted-average price of $1.52 per share, after giving effect to the exchange ratio in the Merger. Accordingly, such selling security holders
could sell their securities at a per-share price that is less than $10.00 and could still realize a significant profit that would not be realized by investors in our
IPO, who purchased units comprised of a share of our common stock and one-third of a public warrant at a price of $10.00 per unit, the PIPE investors who
purchased shares at a price of $10.00 per share, or investors who purchased shares of our common stock on the open market at per-share prices over $10.00.
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The Resale S-1 has been filed to discharge our obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement and agreements with the investors in the PIPE. The Resale
S-1 also covers shares issuable upon exercise of the public warrants. In the aggregate, the number of shares registered for resale hereby equaled 61.0% of the
number of shares of our common stock outstanding as of April 1, 2022. Additionally, we intend to register 23,981,119 shares subject to options and restricted
stock units of Legacy Energy Vault assumed by us at the closing of the Merger or to be issued under our equity incentive plans under a Registration Statement
on Form S-8.

The sale or possibility of sale of these additional securities trading in the public market may negatively impact the market price of our common stock or the
warrants.

Our stock price may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance. You may lose some or all of your investment.

The trading prices of our common stock and our warrants are likely to be volatile. The stock market recently has experienced extreme volatility. This volatility
often has been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies. You may not be able to resell your shares at an attractive
price due to a number of factors such as the following:

«  the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our financial condition and the results of operations;

e  our operating and financial performance and prospects;

e our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry compared to market expectations;
*  conditions that impact demand for our services;

« future announcements concerning our business, our customers’ businesses, or our competitors’ businesses;

» the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements, and filings with the SEC;

* the market’s reaction to our reduced disclosure and other requirements as a result of being an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act or a
“smaller reporting company”’;

e the size of our public float;

*  coverage by or changes in financial estimates by securities analysts or failure to meet their expectations;

*  market and industry perception of our success, or lack thereof, in pursuing our growth strategy;

e strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

* changes in laws or regulations which adversely affect the energy storage industry generally or Energy Vault specifically;
*  changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations, or principles;

*  changes in senior management or key personnel;

e issuances, exchanges or sales, or expected issuances, exchanges, or sales of our capital stock;

*  changes in our dividend policy;

« adverse resolution of new or pending litigation against us; and

*  changes in general market, economic, and political conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets, including those
resulting from natural disasters, terrorist attacks, acts of war, and responses to such events.

These broad market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our securities, regardless of our operating performance. In addition, price
volatility may be greater if the public float and trading volume of the Common Stock is low. As a result, you may suffer a loss on your investment.

Anti-takeover provisions in our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of the Company, which may be
beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove the Company’s current management.

Our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws contain provisions that may delay or prevent an acquisition of the Company or a change in its management.
These provisions may make it more difficult for stockholders to replace or remove members of its board of directors. Because the board of directors is
responsible for appointing the members of the management team, these provisions could in turn frustrate or prevent any attempt by its stockholders to replace
or remove
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its current management. In addition, these provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of Company common
stock. Among other things, these provisions include:

» the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of; its directors and officers;
« aprohibition on actions by its stockholders except at an annual or special meeting of stockholders;
* aprohibition on actions by its stockholders by written consent; and

» the ability of the board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to institute a “poison pill” that would
work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by the board of
directors.

Moreover, because the Company is incorporated in Delaware, it is governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL, which prohibits a person who owns
15% or more of its outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with the Company for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which
the person acquired 15% or more of the Company’s outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner. This could
discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring or merging with the Company, whether or not it is desired by, or beneficial to, its stockholders. This
could also have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for the Company’s common stock, including transactions that may be in its
stockholders’ best interests. Finally, these provisions establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings. These provisions would apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some
stockholders.

We may redeem unexpired public warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to the holders of our public warrants.

We have the ability to redeem outstanding public warrants at any time after they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, at a price of $0.01 per
warrant if, among other things, the last reported sales price of our common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock
dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date
we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders. If and when the public warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption right even
if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws. As a result, we may redeem the public warrants
as set forth above even if the holders are otherwise unable to exercise the public warrants. The public warrants differ from the private warrants since none of
the private warrants will be redeemable by us so long as they are held by the Founders or their permitted transferees.

Redemption of the outstanding public warrants could force you to: (1) exercise your warrants and pay the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be
disadvantageous for you to do so; (2) sell your warrants at the then-current market price when you might otherwise wish to hold your warrants; or (3) accept
the nominal redemption price which, at the time the outstanding warrants are called for redemption, we expect would be substantially less than the market
value of your warrants.

Warrants will become exercisable for our common stock, which would increase the number of shares eligible for future resale in the public market and
result in dilution to our stockholders.

Our warrants are exercisable for 14,749,922 shares of our common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $11.50 per share. The shares of our common
stock issued upon exercise of our warrants will result in dilution to the then existing holders of common stock and increase the number of shares eligible for
resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

This information required by Item 2 is contained in our Current Report on Form 8-K, as originally filed with the SEC on February 14, 2022 and as
subsequently amended on March 31, 2022.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Item 5. Other Information

In October 2021, Energy Vault entered into an Energy Storage System Agreement, or the DG Fuels Agreement, with DG Fuels LLC, or DG Fuels. Under the
terms of such agreement, Energy Vault agreed to provide up to 1.6 gigawatt hours, or GWh, of energy storage to support DG Fuels across multiple projects, the
first of which was expected to be a 500 megawatt hour, or MWh, project in Louisiana. On May 10, 2022, Energy Vault and DG Fuels amended the DG Fuels
Agreement, to reflect a planned expansion to the project in Louisiana. As expanded, the project in Louisiana is expected to have up to 1,168 MWh in storage
capacity, and Energy Vault has agreed to provide up to 2.2 GWh of energy storage for all of the projects associated with the DG Fuels Agreement.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description of Document Schedule/Form File Number Exhibit Filing Date
Number Number
3.1 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Energy Vault 8-K 001-39982 3.1 February 14, 2022
Holdings, Inc.
32 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 8-K 001-39982 32 February 14, 2022
of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.
10.1 Amended and Restated Registration Rights 8-K 001-39982 10.2 February 14, 2022
Agreement, by and among the Company and certain
stockholders and equity-holders of the Company,
10.2 Form of Lock-Up Agreement 8-K 001-39982 10.4 February 14, 2022
10.3 Sponsor Restricted Stock Agreement, by and among 8-K 001-39982 10.5 February 14, 2022
Novus, Novus Initial Stockholders, and Energy Vault
10.4 Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. 2022 Equity Incentive
Plan
10.5 Offer Letter, dated April 14, 2022, by and between S-1 001-39982 10.35 May 3, 2022
Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. and David Hitchcock
10.6 Amendment to the Energy Storage System
Agreement by and between DG Fuels LLC and
Energy Vault Inc., dated as of May 10, 2022
10.7 Offer Letter, dated May 16, 2022, by and between
Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. and Josh McMorrow
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer required
under Rule 13a-14(a)_and 15d-14(a)_of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer required
under Rule 13a-14(a)_and 15d-14(a)_of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase

Document

65

Filed Herewith


https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex3-1_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex3-1_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex3-2_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex3-2_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex10-2_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex10-2_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex10-2_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex10-4_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex10-5_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-023106.html?hash=fc666b63c8a5bef247acd532d554a2b912dbc53a0af390cb41e52bc22c1906d7&dest=tm225795d16_ex10-5_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-055314.html?hash=48892a0e409a4a4f71dbb013dbacff3e195e03cbd87a9df6e2eaed8c7e960b9c&dest=tm225795d41_ex10-35_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-22-055314.html?hash=48892a0e409a4a4f71dbb013dbacff3e195e03cbd87a9df6e2eaed8c7e960b9c&dest=tm225795d41_ex10-35_htm
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description of Document Schedule/Form File Number Exhibit Filing Date Filed Herewith
Number Number
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline

XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
Certain portions of this Exhibit will be excluded because they are not material and are of the type that the registrant treats as private or confidential.

+  Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601. The Registrant agrees to furnish a
copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.

~  The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filings of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective
of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized.

Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.

Date: May 16, 2022 By: /s/ Robert Piconi

Name: Robert Piconi
Title: Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 16, 2022 By: /s/ David Hitchcock

Name: David Hitchcock
Title: Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.

2022 Equity Incentive Plan
(As Adopted on February 11, 2022)

(Approved By The Stockholders on February 10, 2022)



Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.
2022 Equity Incentive Plan

ARTICLE 1. INTRODUCTION.

The Board adopted the Plan to become effective immediately, although no Awards may be granted prior to the Business
Combination Date. The purpose of the Plan is to promote the long-term success of the Company and the creation of stockholder
value by (a) encouraging Service Providers to focus on critical long-range corporate objectives, (b) encouraging the attraction and
retention of Service Providers with exceptional qualifications and (c) linking Service Providers directly to stockholder interests
through increased stock ownership. The Plan seeks to achieve this purpose by providing for Awards in the form of Options (which
may be ISOs or NSOs), SARs, Restricted Shares and Restricted Stock Units. Capitalized terms used in this Plan are defined in
Article 14.

ARTICLE 2. ADMINISTRATION.

2.1 General. The Plan may be administered by the Board or one or more Committees to which the Board (or an
authorized Board committee) has delegated authority. If administration is delegated to a Committee, the Committee shall have the
powers theretofore possessed by the Board, including, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the power to delegate to a
subcommittee any of the administrative powers the Committee is authorized to exercise (and references in this Plan to either the
Board or the Administrator shall hereafter also encompass the Committee or subcommittee, as applicable). The Board may abolish
the Committee’s delegation at any time and the Board shall at all times also retain the authority it has delegated to the Committee.
The Administrator shall comply with rules and regulations applicable to it, including under the rules of any exchange on which the
Common Shares are traded, and shall have the authority and be responsible for such functions as have been assigned to it.

2.2 Section 16. To the extent desirable to qualify transactions hereunder as exempt under Exchange Act Rule 16b-3, the
transactions contemplated hereunder will be approved by the entire Board or a Committee of two or more “non-employee directors”
within the meaning of Exchange Act Rule 16b-3.

2.3  Powers of Administrator. Subject to the terms of the Plan, and in the case of a Committee, subject to the specific
duties delegated to the Committee, the Administrator shall have the authority to (a) select the Service Providers who are to receive
Awards under the Plan, (b) determine the type, number, vesting requirements and other features and conditions of such Awards, (c)
interpret the Plan and Awards granted under the Plan, (d) determine whether, when and to what extent an Award has become vested
and/or exercisable and whether any performance-based vesting conditions have been satisfied, (¢) make, amend and rescind rules
relating to the Plan and Awards granted under the Plan, including rules relating to sub-plans established for the purposes of satisfying
applicable foreign laws or for qualifying for favorable tax treatment under applicable foreign laws, (f) impose such restrictions,
conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing and manner of any resales by a Participant of any Common
Shares issued pursuant to an Award, including restrictions under an insider trading policy and restrictions as to the use of a specified
brokerage firm for such resales, and (g) make all other decisions relating to the operation of the Plan and Awards granted under the
Plan. In addition, with regard to the terms and conditions of Awards granted to Service Providers outside of the United States, the
Administrator may vary from the provisions of the Plan (other than any requiring stockholder approval pursuant to Section 13.3) to
the extent it determines it necessary and appropriate to do so.



2.4  Effect of Administrator’s Decisions. The Administrator’s decisions, determinations and interpretations shall be final
and binding on all interested parties.

2.5  Governing Law. The Plan shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware
(except its choice-of-law provisions).

ARTICLE 3. SHARES AVAILABLE FOR GRANTS.

3.1 Basic Limitation. Common Shares issued pursuant to the Plan may be authorized but unissued shares or treasury
shares. The aggregate number of Common Shares issued under the Plan shall not exceed the sum of (a) 15,516,760 Common
Shares, plus (b) up to 8,251,906 Common Shares subject to awards granted under the Predecessor Plans that are outstanding on the
Business Combination Date and that subsequently are forfeited, expire or lapse unexercised or unsettled and Common Shares issued
pursuant to awards granted under the Predecessor Plans that are outstanding on the Business Combination Date and that are
subsequently forfeited to or reacquired by the Company, and (c) the additional Common Shares described in Articles 3.2 and 3.3.
The Company shall reserve and keep available such number of Common Shares as will be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of
the Plan. The numerical limitations in this Article 3.1 shall be subject to adjustment pursuant to Article 9.

3.2 Annual Increase in Shares. On the first day of each March during the term of the Plan, commencing on March 1,
2022 and ending on (and including) March 1, 2031, the aggregate number of Common Shares that may be issued under the Plan
shall automatically increase by a number equal to the lesser of (a) 4% of the total number of Common Shares actually issued and
outstanding on the last day of the preceding month, or (b) a number of Common Shares determined by the Board.

33 Shares Returned to Reserve. To the extent that Options, SARs, Restricted Stock Units or other Awards are forfeited,
cancelled or expire for any reason before being exercised or settled in full, the Common Shares subject to such Awards shall again
become available for issuance under the Plan. If SARs are exercised or Restricted Stock Units are settled, then only the number of
Common Shares (if any) actually issued to the Participant upon exercise of such SARs or settlement of such Restricted Stock Units,
as applicable, shall reduce the number of Common Shares available under Article 3.1 and the balance shall again become available
for issuance under the Plan. If Restricted Shares or Common Shares issued upon the exercise of Options are reacquired by the
Company pursuant to a forfeiture provision, repurchase right or for any other reason, then such Common Shares shall again become
available for issuance under the Plan. Common Shares applied to pay the Exercise Price of Options or to satisfy tax withholding
obligations related to any Award shall again become available for issuance under the Plan. To the extent that an Award is settled in
cash rather than Common Shares, the cash settlement shall not reduce the number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan.

3.4  Awards Not Reducing Share Reserve. To the extent permitted under applicable exchange listing standards, any
dividend equivalents paid or credited under the Plan with respect to Restricted Stock Units shall not be applied against the number of
Common Shares that may be issued under the Plan, whether or not such dividend equivalents are converted into Restricted Stock
Units. In addition, Common Shares subject to Substitute Awards granted by the Company shall not reduce the number of Common
Shares that may be issued under Article 3.1, nor shall shares subject to Substitute Awards again be available for Awards under the
Plan in the event of any forfeiture, expiration or cash settlement of such Substitute Awards.

35 Code Section 422 and Other Limits. Subject to adjustment in accordance with Article 9:



(a) The grant date fair value of Awards granted to an Outside Director during any one fiscal year of the Company,
together with the value of any cash compensation paid to the Outside Director during such fiscal year, may not exceed $750,000 (on
a per-Director basis); provided however that the limitation that will apply in the fiscal year in which the Outside Director is initially
appointed or elected to the Board shall instead be $1,000,000. For purposes of this limitation, the grant date fair value of an Award
shall be determined in accordance with the assumptions that the Company uses to estimate the value of share-based payments for
financial reporting purposes. For the sake of clarity, neither Awards granted, nor cash compensation paid, to an individual for his or
her service as an Employee or Consultant, but not as an Outside Director, shall count towards this limitation.

(b) No more than 9,205,979 Common Shares (subject to adjustment pursuant to Article 9) may be issued under
the Plan upon the exercise of ISOs.

ARTICLE 4. ELIGIBILITY.

4.1 Incentive Stock Options. Only Employees who are common-law employees of the Company, a Parent or a
Subsidiary shall be eligible for the grant of ISOs. In addition, an Employee who owns more than 10% of the total combined voting
power of all classes of outstanding stock of the Company or any of its Parents or Subsidiaries shall not be eligible for the grant of an
ISO unless the additional requirements set forth in Code Section 422(c)(5) are satisfied.

4.2  Other Awards. Awards other than ISOs may be granted to both Employees and other Service Providers.
ARTICLE 5. OPTIONS.

5.1 Stock Option Agreement. Each grant of an Option under the Plan shall be evidenced by a Stock Option Agreement
between the Optionee and the Company. Such Option shall be subject to all applicable terms of the Plan and may be subject to any
other terms that are not inconsistent with the Plan. The Stock Option Agreement shall specify whether the Option is intended to be
an ISO or an NSO. The provisions of the various Stock Option Agreements entered into under the Plan need not be identical.

5.2 Number of Shares. Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the number of Common Shares subject to the
Option, which number shall adjust in accordance with Article 9.

5.3  Exercise Price. Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the Exercise Price, which shall not be less than 100% of
the Fair Market Value of a Common Share on the date of grant. The preceding sentence shall not apply to an Option that is a
Substitute Award granted in a manner that would satisfy the requirements of Code Section 409A and, if applicable, Code
Section 424(a).

5.4  Exercisability and Term. Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the date or event when all or any installment
of the Option is to become vested and/or exercisable. The vesting and exercisability conditions applicable to the Option may include
service-based conditions, performance-based conditions, such other conditions as the Administrator may determine, or any
combination of such conditions. The Stock Option Agreement shall also specify the term of the Option; provided that, except to the
extent necessary to comply with applicable foreign law, the term of an Option shall in no event exceed 10 years from the date of
grant. A Stock Option Agreement may provide for accelerated vesting and/or exercisability upon certain specified events and may
provide for expiration prior to the end of its term in the event of the termination of the Optionee’s service.



5.5  Death of Optionee. After an Optionee’s death, any vested and exercisable Options held by such Optionee may be
exercised by his or her beneficiary or beneficiaries. Each Optionee may designate one or more beneficiaries for this purpose by filing
the prescribed form with the Company. A beneficiary designation may be changed by filing the prescribed form with the Company at
any time before the Optionee’s death. If no beneficiary was designated or if no designated beneficiary survives the Optionee, then
any vested and exercisable Options held by the Optionee may be exercised by his or her estate.

5.6  Modification or Assumption of Options. Within the limitations of the Plan, the Administrator may modify, reprice,
extend or assume outstanding options or may accept the cancellation of outstanding options (whether granted by the Company or by
another issuer) in return for the grant of new Options for the same or a different number of shares and at the same or a different
exercise price or in return for the grant of a different type of Award. The foregoing notwithstanding, no modification of an Option
shall, without the consent of the Optionee, materially impair his or her rights or obligations under such Option.

5.7  Buyout Provisions. The Administrator may at any time (a) offer to buy out for a payment in cash or cash equivalents
an Option previously granted or (b) authorize an Optionee to elect to cash out an Option previously granted, in either case at such
time and based upon such terms and conditions as the Administrator shall establish.

5.8  Payment for Option Shares. The entire Exercise Price of Common Shares issued upon exercise of Options shall be
payable in cash or cash equivalents at the time when such Common Shares are purchased. In addition, the Administrator may, in its
sole discretion and to the extent permitted by applicable law, accept payment of all or a portion of the Exercise Price through any one
or a combination of the following forms or methods:

(a) Subject to any conditions or limitations established by the Administrator, by surrendering, or attesting to the
ownership of, Common Shares that are already owned by the Optionee with a value on the date of surrender equal to the aggregate
exercise price of the Common Shares as to which such Option will be exercised,

(b) By delivering (on a form prescribed by the Company) an irrevocable direction to a securities broker approved
by the Company to sell all or part of the Common Shares being purchased under the Plan and to deliver all or part of the sales
proceeds to the Company;

(c) Subject to such conditions and requirements as the Administrator may impose from time to time, through a net
exercise procedure; or

(d) Through any other form or method consistent with applicable laws, regulations and rules.
ARTICLE 6. STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.
6.1 SAR Agreement. Each grant of a SAR under the Plan shall be evidenced by a SAR Agreement between the Optionee
and the Company. Such SAR shall be subject to all applicable terms of the Plan and may be subject to any other terms that are not

inconsistent with the Plan. The provisions of the various SAR Agreements entered into under the Plan need not be identical.

6.2  Number of Shares. Each SAR Agreement shall specify the number of Common Shares to which the SAR pertains,
which number shall adjust in accordance with Article 9.

6.3  Exercise Price. Each SAR Agreement shall specify the Exercise Price, which shall in no event be less than 100% of
the Fair Market Value of a Common Share on the date of



grant. The preceding sentence shall not apply to a SAR that is a Substitute Award granted in a manner that would satisfy the
requirements of Code Section 409A.

6.4  Exercisability and Term. Each SAR Agreement shall specify the date when all or any installment of the SAR is to
become vested and exercisable. The vesting and exercisability conditions applicable to the SAR may include service-based
conditions, performance-based conditions, such other conditions as the Administrator may determine, or any combination thereof.
The SAR Agreement shall also specify the term of the SAR; provided that except to the extent necessary to comply with applicable
foreign law, the term of a SAR shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant. A SAR Agreement may provide for accelerated
vesting and exercisability upon certain specified events and may provide for expiration prior to the end of its term in the event of the
termination of the Optionee’s service.

6.5  Exercise of SARs. Upon exercise of a SAR, the Optionee (or any person having the right to exercise the SAR after
his or her death) shall receive from the Company (a) Common Shares, (b) cash or (c) a combination of Common Shares and cash, as
the Administrator shall determine. The amount of cash and/or the Fair Market Value of Common Shares received upon exercise of
SARs shall, in the aggregate, not exceed the amount by which the Fair Market Value (on the date of surrender) of the Common
Shares subject to the SARs exceeds the Exercise Price. If, on the date when a SAR expires, the Exercise Price is less than the Fair
Market Value on such date but any portion of such SAR has not been exercised or surrendered, then such SAR shall automatically be
deemed to be exercised as of such date with respect to such portion. A SAR Agreement may also provide for an automatic exercise
of the SAR on an earlier date.

6.6  Death of Optionee. After an Optionee’s death, any vested and exercisable SARs held by such Optionee may be
exercised by his or her beneficiary or beneficiaries. Each Optionee may designate one or more beneficiaries for this purpose by filing
the prescribed form with the Company. A beneficiary designation may be changed by filing the prescribed form with the Company at
any time before the Optionee’s death. If no beneficiary was designated or if no designated beneficiary survives the Optionee, then
any vested and exercisable SARs held by the Optionee at the time of his or her death may be exercised by his or her estate.

6.7  Modification or Assumption of SARs. Within the limitations of the Plan, the Administrator may modify, reprice,
extend or assume outstanding stock appreciation rights or may accept the cancellation of outstanding stock appreciation rights
(whether granted by the Company or by another issuer) in return for the grant of new SARs for the same or a different number of
shares and at the same or a different exercise price or in return for the grant of a different type of Award. The foregoing
notwithstanding, no modification of a SAR shall, without the consent of the Optionee, materially impair his or her rights or
obligations under such SAR.

ARTICLE 7. RESTRICTED SHARES.

71 Restricted Stock Agreement. Each grant of Restricted Shares under the Plan shall be evidenced by a Restricted
Stock Agreement between the recipient and the Company. Such Restricted Shares shall be subject to all applicable terms of the Plan
and may be subject to any other terms that are not inconsistent with the Plan. The provisions of the various Restricted Stock
Agreements entered into under the Plan need not be identical.

7.2  Payment for Awards. Restricted Shares may be sold or awarded under the Plan for such consideration as the
Administrator may determine, including (without limitation) cash, cash equivalents, property, cancellation of other equity awards,
promissory notes, past services and future services, and such other methods of payment as are permitted by applicable law.

7.3  Vesting Conditions. Each Award of Restricted Shares may or may not be subject to vesting and/or other conditions as
the Administrator may determine. Vesting shall occur, in



full or in installments, upon satisfaction of the conditions specified in the Restricted Stock Agreement. Vesting conditions may
include service-based conditions, performance-based conditions, such other conditions as the Administrator may determine, or any
combination thereof. A Restricted Stock Agreement may provide for accelerated vesting upon certain specified events.

7.4 Voting and Dividend Rights. The holders of Restricted Shares awarded under the Plan shall have the same voting,
dividend and other rights as the Company’s other stockholders, unless the Administrator otherwise provides. A Restricted Stock
Agreement, however, may require that any cash dividends paid on Restricted Shares (a) be accumulated and paid when such
Restricted Shares vest, or (b) be invested in additional Restricted Shares. Such additional Restricted Shares shall be subject to the
same conditions and restrictions as the shares subject to the Award with respect to which the dividends were paid. In addition, unless
the Administrator provides otherwise, if any dividends or other distributions are paid in Common Shares, such Common Shares shall
be subject to the same restrictions on transferability and forfeitability as the Restricted Shares with respect to which they were paid.

7.5  Modification or Assumption of Restricted Shares. Within the limitations of the Plan, the Administrator may modify
or assume outstanding Restricted Shares or may accept the cancellation of outstanding restricted shares (whether granted by the
Company or by another issuer) in return for the grant of new Restricted Shares for the same or a different number of shares or in
return for the grant of a different type of Award. The foregoing notwithstanding, no modification of Restricted Shares shall, without
the consent of the Participant, materially impair his or her rights or obligations under such Restricted Shares.

ARTICLE 8. RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS.

8.1 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. Each grant of Restricted Stock Units under the Plan shall be evidenced by a
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement between the recipient and the Company. Such Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to all
applicable terms of the Plan and may be subject to any other terms that are not inconsistent with the Plan. The provisions of the
various Restricted Stock Unit Agreements entered into under the Plan need not be identical.

8.2  Payment for Awards. To the extent that an Award is granted in the form of Restricted Stock Units, no cash
consideration shall be required of the Award recipients.

8.3  Vesting Conditions. Each Award of Restricted Stock Units may or may not be subject to vesting, as determined by
the Administrator. Vesting shall occur, in full or in installments, upon satisfaction of the conditions specified in the Restricted Stock
Unit Agreement. Vesting conditions may include service-based conditions, performance-based conditions, such other conditions as
the Administrator may determine, or any combination thereof. A Restricted Stock Unit Agreement may provide for accelerated
vesting upon certain specified events.

8.4  Voting and Dividend Rights. The holders of Restricted Stock Units shall have no voting rights. Prior to settlement or
forfeiture, Restricted Stock Units awarded under the Plan may, at the Administrator’s discretion, provide for a right to dividend
equivalents. Such right entitles the holder to be credited with an amount equal to all cash dividends paid on one Common Share
while the Restricted Stock Unit is outstanding. Dividend equivalents may be converted into additional Restricted Stock Units.
Settlement of dividend equivalents may be made in the form of cash, in the form of Common Shares, or in a combination of both.
Prior to distribution, any dividend equivalents shall be subject to the same conditions and restrictions as the Restricted Stock Units to
which they attach.

8.5  Form and Time of Settlement of Restricted Stock Units. Settlement of vested Restricted Stock Units may be made
in the form of (a) cash, (b) Common Shares or (c) any



combination of both, as determined by the Administrator. The actual number of Restricted Stock Units eligible for settlement may be
larger or smaller than the number included in the original Award, based on predetermined performance factors. Methods of
converting Restricted Stock Units into cash may include (without limitation) a method based on the average value of Common
Shares over a series of trading days. Vested Restricted Stock Units shall be settled in such manner and at such time(s) as specified in
the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. Until an Award of Restricted Stock Units is settled, the number of such Restricted Stock Units
shall be subject to adjustment pursuant to Article 9.

8.6  Death of Recipient. Any Restricted Stock Units that become payable after the recipient’s death shall be distributed to
the recipient’s beneficiary or beneficiaries. Each recipient of Restricted Stock Units under the Plan may designate one or more
beneficiaries for this purpose by filing the prescribed form with the Company. A beneficiary designation may be changed by filing
the prescribed form with the Company at any time before the Award recipient’s death. If no beneficiary was designated or if no
designated beneficiary survives the Award recipient, then any Restricted Stock Units that become payable after the recipient’s death
shall be distributed to the recipient’s estate.

8.7  Modification or Assumption of Restricted Stock Units. Within the limitations of the Plan, the Administrator may
modify or assume outstanding restricted stock units or may accept the cancellation of outstanding restricted stock units (whether
granted by the Company or by another issuer) in return for the grant of new Restricted Stock Units for the same or a different
number of shares or in return for the grant of a different type of Award. The foregoing notwithstanding, no modification of a
Restricted Stock Unit shall, without the consent of the Participant, materially impair his or her rights or obligations under such
Restricted Stock Unit.

8.8  Creditors’ Rights. A holder of Restricted Stock Units shall have no rights other than those of a general creditor of the
Company. Restricted Stock Units represent an unfunded and unsecured obligation of the Company, subject to the terms and
conditions of the applicable Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.

ARTICLE 9. ADJUSTMENTS; DISSOLUTIONS AND LIQUIDATIONS; CORPORATE TRANSACTIONS.

9.1  Adjustments. In the event of a subdivision of the outstanding Common Shares, a declaration of a dividend payable in
Common Shares, a combination or consolidation of the outstanding Common Shares (by reclassification or otherwise) into a lesser
number of Common Shares or any other increase or decrease in the number of issued Common Shares effected without receipt of
consideration by the Company, proportionate adjustments shall be made to the following:

(a) The number and kind of shares available for issuance under Article 3, including the numerical share limits in
Articles 3.1 and 3.5;

(b) The number and kind of shares covered by each outstanding Option, SAR and Restricted Stock Unit; and/or

(c) The Exercise Price applicable to each outstanding Option and SAR, and the repurchase price, if any,
applicable to Restricted Shares.

In the event of a declaration of an extraordinary dividend payable in a form other than Common Shares in an amount that has a
material effect on the price of Common Shares, a recapitalization, a spin-off or a similar occurrence, the Administrator may make
such adjustments as it, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate to the foregoing. Any adjustment in the number of shares subject to
an Award under this Article 9.1 shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share, although the Administrator in its sole discretion
may make a cash payment in lieu of a fractional share.



Except as provided in this Article 9, a Participant shall have no rights by reason of any issuance by the Company of stock of any
class or securities convertible into stock of any class, any subdivision or consolidation of shares of stock of any class, the payment of
any stock dividend or any other increase or decrease in the number of shares of stock of any class.

9.2  Dissolution or Liquidation. To the extent not previously exercised or settled, Options, SARs and Restricted Stock
Units shall terminate immediately prior to the dissolution or liquidation of the Company.

9.3 Corporate Transactions. In the event that the Company is a party to a merger, consolidation, or a Change in Control
(other than one described in Article 14.7(d)), all Common Shares acquired under the Plan and all Awards outstanding on the effective
date of the transaction shall be treated in the manner described in the definitive transaction agreement (or, in the event the transaction
does not entail a definitive agreement to which the Company is party, in the manner determined by the Administrator, with such
determination having final and binding effect on all parties), which agreement or determination need not treat all Awards (or portions
thereof) in an identical manner. Unless an Award Agreement provides otherwise, the treatment specified in the transaction agreement
or by the Administrator may include (without limitation) one or more of the following with respect to each outstanding Award:

(a) The continuation of such outstanding Award by the Company (if the Company is the surviving entity);

(b) The assumption of such outstanding Award by the surviving entity or its parent, provided that the
assumption of an Option or a SAR shall comply with applicable tax requirements;

(c) The substitution by the surviving entity or its parent of an equivalent award for such outstanding
Award (including, but not limited to, an award to acquire the same consideration paid to the holders of Common
Shares in the transaction), provided that the substitution of an Option or a SAR shall comply with applicable tax
requirements;

(d) In the case of an Option or SAR, the cancellation of such Award without payment of any
consideration. An Optionee shall be able to exercise his or her outstanding Option or SAR, to the extent such Option
or SAR is then vested or becomes vested as of the effective time of the transaction, during a period of not less than
five full business days preceding the closing date of the transaction, unless (i) a shorter period is required to permit a
timely closing of the transaction and (ii) such shorter period still offers the Optionee a reasonable opportunity to
exercise such Option or SAR;

(e) The cancellation of such Award and a payment to the Participant with respect to each share subject to
the portion of the Award that is vested or becomes vested as of the effective time of the transaction equal to the excess
of (A) the value, as determined by the Administrator in its absolute discretion, of the property (including cash)
received by the holder of a Common Share as a result of the transaction, over (if applicable) (B) the per-share
Exercise Price of such Award (such excess, if any, the “Spread”). Such payment shall be made in the form of cash,
cash equivalents, or securities of the surviving entity or its parent having a value equal to the Spread. In addition, any
escrow, holdback, earn-out or similar provisions in the transaction agreement may apply to such payment to the same
extent and in the same manner as such provisions apply to the holders of Common Shares. If the Spread applicable to
an Award (whether or not vested) is zero or a negative number, then the Award may be cancelled without making a
payment to the Participant. In the event that an Award is subject to Code Section



409A, the payment described in this clause (e) shall be made on the settlement date specified in the applicable Award
Agreement, provided that settlement may be accelerated in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(j)
(4); or

® The assignment of any reacquisition or repurchase rights held by the Company in respect of an Award
of Restricted Shares to the surviving entity or its parent, with corresponding proportionate adjustments made to the
price per share to be paid upon exercise of any such reacquisition or repurchase rights.

Unless an Award Agreement provides otherwise, each outstanding Award held by a Participant who remains a Service Provider as of
the effective time of a merger, consolidation or Change in Control (other than one described in Article 14.7(d)) (a “Current
Participant”) shall become fully vested and, if applicable, exercisable (with any performance-based vesting conditions applicable to
an Award deemed achieved at 100% of target levels) immediately prior to the effective time of the transaction. However, the prior
sentence shall not apply, and an outstanding Award shall not become vested and, if applicable, exercisable, if and to the extent the
Award is continued, assumed or substituted as provided for in clauses (a), (b) or (c) above. In addition, the prior two sentences shall
not apply to an Award held by a Participant who is not a Current Participant, unless an Award Agreement provides otherwise or
unless the Company and the acquirer agree otherwise.

For avoidance of doubt, the Administrator shall have the discretion, exercisable either at the time an Award is granted or at any time
while the Award remains outstanding, to provide for the acceleration of vesting upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, whether
or not the Award is to be assumed or replaced in the transaction, or in connection with a termination of the Participant’s service
following a transaction.

Any action taken under this Article 9.3 shall either preserve a Award’s status as exempt from Code Section 409A or comply with
Code Section 409A.

ARTICLE 10. OTHER AWARDS.

Subject in all events to the limitations under Article 3 above as to the number of Common Shares available for issuance under
this Plan, the Company may grant other forms of Awards not specifically described herein and may grant awards under other plans
or programs, where such awards are settled in the form of Common Shares issued under this Plan. Such Common Shares shall be
treated for all purposes under the Plan like Common Shares issued in settlement of Restricted Stock Units and shall, when issued,
reduce the number of Common Shares available under Article 3.

ARTICLE 11. LIMITATION ON RIGHTS.

11.1 Retention Rights. Neither the Plan nor any Award granted under the Plan shall be deemed to give any individual a
right to remain a Service Provider. The Company and its Parents, Subsidiaries and Affiliates reserve the right to terminate the service
of any Service Provider at any time, with or without cause, subject to applicable laws, the Company’s certificate of incorporation and
by-laws and a written employment agreement (if any).

11.2  Stockholders’ Rights. Except as set forth in Article 7.4 or 8.4 above, a Participant shall have no dividend rights,
voting rights or other rights as a stockholder with respect to any Common Shares covered by his or her Award prior to the time when
a stock certificate for such Common Shares is issued or, if applicable, the time when he or she becomes entitled to receive such
Common Shares by filing any required notice of exercise and paying any required Exercise Price. No adjustment shall be made for
cash dividends or other rights for which the record date is prior to such time, except as expressly provided in the Plan.



11.3 Regulatory Requirements. Any other provision of the Plan notwithstanding, the obligation of the Company to issue
Common Shares under the Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations and such approval by any regulatory
body as may be required. The Company reserves the right to restrict, in whole or in part, the delivery of Common Shares pursuant to
any Award prior to the satisfaction of all legal requirements relating to the issuance of such Common Shares, to their registration,
qualification or listing or to an exemption from registration, qualification or listing. The inability of the Company to obtain authority
from any regulatory body having jurisdiction, which authority is deemed necessary by the Company’s counsel to be necessary to the
lawful issuance and sale of any Common Shares hereunder, will relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure to issue
or sell such Common Shares as to which such requisite authority will not have been obtained.

11.4 Transferability of Awards. The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, permit transfer of an Award in a manner
consistent with applicable law. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, Awards shall be transferable by a Participant only
by (a) beneficiary designation, (b) a will or (c) the laws of descent and distribution; provided that, in any event, an ISO may only be
transferred by will or by the laws of descent and distribution and may be exercised during the lifetime of the Optionee only by the
Optionee or by the Optionee’s guardian or legal representative

11.5 Recoupment Policy. All Awards granted under the Plan, all amounts paid under the Plan and all Common Shares
issued under the Plan shall be subject to recoupment, clawback or recovery by the Company in accordance with applicable law and
with Company policy (whenever adopted) regarding same, whether or not such policy is intended to satisfy the requirements of the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or other applicable law, as well as any
implementing regulations and/or listing standards thereunder.

11.6 Other Conditions and Restrictions on Common Shares. Any Common Shares issued under the Plan shall be
subject to such forfeiture conditions, rights of repurchase, rights of first refusal, other transfer restrictions and such other terms and
conditions as the Administrator may determine. Such conditions and restrictions shall be set forth in the applicable Award Agreement
and shall apply in addition to any restrictions that may apply to holders of Common Shares generally. In addition, Common Shares
issued under the Plan shall be subject to such conditions and restrictions imposed either by applicable law or by Company policy, as
adopted from time to time, designed to ensure compliance with applicable law or laws with which the Company determines in its
sole discretion to comply including in order to maintain any statutory, regulatory or tax advantage.

ARTICLE 12. TAXES.

12.1 General. It is a condition to each Award under the Plan that a Participant or his or her successor shall make
arrangements satisfactory to the Company for the satisfaction of any federal, state, local or foreign withholding tax obligations that
arise in connection with any Award granted under the Plan. The Company shall not be required to issue any Common Shares or
make any cash payment under the Plan unless such obligations are satisfied.

12.2 Share Withholding. To the extent that applicable law subjects a Participant to tax withholding obligations, the
Administrator may permit such Participant to satisfy all or part of such obligations by having the Company withhold all or a portion
of any Common Shares that otherwise would be issued to him or her or by surrendering all or a portion of any Common Shares that
he or she previously acquired. Such Common Shares shall be valued on the date when they are withheld or surrendered. Any
payment of taxes by assigning Common Shares to the Company may be subject to restrictions including any restrictions required by
the SEC, accounting or other rules.



12.3  Section 409A Matters. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in an Award Agreement, it is intended that Awards
granted under the Plan either be exempt from, or comply with, the requirements of Code Section 409A. To the extent an Award is
subject to Code Section 409A (a “409A Award”), the terms of the Plan, the Award and any written agreement governing the Award
shall be interpreted to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A so that the Award is not subject to additional tax or
interest under Code Section 409A, unless the Administrator expressly provides otherwise. A 409A Award shall be subject to such
additional rules and requirements as specified by the Administrator from time to time in order for it to comply with the requirements
of Code Section 409A. In this regard, if any amount under a 409A Award is payable upon a “separation from service” to an
individual who is considered a “specified employee” (as each term is defined under Code Section 409A), then no such payment shall
be made prior to the date that is the earlier of (i) six months and one day after the Participant’s separation from service or (ii) the
Participant’s death, but only to the extent such delay is necessary to prevent such payment from being subject to Code Section
409A(a)(1).

12.4 Limitation on Liability. Neither the Company nor any person serving as Administrator shall have any liability to a
Participant in the event an Award held by the Participant fails to achieve its intended characterization under applicable tax law.

ARTICLE 13. FUTURE OF THE PLAN.

13.1 Term of the Plan. The Plan, as set forth herein, shall become effective on the date of its adoption by the Board,
subject to approval of the Company’s stockholders under Article 13.3 below. The Plan shall terminate automatically 10 years after
the date when the Board adopted the Plan.

13.2 Amendment or Termination. The Board may, at any time and for any reason, amend or terminate the Plan. No
Awards shall be granted under the Plan after the termination thereof. The termination of the Plan, or any amendment thereof, shall
not affect any Award previously granted under the Plan.

13.3  Stockholder Approval. To the extent required by applicable law, the Plan will be subject to the approval of the
Company’s stockholders within 12 months of its adoption date. An amendment of the Plan shall be subject to the approval of the
Company’s stockholders only to the extent required by applicable laws, regulations or rules.

ARTICLE 14. DEFINITIONS.

1.1 “Administrator” means the Board or any Committee administering the Plan in accordance with Article 2.

1.2 “Affiliate” means any entity other than a Subsidiary, if the Company and/or one or more Subsidiaries own not less
than 50% of such entity.

1.3 “Award” means any award granted under the Plan, including as an Option, a SAR, a Restricted Share award, a
Restricted Stock Unit award or another form of equity-based compensation award.

14 “Award Agreement” means a Stock Option Agreement, a SAR Agreement, a Restricted Stock Agreement, a
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement or such other agreement evidencing an Award granted under the Plan.

1.5 “Board” means the Company’s Board of Directors, as constituted from time to time and, where the context so
requires, reference to the “Board” may refer to a Committee to whom the Board has delegated authority to administer any aspect of
this Plan.



1.6  “Business Combination Date” means the date of the closing of the merger, as contemplated by that business
combination agreement and plan of reorganization, dated as of September 8, 2021, by and among Novus Capital Corporation II,
NCII Merger Sub, and Energy Vault, Inc.

1.7  “Change in Control” means:

(a) Any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes the “beneficial
owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than
fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then-outstanding voting securities;

(b) The consummation of the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s
assets;

(©) The consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into any other entity, other than a
merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto
continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or its
parent) more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such
surviving entity or its parent outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or

(d) Individuals who are members of the Board (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason to constitute at
least a majority of the members of the Board over a period of 12 months; provided, however, that if the appointment or election (or
nomination for election) of any new Board member was approved or recommended by a majority vote of the members of the
Incumbent Board then still in office, such new member shall, for purposes of this Plan, be considered as a member of the Incumbent
Board.

A transaction shall not constitute a Change in Control if its sole purpose is to change the state of the Company’s incorporation or to
create a holding company that will be owned in substantially the same proportions by the persons who held the Company’s securities
immediately before such transaction. In addition, if a Change in Control constitutes a payment event with respect to any Award
which provides for a deferral of compensation and is subject to Code Section 409A, then notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
the Plan or applicable Award Agreement the transaction with respect to such Award must also constitute a “change in control event”
as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(1)(5) to the extent required by Code Section 409A.

14.8 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

14.9 “Committee” means a committee of one or more members of the Board, or of other individuals satisfying
applicable laws, appointed by the Board to administer the Plan.

14.10 “Common Share” means one share of the Company’s Common Stock.

14.11 “Company” means Energy Vault Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

14.12 “Consultant” means a consultant or adviser who provides bona fide services to the Company, a Parent, a
Subsidiary or an Affiliate as an independent contractor and who qualifies as a consultant or advisor under Instruction A.1.(a)(1) of

Form S-8 under the Securities Act.

14.13 “Employee” means a common-law employee of the Company, a Parent, a Subsidiary or an Affiliate.



14.14 “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

14.15 “Exercise Price,” in the case of an Option, means the amount for which one Common Share may be
purchased upon exercise of such Option, as specified in the applicable Stock Option Agreement. “Exercise Price,” in the case of a
SAR, means an amount, as specified in the applicable SAR Agreement, which is subtracted from the Fair Market Value of one
Common Share in determining the amount payable upon exercise of such SAR.

14.16 “Fair Market Value” means the closing price of a Common Share on any established stock exchange or a
national market system on the applicable date or, if the applicable date is not a trading day, on the last trading day prior to the
applicable date, as reported in a source that the Administrator deems reliable. If Common Shares are not traded on an established
stock exchange or a national market system, the Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Administrator in good faith on such
basis as it deems appropriate. The Administrator’s determination shall be conclusive and binding on all persons. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the determination of Fair Market Value in all cases shall be in accordance with the requirements set forth under Section
409A of the Code to the extent necessary for an Award to comply with, or be exempt from, Section 409A of the Code.

14.17 “ISO” means an incentive stock option described in Code Section 422(b).

14.18 “NSO” means a stock option not described in Code Sections 422 or 423.

14.19 “Option” means an ISO or NSO granted under the Plan and entitling the holder to purchase Common Shares.

14.20 “Optionee” means an individual or estate holding an Option or SAR.

14.21 “Outside Director” means a member of the Board who is not an Employee.

14.22 “Parent” means any corporation (other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of corporations ending with
the Company, if each of the corporations other than the Company owns stock possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting
power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain. A corporation that attains the status of a Parent on a date
after the adoption of the Plan shall be considered a Parent commencing as of such date.

14.23 “Participant” means an individual or estate holding an Award.

14.24 “Plan” means this Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. 2022 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time.

14.25 “Predecessor Plans” means the Energy Vault, Inc. 2017 Stock Plan, as amended and the Energy Vault, Inc.
2020 Stock Plan, as amended.

14.26 “Restricted Share” means a Common Share awarded under Article 7 of the Plan.
14.27 “Restricted Stock Agreement” means the agreement consistent with the terms of the Plan between the
Company and the recipient of a Restricted Share that contains the terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining to such Restricted

Share.

14.28 “Restricted Stock Unit” means a bookkeeping entry representing the equivalent of one Common Share, as
awarded under the Plan.



14.29 “Restricted Stock Unit Agreement” means the agreement consistent with the terms of the Plan between the
Company and the recipient of a Restricted Stock Unit that contains the terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining to such
Restricted Stock Unit.

14.30 “SAR” means a stock appreciation right granted under the Plan.

14.31 “SAR Agreement” means the agreement consistent with the terms of the Plan between the Company and an
Optionee that contains the terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining to his or her SAR.

14.32 “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

14.33 “Service Provider” means any individual who is an Employee, Outside Director or Consultant, including any
prospective Employee, Outside Director or Consultant who has accepted an offer of employment or service and will be an
Employee, Outside Director or Consultant after the commencement of their service.

14.34 “Stock Option Agreement” means the agreement consistent with the terms of the Plan between the Company
and an Optionee that contains the terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining to his or her Option.

14.35 “Subsidiary” means any corporation (other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of corporations
beginning with the Company, if each of the corporations other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain owns stock possessing
50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain. A corporation
that attains the status of a Subsidiary on a date after the adoption of the Plan shall be considered a Subsidiary commencing as of such
date.

14.36 “Substitute Awards” means Awards or Common Shares issued by the Company in assumption of, or
substitution or exchange for, awards previously granted, or the right or obligation to make future awards, in each case by a
corporation or other entity acquired by the Company, any Subsidiary or any Affiliate or with which the Company, any Subsidiary or
any Affiliate combines to the extent permitted by the applicable exchange listing requirements.

ARTICLE 15. LANGUAGE

15.1 The parties hereto acknowledge that they have requested and are satisfied that this document and all related
documents be drawn up in the English language.
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FIRST AMENDMENT OF
ENERGY STORAGE SYSTEM AGREEMENT

This First Amendment of the Energy Storage System Agreement (this “First Amendment”) is made this 10 day of May 2022,
between Energy Vault, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Energy Vault”), and DG Fuels, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“DGF”) (collectively, the “Parties” and, individually, a “Party”).

RECITALS
A. Energy Vault and DGF are parties to that certain Energy Storage System Agreement, dated October 25, 2021 (the
“Agreement”); and
B. The Parties wish to increase the total size of the Transaction, as specified in Section 1 of the Agreement.

Now, THEREFORE, inconsideration of the mutual obligations in this First Amendment, the parties to this First
Amendment agree as follows:

1. Any capitalized words or phrases used and not defined in this First Amendment shall have the meanings ascribed to them in
the Agreement.

2. The total size of the Energy Storage Systems to be procured by DGF from Energy Vault, as specified in Section 1 of the
Agreement, shall be increased from 1,600 MWh to 2,234 MWh, as such sites and sizes to be specified by DGF.

3. For purposes of clarify, it is agreed that the pricing formula used to determine the Contract Price, as specified in Section 4
and Annex B of the Agreement, shall remain the same.

4. In the event of any conflict, inconsistency, or incongruity between any provision of this First Amendment and any provision
of the Agreement, the provisions of this First Amendment shall govern and control.

Energy Vault, Inc. DG Fuels, LLC

By: /s/ Robert Piconi By: /s/ Mike Darcy
Robert Piconi Mike Darcy
CEO CEO




1.1

1.2

22

23

Arbeitsvertrag
zwischen

EnergyVault SA
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Employment Agreement
between

Via Pessina 13, Lugano, 6900 CH

- im Folgenden ,Gesellschaft" genannt —

und

Josh McMorrow

[***]

- im Folgenden ,Leitender Angestellter" genannt -

Beginn des Arbeitsverhaltnisses

Der Leitende Angestellte tritt am 16 May 2022 in die Dienste
der Gesellschaft ein. Das Arbeitsverhaltnis wird auf
unbestimmte Zeit geschlossen.

Dieser Arbeitsvertrag und das Arbeitsverhaltnis stehen unter
der aufschiebenden sowie auflosenden Bedingung, dass der
Leitende Angestellte einen Aufenthaltstitel fur die
Bundesrepublik Deutschland hat und halt, der ihn zur
Ausubung einer Erwerbstatigkeit berechtigt (,Aufenthaltstitel").

Tatigkeit und Aufgabenbereich

Der Leitende Angestellte wird bei der Gesellschaft als Chief
Legal Officer beschaftigt. Er wird an den CEO, Energy Vault,
Inc., aktuell in Person von Herrn Robert Piconi, berichten.

Die Gesellschaft 1st berechtigt, dem Leitenden Angestellten
andere oder zusatzliche gleichwertige Aufgaben zuzuweisen,
soweit diese den Fahigkeiten und Kenntnissen des Leitenden
Angestellten entsprechen und ihm zumutbar sind.

Der Leitende Angestellte 1st leitender Angestellter im Sinne
des § 5 Abs. 3 BetrVG.

1.

1.1.

1.2.

2.

2.1

2.2

2.3.

- hereinafter referred to as "Company" —

and

- hereinafter referred to as "Executive Employee" -

Commencement of Employment

The Executive Employee shall enter into employment with
the Company on 16 May 2022. The employment contract is
agreed for an indefinite period of time.

This employment contract and the employment relationship
are subject to the condition precedent and condition
subsequent that the Executive Employee has and holds a
residence title for the Federal Republic of Germany entitling
him to pursue gainful employment ("residence title").

Position and Scope of Duties

The Executive Employee shall be employed by the Company
as Chief Legal Officer. He will report to the CEO, Energy
Vault Inc., currently Mr Robert Piconi.

The Company is entitled to assign to the Executive Employee
other or additional equivalent duties provided these comply
with the Executive Employee's knowledge and skills and can
reasonably be expected from him.

The Executive Employee is an Executive Employee (leitender
Angestellter) pursuant to sec. 5 para. 3 of the German Works
Constitution Act (BetrVG).



3.

3.1

3.2

3.3

Arbeitszeit und Arbeitsort

Die regulare wOchentliche Arbeitszeit betragt 40 Stunden. 3.1.

Anfang und Ende der taglichen Arbeitszeit werden in
Ubereinstimmung mit den geschaftlichen Notwendigkeiten der
Gesellschaft festgelegt.

Der Leitende Angestellte ist verpflichtet, im Rahmen der
gesetzlichen Regelungen auch fiber die regulare Arbeitszeit
hinaus tatig zu werden, sofern dies aus betrieblichen Grunden

erforderlich sein sollte. Der Leitende Angestellte 1st
verpflichtet, auf  Anforderung  gegebenenfalls  auch
Wochenend-, Sonn- und Feiertagsarbeit im gesetzlich

zulassigen Rahmen zu leisten.

Samtliche Uberstunden sind mit dem Grundgehalt gemall Ziffer
4 dieses Vertrages abgegolten.

Der Arbeitsort des Leitenden Angestellten ist [ * * *]. Der
Leitende Angestellte wird im Rahmen der Ausiibung seiner
Tatigkeit in erheblichem Umfang auch weltweit Dienstreisen
durchfUhren. Der Leitende Angestellte erkiart sich mit einer
solchen Reisetatigkeit einverstanden.

3.

3.2.

3.3.
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Working Hours and Place of Work

The regular weekly working time amounts to 40 hours.
Beginning and end of the daily working hours will be
determined in accordance with the business requirements of
the Company.

The Executive Employee shall be obliged to continue working
beyond the regular working hours within the legally permitted
framework, if this becomes necessary for business reasons.
The Executive Employee shall be obliged, if necessary, also
to work on weekends, Sundays and public holidays to the
extent permitted by law.

Overtime shall be compensated by the base salary under
section 4 of this contract.

The Executive Employee's place of work will be [ * * *]. The
Executive Employee will travel to a large extent in the course
of his duties. The Executive hereby agrees to such duties.



4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

Vergiitung

Der Leitende Angestellie erhalt als Vergutung fur seine 4.1.

Tatigkeit ein festes Jahresgehalt in Hohe von EUR 295.000,00
brutto.

Das Bruttojahresgehalt wird in 12 gleichen Raten unter
Einbehaltung der gesetzlichen AbzOge zum Ende eines jeden
Kalendermonats gezahlt.

Die  Gesellschaft wird die Arbeitgeberanteile
Krankenversicherung ordnungsgemal abfuhren.

Der Leitende Angestellte kann von der Energy Vault Holdings,
Inc. zusatzlich zum fixen Grundgehalt einen Bonus von 50 %
des jahrlichen fixen Grundgehalts bei 100% Zielerreichung auf
Basis des Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. Incentive Bonus Plans
erhalten. Der Bonus hangt von dem Erreichen von
individuellen Leistungszielen und Unternehmenszielen ab, die
zu Beginn der Bonusperiode von der Energy Vault Holdings,
Inc. vorgegeben werden. Fur zukunftige Jahre konnen die
Ziele, deren Zusammensetzung und Gewichtung geandert
werden. Die Gewahrung und die HOhe stehen in dem
alleinigen und ausschliefllichen Ermessen der Energy Vault
Holdings, Inc. und werden jeweils nach Beendigung des
Geschaftsjahres durch den Vorstand (Board of Directors) der
Energy Vault Holdings Inc. festgestellt. Die Gewahrung der
Teilnahme an dem Incentive Bonus Plan sowie die Gewahrung
eines entsprechenden Bonus erfolgt ausschlialich durch die
Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. Die Parteien sind sich daruber
einig, dass keine Ansprliche des Leitenden Angestellten aus
dieser Ziffer 4.3 gegenuber der Gesellschaft entstehen.

Bei unterjahrigem Ein- oder Austritt wird die Vergijtung
inklusive eines etwaigen Bonusanspruchs zeitanteilig gezahlt.

Die Gesellschaft erstattet dem Leitenden Angestellten in
angemessener HOhe ihm entstandene Kosten fur die
SteuererklArung (einschlieglich der schweizerischen,
deutschen und US-amerikanischen Steuererklarungen).

4.

zZur 4.2.

4.4.

4.5.
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Remuneration

The Executive Employee shall receive a fixed annual salary
of EUR 295,000.00 gross for the performance of his duties.

The annual gross salary shall be paid in twelve equal monthly
instalments at the end of each calendar month after
deduction of taxes and statutory duties.

The Company shall duly pay the employer's contributions to
health insurance.

The Executive Employee may receive a bonus from Energy
Vault Holdings, Inc. in addition to the fixed base salary with a
target of 50% of the annual fixed base salary upon 100%
target achievement based on the Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.
incentive bonus plan. The bonus is contingent upon the
achievement of individual performance goals and corporate
goals that are set by Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. at the
beginning of the bonus period. For future years, the targets,
their composition and weighting may be changed. The grant
and the amount are at the sole and exclusive discretion of
Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. and are determined by the Board
of Directors of Energy Vault Holdings Inc. after the end of
each fiscal year. The granting of participation in the Incentive
Bonus Plan as well as the granting of a corresponding bonus
shall be made exclusively by Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. The
parties agree that no claims of the Executive shall arise from
this Clause 4.3 against the Company.

If the Executive Employee joins or leaves the Company
during a calendar year, the remuneration will be paid on a pro
rata basis including a potential bonus payment.

The Company shall also reimburse reasonable Tax
Preparation expenses incurred by the Executive Employee
(including Swiss, German, and US filings).



Erstattung von Reisekosten

Reisekosten, Bewirtungskosten und andere notwendige
Auslagen des Leitenden Angestellten im Rahmen seiner
Tatigkeit fiir die Gesellschaft werden gegen Vorlage
ordnungsgemaller Belege nach Maggabe der
Reisekostenrichtlinien der Gesellschaft sowie der jeweils
geltenden Steuergesetze und -verordnungen erstattet. Mit dem
Gehalt gemall Ziffer Error! Reference source not found. dieses
Vertrages sind auch Reisezeiten vergiltet.

Dienstwagenpauschale

Die Gesellschaft zahlt an den Leitenden Angestellten fur die
dienstliche Nutzung seines Privatfahrzeugs jeweils am
Monatsende eine Dienstwagenpauschale in Hohe von EUR
850,00 brutto pro Monat. Die Dienstwagenpauschale dient
insbesondere der pauschalen Abgeltung des mit der
dienstlichen ~ Nutzung  einhergehenden  Kosten  und
Aufwendungen, Schadens- und Wertminderungsrisikos sowie
zur Abdeckung des Unfallschadenrisikos. Der Leitende
Angestellte tragt die auf die Nutzungspauschale etwa
entfallenden Steuern und Sozialabgaben sowie samtliche
Versicherungen und andere Kosten fur sein Privatfahrzeug.
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Reimbursement of Travelling Costs

Travel expenses, entertainment expenses and other
necessary expenses incurred by the Executive Employee in
the furtherance of the Company's business shall be
reimbursed against submission of proper receipts according
to the Company's expense policies and tax laws and
regulations as applicable from time to time. The
remuneration provided under Section Error! Reference
source not found. hereof includes payment for any time
spent travelling on behalf of the Company.

Car Allowance

The Company shall provide the Executive Employee with a
monthly car allowance in the gross amount of EUR 850.00
payable at the end of each calendar month for the use of his
private vehicle for business purposes. The company car
allowance serves in particular as lump-sum compensation for
the costs and expenses, risk of damage and depreciation
associated with the use of the vehicle for business purposes
and to cover the risk of accident damage. The Executive
Employee shall bear any taxes and social security
contributions payable on the lump-sum allowance as well as
all insurance and other costs for his private vehicle.



7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

8.1

8.2

Urlaub

Der Leitende Angestellte hat Anspruch auf einen gesetzlichen 7.1.

Mindesturlaub von derzeit 20 Arbeitstagen im Kalenderjahr —
ausgehend von einer Funf-Tage-Woche. Die Gesellschaft
gewahrt zusatzlich einen vertraglichen Urlaub von weiteren 10
Arbeitstagen. Bei der Gewahrung von Urlaub wird zuerst der
gesetzliche Urlaub eingebracht.

Der vertragliche Zusatzurlaub mindert sich fur jeden vollen
Monat, in dem der Leitende Angestellte keinen Anspruch auf
Entgelt bzw. Entgeltfortzahlung hat oder bei Ruhen des
Arbeitsverhattnisses urn ein Zwolftel. Fur den vertraglichen
Zusatzurlaub gilt, dass der Urlaubsanspruch jedenfalls
spatestens am 31. Marz des Folgejahres verfallt. Der Verfall
des vertraglichen Zusatzurlaubs trill auch ein, wenn die
Gesellschaft den Leitenden Angestellten im jeweiligen
Kalenderjahr nicht rechtzeitig und konkret darauf hingewiesen
hat, dass ausstehende Urlaubstage in Anspruch zu nehmen
sind, da sie andernfalls verfallen.

Bei Ausscheiden nicht zum Jahresende, sondern wahrend
eines laufenden Jahres, wird der Urlaubsanspruch gezwolftelt,
wobei die Kurzung allerdings nur insoweit erfolgt, als dadurch
nicht der gesetzlich vorgeschriecbene  Mindesturlaub
unterschritten wird.

Die rechtliche Behandlung des Urlaubs richtet sich im Ubrigen
nach den gesetzlichen Bestimmungen.

Der Leitende Angestellte hat Anspruch auf bezahlten
Sonderurlaub zu folgenden Anlassen:

Heirat des Leitenden Angestellten: 4 Tage
Heirat eines nahen Verwandten: 1 Tag
Umzug: 1 Tag

Todesfall in der Familie: 3 Tage

Todesfall eines Verwandten: 1 Tag
Arztbesuch: Die jeweils benOtigte Zeit

Arbeitsverhinderung

Der Leitende Angestellte ist verpflichtet, jede
Arbeitsverhinderung und ihre  voraussichtliche Dauer
unverzOglich der Gesellschaft anzuzeigen und dabei

gleichzeitig auf etwaige dringliche Arbeiten hinzuweisen.

Im Falle der Arbeitsunfahigkeit infolge Krankheit ist der
Leitende Angestellte verpflichtet, spatestens am dritten
Arbeitstag eine  arztliche  Bescheinigung uber die
Arbeitsunfahigkeit und deren voraussichtliche Dauer
vorzulegen. Dauert die Arbeitsunfahigkeit langer als in der
Bescheinigung angegeben, ist er verpflichtet, innerhalb von
drei Tagen eine neue arztliche Bescheinigung einzureichen.
Die Gesellschaft ist berechtigt, die Vorlage der
Arbeitsunfahigkeitsbescheinigung ab dem ersten Krankheitstag
zu verlangen. Die Nachweispflicht gilt auch nach Ablauf von
sechs Wochen ununterbrochener Krankheit.

7.

7.2.

7.3.

74.

7.5.

8.

8.1.

8.2.
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Annual Leave

The Executive Employee is entitled to a statutory minimum of
20 working days' annual leave per calendar year, based upon
a five-day-week. In addition, the Company grants contractual
leave of further 10 working days. When leave is granted, the
statutory leave shall be taken first.

The contractual additional leave shall be reduced by one
twelfth for every complete month for which the Executive
Employee has no right to remuneration or continued
remuneration or in the event that the employment contract is
dormant. The contractual additional leave entitlement shall
expire no later than 31 March of the following year. The
contractual additional leave also expires if the Company has
not informed the Executive Employee specifically and in due
course in the corresponding calendar year, that the remaining
days of leave have to be taken, because they expire
otherwise.

Where the Executive Employee resigns from his position
during a year, rather than at the end of a year, annual leave
entitlement shall be reduced pro rata on a per-month basis,
whereby such reduction shall only be allowed to the extent
that the entittement does not fall below the statutory
minimum.

Otherwise, legal treatment of annual leave shall be in
accordance with statutory provisions.

The Executive Employee will be allowed these paid leaves:

Marriage of the Executive Employee: 4 working days
Marriage of a close relative: 1 working day

Removal: 1 working day

Death in family: 3 working days

Death of a relative: 1 working day

Medical visit: the time needed

Inability to work

The Executive Employee shall notify the Company
immediately of any inability to work and its expected duration
and shall simultaneously indicate any urgent operational
issues.

In case of an inability to work due to illness, the Executive
Employee shall present at the third day at latest a medical
certificate confirming the inability to work and the expected
duration thereof. If the inability to work lasts longer than
indicated in the medical certificate, the Executive Employee
shall present within three days a new medical certificate. The
Company is also entitled to demand submission of the
certificate of inability to work on the first day of sickness. The
requirement for certification also applies after a period of six
weeks of continued sickness.



9.1

9.2

Nebentatigkeit, Wettbewerbsverbot

Jede Nebentatigkeit,
unentgeltlich ausgeubt wird, bedarf der vorherigen Zustimmung
der Gesellschaft. Die Zustimmung ist zu erteilen, wenn die
Nebentatigkeit die Wahrnehmung der dienstlichen Aufgaben
zeitlich nicht oder allenfalls unwesentlich behindert und
sonstige berechtigte Interessen der Gesellschaft nicht
beeintrachtigt werden.

Unter diesen Voraussetzungen stimmt die Gesellschaft den

folgenden Nebentatigkeiten einstweilen zu:

- Tatigkeit im Aufsichtsrat von H2E im Rahmen von wenigen
Sitzungen pro Jahr.

- Minderheitsgesellschafter (ca. 5 %) von DocJduris Inc.

- Tatigkeit im Aufsichtsrat von DocJuris Inc. im Rahmen von
wenigen Sitzungen pro Jahr.

Wahrend der Dauer des Arbeitsverhaltnisses unterliegt der
Leitende Angestellte einem Wettbewerbsverbot. Insbesondere
ist es dem Leitenden Angestellten untersagt, als Leitender
Angestellter, freier Mitarbeiter oder in irgendeiner sonstigen
Form fur einen Wettbewerber der Gesellschaft tatig zu werden
oder ein solches Wettbewerbsunternehmen zu grunden oder
sich an einem solchen Wettbewerbsunternehmen mittelbar
oder unmittelbar zu beteiligen, mit Ausnahme reiner
Finanzbeteiligungen.

9.

gleichgiiltig ob sie entgeltlich oder 9.1.

9.2.
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Secondary employment, prohibition of competition

Any secondary employment whether remunerated or not
shall require Company's prior consent. Such consent shall be
given if such secondary employment does not, or does not
considerably, obstruct the timely performance of the
Executive Employee's tasks and has no detrimental effect on
other legitimate interests of the Company.

Subject to these conditions, the Company consents to the

following secondary activities for the time being:

- Serving on the Supervisory Board of H2E within the scope
of a few meetings per year.

- Minority shareholder (approx. 5%) of DocJuris Inc.

- Serving on the Supervisory Board of DocJuris Inc. within
the scope of a few meetings per year.

For the duration of the employment relationship, the
Executive Employee is subject to a non-competition clause. It
is in particular prohibited for the Executive Employee to work
for a competitor of the Company as an Executive Employee,
freelancer or in any other form, or to establish such a
competitor company or to participate directly or indirectly in
such a competitor company, with the exception of purely
financial interests.



10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

Nachvertragliches Wettbewerbsverbot und
Abwerbeverbot, Vertragsstrafe

Der Leitende Angestellte verpflichtet sich, fur die Dauer von 10.1.

einem Jahr nach Beendigung des Arbeitsverhaltnisses weder
in selbstandiger noch in unselbstandiger Stellung oder in
sonstiger Weise fur ein Unternehmen, welches mit der
Gesellschaft in direktem oder indirektem Wettbewerb steht,
tatig zu werden. In gleicher Weise ist es dem Leitenden
Angestellten untersagt, wahrend dieser Dauer ein solches
Unternehmen zu errichten, zu erwerben oder sich hieran
mittelbar oder  unmittelbar zu  beteiligen.  Dieses
Wettbewerbsverbot gilt Ortlich fur alle Gebiete, in denen die
Gesellschaft in den letzten zwei Jahren der Tbtigkeit des
Leitenden Angestellten tatig war und sachlich fur Unternehmen
im Energiespeicher-Bereich. Nicht von diesem Verbot umfasst
ist die Beteiligung an borsennotierten Unternehmen, wenn die
Beteiligung 3,5 % des Grundkapitals nicht uberschreitet.

Der Leitende Angestellte verpflichtet sich insbesondere, keine
Kunden and/oder Lieferanten der Gesellschaft und/oder eines
verbundenen Unternehmens sowie keine Mitarbeiter der
Gesellschaft und/oder eines verbundenen Unternehmens fir
fremde Arbeitgeber abzuwerben.

Fur die Dauer des nachvertraglichen Wettbewerbsverbotes
verpflichtet sich die Gesellschaft, dem Leitenden Angestellten
eine Entschadigung in Héhe von mindestens 50 % der von ihm
zuletzt bezogenen vertragsmafigen Vergutung zu zahlen. Die
Zahlung der Entschadigung wird in 12 gleichen Monatsraten
am Ende eines Monats fallig.

Auf die Entschadigung gemall 10.2 werden die Einkunfte
angerechnet, die der Leitende Angestellte wahrend der Dauer
des nachvertraglichen Wettbewerbsverbotes aus
selbstandiger, unselbstandiger oder sonstiger Erwerbstatigkeit
erzielt oder zu erzielen boswillig unterlasst, soweit die
Entschadigung unter Hinzurechnung der Einkunfte den Betrag
der zuletzt bezogenen vertragsmaligen Leistungen urn ein
Zehntel ubersteigt. Zu den Einkunften zahlt auch etwaiges vom
Leitenden Angestellten bezogenes Arbeitslosengeld. Der
Leitende Angestellte ist verpflichtet, der Gesellschaft auf
Verlangen Ober die Hale seiner Einkunfte Auskunft zu erteilen.

10.

10.2.

10.3.
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Post-contractual non-compete and non-solicitation,
contractual penalty

For a period of one year following the termination of this
Employment Agreement, the Executive Employee undertakes
to refrain from working for a business enterprise that directly
or indirectly competes with the Company - whether as a self-
employed person, in a dependent employment position, or in
any other capacity. The Executive Employee is likewise
prohibited during this period of time from establishing,
acquiring, or participating directly or indirectly in such a
business enterprise. This non-compete clause applies locally
to areas in which the Company has operated during the last
two years of the Executive Employee's service and factually
for Energy storage businesses. This non-compete does not
apply to the participation in publicly listed shares, where such
participation does not exceed 3.5% of the share capital.

The Executive Employee is in particular prohibited from
soliciting customers and/or suppliers of the Company and/or
associated companies and also from soliciting Executive
Employees of the Company and/or associated companies for
another employer.

For the duration of the post- contractual prohibition of
competition, the Company undertakes to pay the Executive
Employee compensation in the amount of at least 50% of his
last drawn contractual remuneration. Payment of the
compensation is due in 12 monthly instalments at the end of
the month.

Any income earned by the Executive Employee or any
income he refrains from earning in bad faith during the post-
contractual prohibition of competition, (whether in a self-
employed or an employed capacity, or through any other form
of work), shall be deducted from the compensation pursuant
to para. 10.2 if the compensation, taken together with the
income earned exceeds the amount of remuneration last
received under this Employment Agreement by ten percent.
Income also includes any unemployment benefits received by
the Executive Employee. The Executive Employee shall be
obliged to provide the Company with information concerning
the extent of his income upon its request.



10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

Endet das Arbeitsverhaltnis aufgrund des Eintritts des
Leitenden Angestellten in den vorzeitigen oder endgultigen
Ruhestand, so tritt das nachvertragliche Wettbewerbsverbot
nicht in Kraft.

Die Gesellschaft kann vor Beendigung des
Arbeitsverhaltnisses auf die Einhaltung des nachvertraglichen
Wettbewerbsverbots durch schriftliche Erklarung gegenOber
dem Leitenden Angestellten verzichten. In diesem Fall endet
mit Ablauf von einem Jahr nach Abgabe des Verzichts die
Verpflichtung zur Zahlung der Entschadigung gernall Absatz
10.2. Hiervon unberUhrt bleibt die Befugnis der Parteien, das
Wettbewerbsverbot in beiderseitigem Einverstandnis
aufzuheben.

Im Fall einer auflerordentlichen Kundigung aus wichtigem
Grund steht dem kundigungsberechtigten Vertragsteil das
Recht zu, innerhalb eines Monats nach Ausspruch der
aullerordentlichen Kundigung durch schriftliche Erklarung
gegenuber dem anderen Teil das Wettbewerbsverbot
aufzuheben.

Der Leitende Angestellte verpflichtet sich, fur jeden Fall der
Zuwiderhandlung gegen das Wettbewerbsverbot oder das
Abwerbeverbot in 10.1 eine Vertraosstrafe in Hohe eines von
ihm zuletzt bezogenen Bruttomonatsgehalts zu zahlen. 1st der
Leitende Angestellte langer als einen Monat fur ein
Konkurrenzunternehmen tatig oder kapitalmaflig beteiligt, ist
die Vertragsstrafe fur jeden angefangenen Monat neu verwirkt.
In diesem Fall wird die Halle der Vertragsstrafe auf das
Sechsfache des letzten Bruttomonatsgehalts begrenzt. Hiervon
unberuhrt bleibt das Recht der Gesellschaft, nach § 280 Abs. 1
BGB gegen den Leitenden Angestellten einen weitergehenden
Schaden geltend zu machen.

10.4.

10.5.

10.6.

10.7.
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The post-contractual non-compete shall not come into effect
where the employment relationship ends because the
Executive Employee enters into retirement, whether early or
regular retirement.

The Company is entitled to waive the post-contractual non-
compete before the termination of the employment
relationship by notifying the Executive Employee in writing.
Where this is the case, the obligation to pay compensation
under para. 10.2 will end one year after the notification of the
waiver. The parties' authority to terminate the non-compete
obligation by means of mutual agreement is not affected.

In the event of a termination for good cause, the party entitled
to terminate has the right to abolish the non-compete
obligation within one month after notification of such
termination, by means of written notification to the other party.

The Executive Employee undertakes to pay a contractual
penalty in the amount of one month's gross salary last drawn
by him for each case of violation of the non-compete or the
non-solicitation clause in para. 10.1. If the Executive
Employee works for a competitor for more than one month or
has an equity interest in a competitor, the contractual penalty
shall be forfeited anew for each month commenced. In this
case, the amount of the contractual penalty shall be limited to
six times of the last gross monthly salary. This does not affect
the Company's right to claim further damages against the
Executive Employee pursuant to section 280 (1) of the
German Civil Code.



10.8

Im Ubrigen gelten die Vorschriften der §§ 74 ff. HGB.

Geheimhaltung

10.1

10.3

Der Leitende Angestellte ist verpflichtet, Geschafts-
Betriebsgeheimnisse sowie betriebliche Angelegenheiten
vertraulicher Natur, die als solche von der Geschaftsleitung
schriftlich oder miindlich bezeichnet werden bzw. offensichtlich
als solche zu erkennen sind, geheim zu halten und ohne
ausdriickliche Genehmigung der Geschaftsleitung keinen
dritten Personen zuganglich zu machen. Diese Pflicht erstreckt
sich auch auf Angelegenheiten anderer Unternehmen, mit
denen die Gesellschaft wirtschaftlich oder organisatorisch
verbunden ist. Als vertraulich im vorstehenden Sinne gelten
insbesondere folgende Angelegenheiten:

Kundendaten,

Preislisten,

Zulieferer,

Samtliche Intellectual Property der Gesellschaft und
verbundenen Unternehmen,

(Geplante) Transaktionen

Usw.

Der Leitende Angestellte wird den Allgemeinen und speziellen
Anweisungen der Gesellschaft zur Geheimhaltung Folge
leisten. Im Zweifelsfall wird der Leitende Angestellte
nachfragen und eine Weisung der Gesellschaft zur
Vertraulichkeit bestimmter Tatsachen einholen.

Die Geheimhaltungspflicht beginnt mit Unterzeichnung dieses
Vertrags und gilt auch fiber die Beendigung des
Arbeitsverhaltnisses hinaus fort.

10.8.

Exhibit 10.7

Besides, the provisions of sec. 74 et seq. German

Commercial Code apply.

Confidentiality

und 10.1.

10.2.

10.3.

The Executive Employee shall treat as strictly confidential all
trade and business secrets as well as operational matters of
a confidential nature which are designated as such by the
management orally or in writing or which are obviously
recognisable as such and shall not make accessible to third
persons without the explicit consent of the management. This
obligation also applies to matters of other economically or
organisationally affiliated companies of the Company. In
particular the following matters are considered confidential in
the above sense:

Customer data,

Price lists,

Supplier data,

All Intellectual Property of the Company and affiliated
companies,

(Planned) Transactions,

Etc.

The Executive Employee shall comply with the general and
specific instructions of the Company regarding confidentiality.
In case of doubt, the Executive Employee shall ask and
obtain instructions from the Company on the confidentiality of
certain facts.

The confidentiality obligation commences with the signing of
this agreement and continues to apply also after termination
of the employment relationship.



10.4

10.5

Die Anfertigung und Aufzeichnung von Unterlagen aller Art dart
ausschlieglich zu dienstlichen Zwecken und far den
dienstlichen Gebrauch erfolgen. Jede Anfertigung von
Abschriften oder Kopien fur andere als dienstliche Zwecke ist
ausgeschlossen.

Der Leitende Angestellte verpflichtet sich, der als Anhang 1
beigeftigten Vertraulichkeits- und Geheimhaltungsvereinbarung
Folge zu leisten, die Inhalt und Gegenstand dieses Vertrages
ist.

Schutzrechte

10.1

10.2

Fur die Behandlung von Diensterfindungen und technischen
Verbesserungsvorschlagen gelten die Vorschriften des
Gesetzes Uber Arbeitnehmererfindungen in ihrer jeweiligen
Fassung sowie die hierzu ergangenen Richtlinien fur die
Verglitung von Arbeitnehmererfindungen im privaten Dienst.

Fur die ubrigen Schutzrechte, insbesondere far alle
etwaigen nach Urheber- und Geschmacksmusterrecht
rechtsschutzfahigen Arbeitsergebnisse, die der Leitende
Angestellte wahrend der Dauer seines Arbeitsverhaltnisses
wahrend der Arbeitszeit oder, sofern sie einen Bezug zu seinen
arbeitsvertraglichen Aufgaben haben, auch auf,erhalb seiner
Arbeitszeit erstellt, ubertragt der Leitende Angestellte der
Gesellschaft die fur die betrieblichen Zwecke notwendigen
Nutzungsrechte. Dies ist im Regelfall das ausschlieflliche
zeitlich, raumlich und inhaitlich unbeschrankte Nutzungs-und
Verwertungsrecht. Die Ubertragung des Nutzungs- und
Bearbeitungsrechts umfasst auch die Erlaubnis zur
Bearbeitung und Lizenzvergabe an Dritte.
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The preparation and recording of documents of any kind shall
exclusively be carried out for operational purposes and for
operational use. Any creation of duplicates or copies for other
than operational purposes shall be excluded.

The Executive Employee agrees to comply with the
Employee Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement
attached as Appendix 1 which is part of and subject matter
of this Agreement.

Protective Rights

10.1.

10.2.

With respect to the treatment of job-related inventions and
technical improvement proposals, the regulations of the Act
on Executive Employee Inventions as amended and any
directives for the remuneration of Executive Employee
inventions in the private sector shall apply.

As regards any other protective rights, in particular any work
results that are protectable as part of copyright and design
patents and created by the Executive Employee during the
term of the employment during the working hours or, if they
are related to his/her contractual tasks, outside the working
hours, the Executive Employee transfers to the Company the
rights of use required for operational purposes. Normally, this
is an exclusive right of use and exploitation unlimited in terms
of time, territory and contents. The transfer of the right of use
and exploitation also includes permission to edit and to grant
licenses to third parties.



10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Beendigung des Arbeitsverhaltnisses

Soweit es fur die betriebliche Nutzung erforderlich ist, ubertragt 10.3.

der Leitende Angestellte im Rahmen der Vorschrift des § 31a
UrhG der Gesellschaft auch die Rechte fur samtliche noch
unbekannten Nutzungsarten.

Die Rechteubertragung gilt,
VergOtungsanspruch entsteht, auch fur
Beendigung des Arbeitsverhaltnisses.

die Zeit nach

Sonstige urheberrechtsfahige Schopfungen,
Arbeitsaufgabe nicht in Verbindung stehen, sind von der
Rechteubertragung nicht mit umfasst.

Der Leitende Angestellte verzichtet, soweit dies nach dem 10.6.

Zweck der Rechtetibertragung erforderlich ist, ausdrucklich auf

sonstige ihm etwa als Urheber oder sonstigen
Schutzrechtsinhaber zustehende Rechte an den
Arbeitsergebnissen. Insbesondere ist die Gesellschaft

grundsatzlich nicht verpflichtet, vom Leitenden Angestellten
geschaffene Werke zu verOffentlichen. Er kann aus
betrieblichen GrUnden auf die Nennung des Mitarbeiters als
Urheber verzichten und die Werke, urn sie betrieblich nutzen
zu konnen, bearbeiten.

Fur Computerprogramme gelten die gesonderten Vorschriften
des § 69b UrhG.

Die dem Leitenden Angestellten fur die Rechtelibertragung
zustehenden urheberrechtlichen Vergitungen sind im Rahmen
der Rechteubertragung nach den vorstehenden Regelungen
mit dem Grundentgelt abgegolten. Unberuhrt bleiben etwaige
zusatzliche Vergutungsanspruche des Leitenden Angestellten
aus einer Werknutzung aullerhalb des eigentlichen
Betriebszwecks, gernag § 32a UrhG (auffalliges Missverhaltnis
zu den Ertragen und der Nutzung des Werkes) sowie gemall §
32c UrhG (Vergltung fur spater bekannte Nutzungsarten).
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Insofar as required for operational utilisation, the Executive
Employee also transfers to the Company the rights to all still
unknown types of exploitation within the Ilimits of the
provisions of section 31a of the Copyright Act (UrhG).

The transfer of rights also applies for the period after the end
of the agreement, without this giving rise to a claim for
additional remuneration.

Other protectable creations unrelated to the Executive
Employee's tasks are not included in the transfer of rights.

Where necessary for the purpose of the transfer of rights, the
Executive Employee expressly waives any other rights in the
work results they may have as the author or other holder of
protective rights. In particular, the Company is generally not
obliged to publish any works created by the Executive
Employee. The Company is entitled to waive naming the
Executive Employee as the author and to edit the works in
order to use them for operational purposes.

The separate provisions of section 69b Copyright Act
(Urhebergesetz, UrhG) shall apply to computer programmes.

The remuneration under copyright laws attributable to the
Executive Employee for the transfer of rights is deemed to be
settled with the base salary as part of the transfer of rights
pursuant to the aforementioned provisions. This shall not
affect any additional remuneration claims of the Executive
Employee resulting from an exploitation of the work outside
the operational purpose, in accordance with section 32a
UrhG (conspicuous disproportion to the proceeds and
benefits derived from the exploitation of the work) as well as
pursuant to section 32c UrhG (remuneration for any new
types of exploitation).

Termination of the Employment



10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

Die Kundigungsfrist betragt fir beide Vertragsparteien drei 10.1.

Monate zum Ende eines Kalendermonats. Eine Verlangerung
der Kundigungsfristen nach den jeweiligen gesetzlichen
Vorschriften gilt fur beide Parteien. Die Kundigung bedarf der
Schriftform.

In den Fallen einer ordentlichen Arbeitgeberkundigung oder
einer berechtigten auflerordentlichen Arbeitnehmerkiindigung
aus wichtigem Grund erhalt der Leitende Angestellte zum Ende
des Arbeitsverhaltnisses eine Abfindung als sozialen Ausgleich
fur den Verlust des Arbeitsplatzes in Hohe von neun festen
Monatsgehaltern gemail Ziffer 4.1. In den Fallen einer
gerechtfertigten  ordentlichen  Arbeitgeberkundigung aus
verhaltensbedingten ~ Grunden  oder  auflerordentlichen
Arbeitgeberkiindigung aus wichtigem Grund besteht kein
Abfindungsanspruch. Die auf die Abfindung entfallenden
Steuern and Abgaben tragt der Leitende Angestellte.

Das Arbeitsverhaltnis endet, ohne dass es einer Kundigung
bedarf, mit Ablauf des Monats, in dem der Leitende Angestellte
die Regelaltersgrenze der gesetzlichen Rentenversicherung
erreicht. Zuvor kann es von beiden Seiten jederzeit nach den
gesetzlichen Vorschriften ordentlich gekOndigt werden.

Wird durch den Bescheid eines Rentenversicherungstragers
bestandskraftig festgestellt, dass der Leitende Angestellte
unbefristet volt erwerbsgemindert ist, so endet das
Arbeitsverhaltnis mit Ablauf des Monats, in dem der Bescheid
zugestellt wird. Beginnt die Rente wegen Erwerbsminderung
erst nach der Zustellung des Rentenbescheids, endet das
Arbeitsverhaltnis mit dem Ablauf des dem Rentenbeginn
vorangehenden Tages.

Das Arbeitsverhaltnis endet nicht, sondern ruht nur, wenn mit
Bescheid des Rentenversicherungstragers eine Rente wegen
voller Erwerbsminderung lediglich befristet gewahrt wird. Das
Arbeitsverhaltnis ruht dann mit alien Rechten und Pflichten von
dem letzten Monat des Tages an, in dem der Bescheid
zugestellt wurde; sollte der Rentenbezug erst nach diesem
Monat beginnen, so ruht das Arbeitsverhaltnis von dem Tag an,
der dem ersten Tag des Rentenbeginns vorangeht. In den
Fallen befristeter Rentenbewilligung ruht das Arbeitsverhaltnis
zum Ablauf des Tages, bis zu dem die Zeitrente bewilligt
wurde, langstens jedoch bis zum Ablauf des Tages, an dem
das Arbeitsverhaltnis endet.

Der Leitende Angestellte ist verpflichtet, die Gesellschaft
unverziiglich fiber den Zugang eines jeden Bescheids Ober
Rentenbewilligung zu unterrichten.
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Both parties shall comply with a notice period of three months
to the end of a calendar month. Any extension of the notice
periods according to currently applicable statutory regulations
shall apply to both parties. Notice must be given in writing.

In cases of justified ordinary termination by the Company or
justified extraordinary termination for good cause by the
Executive Employee, the Executive Employee shall receive
at the end of the employment a severance payment as social
compensation for the loss of employment in the amount of
nine months' fixed salary according to Sec. 4.1. In cases of
justified ordinary termination by the Company for reasons of
conduct or extraordinary termination for good cause by the
Company, there is no entitlement to severance pay. Taxes
and deduction on the severance are borne by the Executive
Employee.

The employment shall end without requiring a termination
notice at the end of the month in which the Executive
Employee becomes eligible for a regular statutory old-age
pension. Before that date, the employment contract shall be
terminable according to statutory regulations by ordinary
termination at any time.

If it is definitively determined by notification of a pension
insurance provider that the Executive Employee has an
indefinite reduced earning capacity, the employment contract
shall terminate at the end of the month in which the
notification is provided. Where the reduced earning capacity
pension only commences after the pension notification is
provided, the employment contract shall terminate at the end
of the day prior to commencement of the pension.

The employment relationship shall not terminate, but shall
remain dormant, if the notification of the pension insurance
provider grants a pension owing to full incapacity to work for
a limited time only. In such case, the employment relationship
shall be put dormant, along with all rights and obligations,
from the last day of the month in which the notification is
provided. Should the pension benefits only commence after
this month, the employment contract shall be dormant from
the day preceding the first day of pension benefits. In the
event of the grant of a temporary pension, the employment
contract shall be dormant until the end of the day up to which
the temporary annuity was approved, at the latest, however
until the end of the day on which the employment contract
ends.

The Executive Employee undertakes to inform the Company
immediately of the receipt of any notification regarding the
granting of pensions.



Freistellung

10.1

10.2

Die Gesellschaft ist berechtigt, den Leitenden Angestellten mit 10.1.

oder nach Ausspruch einer Kindigung — gleichglltig von
welcher Seite — unter Fortzahlung der Beziige und unter
Anrechnung restlicher Urlaubsanspruche und sonstiger
Zeitguthaben von der Arbeitsleistung freizustellen, wenn ihr
Interesse hieran das des Leitenden Angestellten an der
Weiterbeschaftigung uberwiegt. Nicht erfiillte
Urlaubsanspriiche sind im Falle einer unwiderruflichen
Freistellung abgegolten, soweit nicht aufgrund von
Arbeitsunfahigkeit des Leitenden Angestellten oder aus
sonstigen Grunden eine Abgeltung ausgeschlossen ist. In der
Zeit der Freistellung mit Ausnahme der
Urlaubsabgeltungszeitraume hat sich der Leitende Angestellte
einen durch Verwendung seiner Arbeitskraft erzielten oder
treuwidrig nicht erzielten Verdienst auf den
Vergitungsanspruch gegenuber der Gesellschaft anrechnen
zu lassen. Dies gilt sowohl im Fall der widerruflichen als auch
der unwiderruflichen Freistellung.

Wahrend der Dauer der Freistellung findet § 615 Satz 2 BGB
entsprechende Anwendung. Das heil’t, dass sich der Leitende
Angestellte den Wert desjenigen anrechnen lassen muss, was
er infolge des Unterbleibens der Dienstleistung erspart oder
durch anderweitige Verwendung seiner Dienste erwirbt oder zu
erwerben boswillig unterlasst.
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Garden Leave

10.2.

The Company shall be entitled to release the Executive
Employee from the duty to work following a termination - by
whichever party —with continued pay and setting off
remaining holiday entitlements and other time assets, if its
interest in the release outweighs the Executive Employee's
interest for continued employment. Open holiday entitlements
not yet taken shall be considered satisfied in case of an
irrevocable release unless a release is excluded because of
the Executive Employee's inability to work or for other
reasons. During the period of release from work with the
exception of the holiday compensation periods, the Executive
Employee must allow any income generated by his labour, or
not generated in bad faith, to be offset against his entitiement
to remuneration from the Company. This applies in the case
of both revocable and irrevocable release.

For the duration of the garden leave section 615 sentence 2
BGB applies accordingly. This means that the Executive
Employee must allow a deduction of the value of what he has
saved as a result of the omission of the service or what he
has acquired or maliciously omitted to acquire through other
use of his services.



15. Herausgabe Unterlagen and Eigentum der Gesellschaft

Zum Zeitpunkt der Beendigung des Arbeitsverhaltnisses oder einer
unwiderruflichen Freistellung ist der Leitende Angestellte verpflichtet,
unaufgefordert, wahrend des Bestehens des Arbeitsverhaltnisses auf
Anforderung, alle in seinem Besitz befindlichen, ihm dienstlich
Oberlassenen Gegenstande (z. B. Handy, Laptop usw.) sowie die
Gesellschaft oder mit dieser verbundene Unternehmen betreffende
Unterlagen, insbesondere alle Notizen, Spezifikationen fOr Angebote
und/oder Auftrage, Zeichnungen, Protokolle, Berichte, Korrespondenz
und ahnliche Dokumente (sowie Kopien oder sonstige — auch
elektronische — Reproduktionen hiervon, und alle Datentrager/Daten)
an die Gesellschaft zurOckzugeben. Sinngemall gilt das Gleiche fOr
nichtkOrperliche Informationen und Materialien, Z. B.
Computerprogramme, PasswOrter oder sonstige Daten. Dem
teigelnden Angestellten ist nicht gestattet, Sicherheitskopien hiervon zu
ehalten.

16. Internet- und E-Mail-Nutzung

Der Leitende Angestellte hat im Rahmen seiner Beschaftigung Zugang
zu E-Mail und Internet. Der Leitende Angestellte muss sicherstellen,
dass seine Nutzung der E-Mail- und Internet-Einrichtungen am
Arbeitsplatz jederzeit den ethischen und sozialen Standards am
Arbeitsplatz entspricht. Ein angemessenes Marl an privater Nutzung ist
fur die Gesellschaft akzeptabel, darf aber nicht mit den Pflichten oder
Verpflichtungen des Leitenden Angestellten kollidieren und darf nicht
illegal sein oder den Interessen der Gesellschaft zuwiderlaufen. Der
Leitende Angestellte muss auch alle E-Mail- und Internet-Richtlinien
einhalten, die das Unternehmen von Zeit zu Zeit herausgibt.

Policies, interne Regelungen
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15. Return of Documents and Company's Property

The Executive Employee shall return to the Company without
relevant request at termination of the employment or at an irrevocable
release and upon request during the term of the employment all
objects in his possession left to him for business purposes (such as
mobile phones, lap-tops etc.) as well as all documents concerning the
Company or companies related to it, in particular all notes,
specifications for offers and/or orders, drawings, minutes, reports,
correspondence and similar documents (copies as well as — also
electronic —reproductions thereof and all data carriers/data). The
same shall apply correspondingly for non-physical information and
material, such as computer programs, passwords and other data. The
Ehxecutfive Employee shall not be entitled to keep backup copies
thereof.

16. Internet and E-Mail Usage

The Executive Employee will have access to email and Internet in the
course of his employment. The Employee shall ensure that at all
times his use of the email and Internet facilities at work meets the
ethical and social standards of the workplace. Whilst a reasonable
level of personal use is acceptable to the Company, this must not
interfere with the Executive Employee's employment duties or
obligations, and must not be illegal or contrary to the interests of the
Company. The Executive Employee shall also comply with all email
and Internet policies issued by the Company from time to time.

1. Policies, internal regulations



16.1

16.2

Der Leitende Angestellte ist verpflichtet, sich mit den
Richtlinien, Regelungen und Verfahren, die die Gesellschaft
aufstellen und von Zeit zu Zeit andern kann, vertraut zu
machen und diese zu befolgen. Eine Kopie aller zurzeit fur
Leitende Angestellte geltenden Richtlinien und Verfahren kann
vondder Personalabteilung oder aus dem Intranet bezogen
werden.

Die Gesellschaft behalt sich vor, die Richtlinien und
Regelungen aus wirtschaftlichen Grunden (insbesondere
wirtschaftliche Notlage, negatives wirtschaftliches  Ergebnis,
nicht ausreichender Gewinn, Ruckgang der bzw.
Nichterreichen der erwarteten wirtschaftlichen Entwicklung)
oder bei Anderungen der rechtlichen Rahmenbedingungen zu
widerrufen.

Personliche Daten

16.1

16.2

Ober die Verarbeitung seiner personenbezogenen Daten ist
der Leitende Angestellte von der Gesellschaft entsprechend
den Vorschriften der Datenschutz- Grundverordnung (DSGVO)
undd des Bundesdatenschutzgesetzes (BDSG) informiert
worden.

Eine Information zur Verarbeitung der Daten ist Bestandteil
dieses Vertrages. In dieser Information wird der Leitende
Angestellte Ober die Verarbeitung seiner personenbezogenen
Daten und die ihm nach dem Datenschutzrecht zustehenden
Rechte informiert.

Ausschlussfristen
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The Executive Employee must familiarise himself and comply
with any policies and procedures and company rules, which
the Company may issue and amend from time to time. A copy
of all current employment policies and procedures can be
obtained from HR or from the Intranet.

The Company reserves the right to revoke the policies and
rules for economic reasons (in particular, but not exclusively,
financial crisis, negative financial results, insufficient profits,
decline in or failure to achieve the expected economic
development) or due to changes tothe underlying legal
conditions.

Personal data

17.1.

17.2.

The Executive Employee has been informed by the Company
about the processing of his personal data in accordance with
the regulations of the General Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR) and the Federal Data Protection Act (BDSG).

An information about the processing of the data is part of this
agreement. In this information the Executive Employee is
informed about the processing of his personal data and the
rights he is entitled to according to the data protection law.

Cut-off Periods



16.1

16.2

16.3

Alle beiderseitigen AnsprOche aus
Arbeitsverhaltnis massen innerhalb von drei Monaten,
nachdem der Anspruch fallig geworden ist, in Textform (§ 126b
BGB) geltend gemacht werden. Andernfalls verfallen sie.

Lehnt die Gegenseite den Anspruch in Textform ab oder erklart
sie sich nicht innerhalb von einem Monat nach
Geltendmachung des Anspruches, so verfallt dieser, wenn er
nicht innerhalb von drei Monaten nach der Ablehnung oder
dem Fristablauf gerichtlich geltend gemacht wird. Dies gilt nicht
fur Zahlungsanspriiche des Leitenden Angestellten, die
wahrend eines Kiindigungsprozesses fallig werden und von
seinem Ausgang abhangen. Fur diese Anspriiche beginnt die
Verfallfrist von drei Monaten nach rechtskraftiger Beendigung
des Kundigungsschutzverfahrens.

Diese Ausschlussfristen gelten nicht fur AnsprUche aus einer
Haftung fur vorsatzliche Pflichtverletzungen, fur Schaden aus
der Verletzung des Lebens, des Korpers oder der Gesundheit
und fir Anspriiche auf Mindestlohn nach dem MiLoG, AentG
und AUG. Gleiches gilt kir sonstige nicht verzichtbare
Anspriiche aus Gesetzen, Tarifvertrag en oder
Betriebsvereinbarungen.

Schlussbestimmungen

16.1

Mundliche Nebenabreden zu diesem Vertrag bestehen nicht.
Anderungen und/oder Erganzungen dieses Arbeitsvertrages
mussen in schriftlicher Form vereinbart werden, das gilt auch
fur die Aufhebung des Schriftformerfordernisses.
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All mutual claims from the existing employment shall be
asserted in text form (sec. 126b German Civil Code) within
three months after the claim has become due. Otherwise, the
claims shall lapse.

The claim shall lapse if the opposing party rejects it in text
form or does not respond within one month after its assertion
and it is not enforced by legal action within three months after
rejection or after expiry of the time limit. This shall not apply
to payment claims of Executive Employee maturing during
the course of a dismissal suit which are subject to the
lawsuit's outcome. Such claims shall lapse three months after
the decision of the dismissal protection suit has become res
judicata.

These cut-off periods shall not apply for claims resulting from
a liability for intentional breaches of duty, for damages
resulting from injury to life, body or health and for minimum
wage claims according to the Minimum Wage Act, the
Executive Employee Secondment Act or the Temporary
Employment Act. The same applies to other non-dispensable
claims arising from laws, collective agreements or works
agreements.

Final Provisions

17.1.

There shall be no oral collateral agreements to this contract.
Amendments and/or supplements to this employment
contract shall be made in writing. This shall also apply to the
revocation of the written form requirement.



16.2

16.3

16.4

16.5

16.6

16.7

Das Schriftformerfordernis gilt nicht fur individuelle vertragliche
Abreden zwischen Gesellschaft und Leitendem Angestellten
zur Abanderung und/oder Ergénzung des Arbeitsvertrages.

Der Leitende Angestellte ist verpflichtet, jede Anderung seiner
Anschrift und seiner sozialen Daten schriftich und
unverzuglich der Gesellschaft mitzuteilen.

Sollte eine Bestimmung dieser Vereinbarung unwirksam sein
oder werden, wird die Wirksamkeit der ubrigen Bestimmungen
hiervon nicht beriihrt. Anstelle der unwirksamen Bestimmungen
soil im Wege der Anpassung eine andere angemessene
Regelung treten, die wirtschaftlich dem am nachsten kommt,
was die Vertragsparteien gewollt haben oder gewollt hatten,
wenn sie die Unwirksamkeit der Regelung bedacht Flatten.

Dem Leitenden Angestellten ist ein Exemplar dieses Vertrages
ausgehandigt worden. Der Erhalt wurde schriftlich quittiert.

Dieser Vertrag unterliegt deutschem Recht.

Die deutsche Fassung dieses Vertrages hat Vorrang.

Berlin 29-3-2022

Ort/Place, Datum/Date

/s/ Josh McMorrow

Josh McMorrow

17.2.

17.3.

17.4.

17.5.

17.6.

17.7.
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The written form requirement shall not apply to individual
contractual agreements between the Company and the
Executive Employee to amend and/or supplement the
employment contract.

The Executive Employee shall inform the Company without
delay of any change in address or social data in writing.

If any of the provisions of this Contract should be or should
become null and void, all other provisions of this Employment
Contract shall remain unaffected. By way of amendment, the
ineffective provision shall be replaced with another suitable
provision that reflects as closely as possible the original
commercial intention of the contractual parties or what their
intentions would have been had they been aware of the
ineffectiveness of the provision.

The Executive Employee was handed over one copy of this
Contract. Receipt was confirmed in writing.

This Contract is subject to German law.

The German version of this Contract shall prevail.

Ort/Place, Datum/Date

/s/ Robert A. Piconi

Robert A. Piconi

Chief Executive Officer, EnergyVault SA




Der Leitende Angestellte bestatigt hiermit, dass der Arbeitsvertrag The Executive Employee hereby confirms that the employment
bereits durch die Gesellschaft unterzeichnet war, als der Leitende contract has already been signed by the Company when the
Angestellte den Arbeitsvertrag erhalten hat. Executive Employee has received the employment contract.
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Berlin 29-3-2022

Ort/Place, Datum/Date

/sl Josh McMorrow

Josh McMorrow
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT of 2002

I, Robert Piconi, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.

Date: May 16, 2022

Signature: /s/ Robert Piconi
Title: Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT of 2002

I, David Hitchcock, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.

Date: May 16, 2022

Signature: /s/ David Hitchcock
Title: Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert Piconi, Chief Executive Officer of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2022 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 16, 2022

Signature: /s/ Robert Piconi
Title: Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David Hitchcock, Interim Chief Financial Officer of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 16, 2022

Signature: /s/ David Hitchcock
Title: Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




